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Preface and
Acknowledgements

This book is intended as a contribution to the history of Cambodia
between April 1975 and 1982 — the period of Democratic Kampuchea (the
so-called ‘Pol Pot Regime’) from April 1975 to January 1979 and the first
three years of the succeeding People’s Republic of Kampuchea (‘Heng Samrin
Regime’). The formulation ‘contribution to the history of Cambodia’ has
been chosen with all deliberation. I do not claim to have written The History
of Cambodia, nor even 4 History of Cambodia for the period in question,
primarily, as is explained in chapter 2, because the sources used are too
incomplete and unrepresentative of the Cambodian population as a whole.
Those sources merit the attention given them, but entire areas of information
essential for The History of Cambodia remain untouched by them and cannot
yet be studied adequately from other sources either. k

If the form and emphasis of the book are determined in part by the
sources used, they also depend in some measure on my own experiences of
Cambodia, which began in 1960.

I first arrived in Cambodia in July 1960 to begin work as an English
language teacher in local high schools under one of the U.S. government aid
programs to that country. In that capacity I spent nearly four years in Cam-
bodia, the first two in Kompong Thom, then a year in Siemreap, and a fourth
academic year in Phnom Penh, cut short in March 1964 as a result of Sihan-
ouk’s termination of all U.S. aid projects.

ix
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During that time I acquired fluency in Khmer, began studying, through
examination of old newspaper files and conversations with friends, the post-
1945 political history of Cambodia, and decided to make the country the
main focus of academic research which I intended to undertake.

In March 1964 I was transferred to a similar position in Vientiane,
Laos, where I remained for three more years: and during which I was able to
make regular extended visits to Cambodia.

Then, after spending three years (1967-70) at Yale University, I re-
turned to Cambodia in late 1970 for nearly two years of dissertation research
there and in Thailand; and except for one more brief visit in 1974 I was then
cut off from direct contact with the country until 1981, when I was able to
travel there for three weeks.

Although my original interest in Cambodia was in the contemporary
period, I kept pushing further back into the country’s history until I pro-
duced a dissertation and other writings on the 14th-16th centuries, something
which occupied most of my research time from 1970 through 1977; and
after 1973 I virtually ceased collecting or organizing material on the contem-
porary situation.

The turn taken by the revolution after April 1975 surprised me as it
did nearly everyone else, but I found the first wave of atrocity stories over
the next year suspect and felt that given the squalid record of our own coun-
try in Indochina, Americans who could not view the new developments with
at least qualified optimism should shut up.

Until early 1980 I did not try to follow information about Democratic
Kampuchea systematically. Besides the newspapers readily available in Pen-
ang, where I worked from 1973 to 1979, in Bangkok, and from late 1979 in
Canberra, I read no more than Francois Ponchaud’s Cambodia Year Zero,
Noam Chomsky and Edward Herman's After the Cataclysm: Postwar Indo-
chinag and the Reconstruction of Imperial Ideology, to which I contributed
impressions of a visit to a refugee camp‘ in 1976, and a pre-publication draft
of Ben Kiernan’s “Conflict in the Kampuchean Communist Movement.”

In February 1980 I received word from a family whom I had known
well that they had ail (20 persons) survived and were in the Khao I Dang
refugee center in Thailand. Because of that news I went to Thailand in April,
and during most of the next few months, until the end of September, worked
for the International Rescue Committee’s educational program in the Khao I
Dang and Sakeo camps, where I tried to collect information about life in
Cambodia since 1975. :

It was soon apparent that the refugees had a wide variety of experiences
to report, that conditions in Cambodia during 1975-79 had differed signifi-
cantly according to place and time, and that some of my doubts about the
standard media treatment of Cambodia had been well founded. This was the
main impetus to collecting the information which is presented here.

Only after returning to Canberra in October 1980 did I attempt to
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systematize the information as it is presented in chapters 3 and 4; and it was
only then that I read some of the material published earlier on Cambodia’s
fate after 1975. I had only begun to read Stephen Heder’s work mid-way
through my time at Khao I Dang, and I did not look at Barron and Paul’s
Murder of a Gentle Land nor the work of Kenneth Quinn until November
1980. Thus the way in which the material for this book was collected and
organized was very little affected by previous work on revolutionary Cambo-
dia, and it resulted almost entirely from at first random contacts with refu-
gees on the part of a foreign historian of Cambodia who had known the
country fairly well before the war and who was a competent speaker of the
language. To the extent that the contacts were not random, it was a result
of a search for people who had lived in regions not well represented in Khao
I Dang, that is, anywhere except the Northwest or pre-1975 Phnom Penh,
whose inhabitants made up over 70% of the Khao I Dang population.

1 have made no attempt to count the number of people with whom I
talked, nor even the number of people whose stories have directly contrib-
uted to thé present work. Interested readers can do that for themselves. There
is no claim here for statistical validity nor, given the conditions, could any-
statistically valid study have been undertaken. I was admittedly most inter-
ested in people whose experiences were different from the stories which had
been given prominence in the international press, and I found my most valu-
able sources among those whose variety of experience, education, or intelli-
gence enabled them not only to report their own experiences but also to
make wider observations about conditions in Cambodia. My purpose has not
been primarily to chronicle individual experiences, but at a higher level of
abstraction to deal with general situations over rather wide areas. That the
results have probably not been skewed by the statistically insufficient number
of informants is indicated by the circumstance that Ben Kiernan’s informa-
tion from an entirely different body of informants agrees with the areal and
temporal patterns I have inferred, and interviews conducted by others, to the
extent that they have been presented in a comparable manner, also support
those relative conclusions even if there is a difference of opinion about
absolute levels of suffering.

Although there is a scholarly apparatus indicating the source of each
item of information, the purpose, contrary to that of most such edifices, is
to prevent, rather than facilitate, direct access to the sources by the reader.
Some people requested anonymity for various reasons, and since many in-
formants provided me with information contrary to the accepted view of
Cambodia and which they themselves might regret seeing in the context in
which I have used it, I thought it best to protect them all from harassment
which might ensue. Thus the anonymity of most sources has been protected
by using only initials or pseudonyms, and the only exceptions are people
whose names have already been published elsewhere. The same initials always
indicate the same person, and there has been no further attempt to disguise
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their identities through alteration of the details of their stories.

Some of the previously published work on Cambodia has been dis-
cussed and its information integrated into my own constructions. There has
not, however, been any attempt to survey the literature about Cambodia
during 1975-82. I have given attention primarily to work which represents
either personal experience (Pin Yathay, Ping Ling) or direct questioning of
Khmers (Barron and Paul, Carney, Heder, Honda, Kiernan, Ponchaud, Quinn)
and which either adds to the picture I present or which in my opinion re-
quires critique. Unless they were useful for illustrating a particular point, I
have neglected those writings which are at third-hand, which are commentar-
ies on the work of those who deal with primary sources, or which are exe-
geses of exegeses. Thus there may be people who have previously said some of
the things I say or imply here, and my neglect of their work should not be
taken to imply either disapproval or ignorance. It is simply because I have
chosen to limit my discussion principally to.my own and others’ collections
of primary material, and I did not read other secondary compilations until
my own material had been organized. ’

Several important areas of the recent history of Cambodia have been
ignored. Except for the conflict with Vietnam, foreign relations have not
been discussed at all, and even if the intricacies of relations with China, for
instance, are interesting, I consider that_foreign relations and influences are
very nearly irrelevant for an understanding of the internal situation, which
is the subject of this book.

There is also very little here about the structure and function of the
governmental apparatus of Democratic Kampuchea — how decisions were
made, how the distribution of produce was organized, how policies were
determined and instructions for their implementation transmitted. Beyond
the impressions which are recorded, that information was not to be found
among my sources, and it may still not be available anywhere. Most of the
Democratic Kampuchea officials in positions to know are either dead or
still part of the DK forces, and virtually no documentary evidence on such
matters has been preserved within Cambodia.

More could have been said about the history of Cambodian communism
and the organizations which have represented it, but the specialist on those
questions, Ben Kiernan, is soon to produce. a dissertation on the subject, and
I have included here only what is necessary for clarification of the events of
1975-1982.

In addition to those whose stories are the material of this book, I wish
to express thanks to a number of people who, beginning in 1960, first helped
me to learn about Cambodia or who since 1979 aided and encouraged my
work. _

My wife Anchina and her family, from Battambang, were invaluable
guides into the lives of ordinary Cambodians, and the family was instrumental
in arranging some of my most interesting contacts in Khao I Dang.
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My trip to Thailand in 1980 was facilitated by research and travel
grarits from the Australian National University, where 1 held the post of
Research Fellow in the Department of Pacific and Southeast Asian History,
Research School of Pacific Studies; and the wide freedom offered by that
institution provided the time necessary to complete the work.

The International Rescue Committee, under its then director for Thai-
land, Pierce Geretty, by taking me on in their educational program, made
possible free access to the Khmer refugee centers in Thailand, without which
the research ¢could not have been undertaken. Since IRC has acquired the
reputation of promoting a certain political line, I wish to state that its per-
sonnel involved in Khmer refugee work did not show any such ideological
limitations and were sincerely working to improve the conditions of refugees
and advance the eventual recovery of Cambodia.

A number of people in other aid organizations helped me in various
ways to find interesting sources and collect material, and if I do not try to
mention them by name it is because I know some of them require anonymity.

Timothy Carney, Stephen Heder, Ben Kiernan, and Serge Thion all
provided me with information from their own research and shared their own
insights into Cambodian problems; Noam Chomsky gave much encourage-
ment and often sent published material which I might otherwise have missed;
and David Chandler took great interest in the project from its beginning,
offering helpful advice and searching out relevant historical material.

John Barbalet, David Chandler, Noam Chomsky, Otome Hutheesing,
Ben Kiernan, David Marr, Glenn May, Alfred McCoy, Ansari Nawawi, William
O’Malley, Sandra Power, Andrew Watson, and Gehan Wijeyewardene read
parts or all of either an early draft or the finished manuscript, offering helpful
criticisms. If I did not always incorporate their suggestions, it does not mean
I did not give them careful attention or appreciate the thought which was
involved. Many parts of the finished product have been greatly improved
through their suggested revisions.
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CHAPTER 1

CHIANG Wi
| www.geckobooks.ne!

The first thirty kilometers northwards from the main road were not too
bad, and we covered them in half an hour. The next thirty over rough, dusty
roads, took about twice as long, and toward the end of that stretch we saw
something new to our experience — wild-looking boys, alone or in twos and
threes carrying dead lizards strung on sticks like freshly caught fish. They
were obviously hunting them to take home for the family dinner — a type of
beast not eaten at all in any other part of the country I had seen. The last
thirty kilometers to the village took about two hours, for the road had
become nothing more than a track across dried out former rice fields and
there was a bump every few yards over what had once served as the embank-
ments around the quadrangular plots. '

On arrival in the village we stopped at the sala, an open pavilion found
in all villages and used either for meetings or for temporary shelter. In fact,
we expected that someone would invite us to his house to sleep and eat, as
was common in Cambodian villages, but the people seemed strangely hostile.
They grudgingly said yes, we could sleep in the sala, but they hoped we had
brought our own food, for they had no rice — not having been able to plant
for three years because of drought. We also heard mutterings to the effect
that they didn’t like city people anyway, for their arrival generally meant
trouble. -

The above is not an account of the arrival of ‘new’ people, former city

3O
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dwellers, arriving in a revolutionary village after April 1975, nor the report of
a journalist in Cambodia in 1979-80, but impressions of a trip I made in 1962
to visit the Angkor-period temple of Banteay Chhmar.! Three of the details,
however, recur cornstantly in the reminiscences of urban refugees: eating
lizards and other exotic fauna, no rice, hostility of villagers toward city peo-
ple; and it is this which makes the anecdote relevant as a starting point for a
book about Cambodia during 1975-81.

One of the most typical horror stories of Democratic Kampuchea (DK)
is that of city families sent out to primitive villages or forest areas where
there was little or no rice, where they had to forage for all sorts of unfamiliar
food — lizards, snakes, field crabs, insects, roots; where the local people, if
any, were hostile; and where many of them died of hunger and disease, if not
by execution. '

The continuation of my own story is more cheerful. It is true that the
Banteay Chhmar villagers had no rice, but they didn’t miss it, because they
could find wild tubers and other vegetables in the forest, while protein was
provided by chickens, pigs, fish caught in a pond not too far away, and of
course the lizards caught by the boys along the road. Indeed it seemed to be
one of the healthiest backwoods villages I had seen, with large families of
cheerful, robust children.

There was also an interesting, and potentially valuable, cottage industry.
The villagers made beautiful silk, handling every stage of the process from
raising the worms to dyeing and weaving the cloth. Perhaps, I first thought,
this was their secret. They took their silk down to the market at Thmar Puok,
25 kilometers away, to trade for rice, sugar and other goods. But my offer to
buy some proved the contrary. The silk was for their own use; they had never
sold any and didn’t want to; and when I tried to convince them I would give
a good price which they could later spend in the market, they said there was
nothing in the market they wanted. And I never did get any silk.

« Another interesting feature of the village was the people’s dislike of
anyone and anything from the towns of Cambodia. They had seen officials,
some of very high rank, who had come to visit the temple or inspect the bor-
der area. The villagers hated their pretensions and false promises of aid and
development. Most of all they disliked the officials’ wives, who minced about
the footpaths in high heels with handkerchiefs held to their noses. Such peo-
ple meant only trouble and it was best to avoid them and to hope that they
never came to the village.

Thus for reasons of climate, inaccessibility, and incompatibility Ban-
teay Chhmar village had evolved a nearly autonomous, autarkic lifestyle,
wanting only to be left alone. Such villages were numerous outside the central
rice plain and their inhabitants probably felt they had made successful adjust-
ments to fate. At best they seemed healthy and happy, but had no access to
modern medicine or to schooling beyond the bare rudiments, and often, as in
Banteay Chhmar, did not have even a Buddhist temple or monks.
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Perhaps it appears idiosyncratic to start a book about contemporary
Cambodia with an anecdote about an excursion in 1962, But a major fault of
most writing about recent events has been its ahistorical character, ignoring
all that happened before 1970, 1975, or even 1979; and my purpose here is
to emphasize that this is intended as an historical study, and to situate the
events of 1975-81 within a view of earlier Cambodian society.

No precise estimate can be made of the number of such villages in pre-
1970 Cambodia, or the percentage of the total population living in them;
but it is at least fair to say that the region of happy, Buddhist, rice-growing
peasants of conventional-wisdom Cambodia was restricted approximately to
the inundated area shown on Map 2. Outside that area life was quite different,
even if not to the extreme of Banteay Chhmar. This other Cambodia was
virtually untouched by any kind of ethnographical or sociological study, but
from the few glimpses we have we can safely say that no assumptions about
Cambodian life, attitudes, mores, and beliefs based on observations of the
central rice-growing and gardening zones are likely to be accurate for the
outer regions.

In some parts of the country these outer regions began within 8 kms of
a provincial center. This was the case in Kompong Thom where immediately
to the northwest of the town was the forest homeland of the Kuy, who spoke
a language related to Khmer but which was unintelligible to Khmer speakers,
and whose way of life was very different from that of even the poorest
Khmer peasants of the province. _

-~ The latter, in spite of appearing more ‘civilized,” must nevertheless have
wished on occasion that their own relative isolation was more absolute. Offi-
cials on weekend picnics, or entertaining guests, would often drop into a
village and request a housewife to kill a chicken and prepare a meal — and a
request in those circumstances was equivalent to an order. If a foreign guest
was present, the officials would take the occasion to deliver themselves of a
little homily to the effect that the Cambodian peasant was so prosperous that
a sudden requisition of food was no burden, and so hospitable that the task
was not felt as an imposition. It is true that in those days — the early 1960s —
no peasant family was going to starve by giving away a couple of chickens and
a few bowls of rice; but on an occasion I witnessed, there was no doubt about
the resentment which was felt.

The resentment could sometimes turn into overt hostility. Downriver
a few miles from Kompong Thom, and well within.the inundated region of
‘civilized’ rice peasantry was a hamlet to which strangers were warned never
to go, at the risk of being physically attacked. The precise reason was never
made clear, but it was the result of some official action, possibly in French
colonial days, which was perceived by the villagers as an atrocity and for
which they threatened to take revenge if an opportunity arose.

In Siemreap the ‘other’ Cambodia began on the north side of the
West Baray artificial lake and the park of Angkor and continued across the
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northern provinces to the Dangrek mountains. The population, at least be-
tween Siemreap and Phnom Kulen, were ethnic Khmer, living by forest
gathering and hunting as much as by cultivation, and practicing strange rites
rather than the official Buddhism. On the few occasions when I met them,
while exploring the old temples of the region, they were not hostile, rather
apprehensive in the presence of strangers, but clearly of a world entirely
foreign to even a provincial town such as Siemreap, let alone Phnom Penh.

Exotic mores, as seen from Phnom Penh, could also be found well
w:<hin the rice zone and among people who would count as ordinary, even
comfortably prosperous, Cambodian peasants. On a trip downriver from
Battambang to the Tonle Sap inland sea in 1966 I encountered a community
where the most important ritual center was not Buddhist, but a spirit temple
at whose foundation — apparently within living memory — a live pregnant
woman had been buried; where the men — former Issaraks — liked to joke
over a fresh turtle dinner about the similarity in taste of that animal’s liver
to the human variety; and where a woman who swallowed the raw gall-
bladders of freshly killed black dogs as a tonic was considered only mildly
eccentric.? '

In-some places the line of demarcation between the two kinds of peas-
antry was apparently quite clear. One of my most useful informants at the
Khao I Dang (KID) refugee camp,3 speaking of his native district in Kampot
province, told me that north of the road running between Chhouk and Kam-
pot the population was isolated, hostile to everything urban, and, incidental-
ly, revolutionary from long before 1970, while south of that road the peas-
ants interacted with the market, were familiar with urban ways, and consid-
ered themselves part of wider Cambodian society. My informant was himself
from north of the road, but had gone through high school and on to the
university in Phnom Penh where he was caught by the downfall of the Lon
Nol regime in 1975, sent back to Kampot as one of the ‘new’ people, and
forced to spend the next 3% years working as a peasant. In this capacity,
although he at first went to see his parents and former neighbors, he found it
advisable to settle in a different hamlet where he was less well known, be-
cause of the general hostility to city folk, even those who were originally
local sons.

I also met one of his friends who had had the same experiences, but
whose origins were south of the road. The contrast between the two with
respect to their feelings about pre-war society, their experiences of 1975-79,
cooperation in the running of the refugee camp, and productive work in
general was a vivid illustration of the two kinds of villagers, and one which
did not redound to the credit of the ‘southerner.’ In particular, and a subject
which is a major concern of this book, in their accounts of the DK period
these two men of identical economic, regional, and educational background
and identical experiences during 1975-79 ordered their facts in such different
ways and embellished them with such different value judgments that it would
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have been impossible to realize that they were telling, in essentials, the same
story.

Cambodia, long before the enforced split into ‘cld’ and ‘new’ people in
1975, was deeply divided. An important division was between town and
country. But a more profound division lay between town plus town-related
rice and garden peasantry and those rural groups who, through distance,
poverty, ingrained hostility, or a conscious preference for autarky, remained
on the outside of the Cambodian society which everyone knew and which
Phnom Penh considered the only Cambodian society of any importance.

This outer society was not necessarily poorer. Food could be plentiful,
and the people in Banteay Chhmar appeared healthy. Indeed, their knowledge
of the environment and ability to cope with it were impressive. With no more
than a sharp knife a man could go into the forest, build shelter and find food;
and such knowledge was still preserved among many of the real rice peasants
as well.

Since they lived successfully in those conditions they probably saw no
reason why other people, for instance the urban evacuees of April 1975,
could not adjust; and they might easily imagine that failure to adjust was the
result of laziness, corruption, or factiousness. Of course, there must also have
been some schadenfreude at seeing the pretentious city folk brought down to
their level, for villages like Banteay Chhmar, if they had not produced Com-
munist soldiers or cadres, were at least part of the ‘old’ people, of the base
areas, whose long-suppressed resentment occasionally exploded in violence,
however unjustified.

" I remember in particular one spy they caught. He was very tough
and wasn’t afraid of dying at all. He refused to confess, and only
seemed to show some fear when they brought him to the edge of
the burial pit. There at the edge the executioners hit him on the
nape of the neck a couple of times with their clubs (made of
kranhung hardwood, about one meter long, used to save bullets),
he fell into the pit, twitched a bit, and then was still. For cruelty
this was only an average execution, because the executioners were
in a hurry. There were other methods really revolting to observe.
One of them had a special name, srangae pen, literally ‘a field
crab crawling around in circles.’

First of all the victim was beaten senseless. Then his arms were
tied behind his back with the elbows pulled together and he was
made to kneel beside his grave. The soldiers stood around him in
a circle and the executioner began to perform a ritual dance with
a sword. While dancing he would suddenly come close to the pris-
oner and cut his neck just a little, just enough to make blood
flow. Then he bent down and licked up the blood from the
wounded neck and spit it onto the sword blade. This ceremony
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was repeated several times until finally the sword was plunged
into the prisoner’s throat and he fell into the grave.4 On another
occasion a man believed to be an enemy agent was seized and
interrogated. He denied the accusation and was threatened with
death. He continued to deny his guilt and one of the interrogators
struck him on the forehead with a pistol butt. Blood gushed from
his head and mouth, but he still protested his innocence. Then
they took turns kicking him iii the stomach and he rolled on the
ground in pain. Still he refused to confess and the group’s politi-
cal leader decided they really didn’t have enough evidence on
him. He was told he could get up and go away, but at about 10m
distance from the group they shot him in the back and killed him.
Eventually it was discovered that the man was innocent, but that
the cadres were angry with him for protecting his sister against
their attempts at seduction.and had fabricated evidence that he
was a traitor. :

These stories do.not come from Pol Pot’s Cambodia, but from a book
by Bun Chan Mol, published in 1973 and relating his own experiences among
the Cambodian Issaraks in the 1940s.5 He himself was political leader of the
group carrying out the executions, the enemy for whom the prisoners were
accused of working was the French colonial administration, and the title of
the book is Charit Khmer, “Khmer Mores.”®

Bun Chan Mol gave up Issarak activities in 1949; and one of the rea-
sons, he tells us in his book, was his inability to either tolerate or suppress
the gratuitous brutality of his underlings who considered such methods a
normal way of dealing with enemies and who took obvious pleasure in it.
Besides their delight in inhuman torture, he complains about their indisci-
pline, refusal to investigate thoroughly before taking action, arbitrary exercise
of power, sometimes for petty personal reasons, and suspicion of anyone, in-
cluding himself, their political chief, who objected. He calls these practices
part of “Khmer Mores,” the title of his book, most of which deals with the
decline of Khmer politics in the 1950s and 1960s.

Swift and arbitrary capital punishment was also not foreign to those
early Cambodian rebels whose standards of discipline were high, who had an
immense popular following, and who for years afterward were idealized by
non-communist progressives.

Son Ngoc Thanh, during his brief tenure as prime minister in 1945,
was blamed for executions of political opponents, and later, in his maquis in
northern Cambodia, harsh justice for infringement of rules was an accepted
norm. In a French intelligence report of 1952 his lieutenant, Ea Sichau, who
was considered both then and afterward a sincere idealist with high standards
of morality, is said to have executed, on the grounds that they were enemy
agents, a group of 8 students and teachers who had found jungle life too -
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difficult and wished to go home.”

In this respect, the one difference between Thanh and Sichau, and the
earlier Issaraks or later Democratic Kampuchea cadres, is that the regulations
of the first were consistent, equally and fairly applied, and recognized in
advance by the people who joined them.

Issarak violence was not the specialty of the politically unstable frontier
area of Battambang and Siemreap. Just 30 km southwest of Phnom Penh, in
a district of semi-urbanized rice peasants, “the Issarak were their own law . . .
killed anyone they wanted to kill . . . sometimes siblings could not speak to
one another because one was an Issarak and the other worked for the govern-
ment in Phnom Penh”; and a number of families fled temporarily to Phnom
Penh to escape from the threat of such Issarak extremism.®

Often the vocation of Issarak was no more than a device to give a
patriotic cover to banditry, which had long been endemic in parts of rural
Cambodia; and the ‘bandit charisma’ may have been as strong a motive as
nationalism in attracting men to Issarak life.? ‘

Patterns of extreme violence against people defined as enemies, how-
ever arbitrarily, have very long roots in Cambodia. As a scholar specializing in
19th-century Cambodia has expressed it: “it is difficult to overstress the
atmosphere of physical danger and the currents of insecurity and random
violence that run through the chronicles and, obviously through so much of
Cambodian life in this period. The chronicles are filled with references to
public executions, ambushes, torture, village-burnings and forced emigra-
tions.” Although fighting was localized and forces small, “invaders and de-
fenders destroyed the villages they fought for and the landscapes they moved
across.” “Prisoners were tortured and killed . . . as a matter of course.” Even
in times of peace, there were no institutional restraints on okya [a high offi-
cial rank] or on other Cambodians who had mobilized a following.”10

Sudden arbitrary violence was still part of the experience of many
rural Cambodians in the 1940s, 1950s and 1960s. A woman acquaintance
told me how her father, a Battambang Issarak leader at the time of which
Bun Chan Mol was writing, used to keep his prisoners chained up beneath
the house without food or water and then execute them on his own firing
range a few hundred yards beyond the back yard. He was not a pathological
sadist either, but a good family man remembered fondly by his widow and
children. Later, in the Sihanouk years, the same woman was accused falsely
by police of being involved in Dap Chhuon’s movement and threatened with
torture.!! She was saved, not because she was innocent, but because an
uncle, who was a colonel in Phnom Penh, found out about her arrest and
intervened. '

Probably few Cambodians entertained doubts that traitors, or even
enemies, should be killed. When a teacher friend in Kompong Thom in 1961,
victim of a politically inspired denunciation, was accused of conspiring with
an ‘American agent’ (myself) he had to resort to a highly placed uncle for
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protection. The latter intervened, but told his nephew that if he- were really
guilty of what had been alleged — in fact nothing more serious than political
conversations with a foreigner — he deserved death. Likewise, a Cambodian
student who returned from North Korea in 1976 accepted with equanimity
that ‘traitors’ were killed in Korea in the 1950s and in Cambodia after 1975.
Like all the ‘left’ bourgeoisie, he had expected to occupy a privileged position
in the revolutionary regime, and he was only shocked by liquidations when he
discovered that he himself fell into a category of political enemies. Another
man, whose own brother, a pre-1975 acquaintance of mine, was executed,
said, “it wasn’t so bad that they killed people, that could be understood, but
that they chose to use such cruel methods.”!2 It should also not be forgotten
that not until 1972 did the Lon Nol government, under pressure from unfa-
vorable media attention to their own atrocities, announce that Vietnamese
prisoners would be treated according to international conventions. 1

In spite of the slant of the foregoing stories, however, I do not believe
that discussion of the ‘Khmer personality’ or Khmer psychology is very useful
in an explanation of the DK phenomenon. As Stephen Heder, a student of
the Cambodian revolution, has noted, anti-communist refugees tend ‘“‘to
understand the nature of and explain the atrocities of the Democratic Kam-
puchea regime in very clear class terms”;!* and a search for such explanations
in objective economic, social, and political circumstances is always preferable
to nebulous psychologizing. It is important to realize, however, that Heder’s
informants analyzed the peasant class, who were their enemies, on the basis
of their own subjective impressions of peasant culture and psychology. Fur-
thermore, even if the genesis of a revolution is explained through a rigidly
objective class analysis, the specific behavior of the victorious peasants or
workers, or of other formerly oppressed people, will be determined, at least
in part, by the old habits of their culture. Thus Ebihara’s informants, along
with some Cambodians I have met, and in particular Bun Chan Mol, are inval-
uable as participant observers who, beginning in the 1940s, saw as part of
‘Khmer mores’ some signs of what is now considered as Pol Pot extremism;
and if the broad structure of post-1975 developments is amenable to explana-
tion from objective circumstances and high-level policy decisions, the details
owe something to those old ‘Khmer mores.’

Much of the foregoing has dealt with traditions of violence, but what
about the famous Khmer Buddhism with its “precepts and practices [which]
pervade the values and behavior of the populace who accept this religion sin-
cerely and devoutly” and which was “the very apprenticeship of tolerance?
Wasn’t it supposed to be the source and guarantee of the gentleness which all
observers believed they saw in Cambodia and which gave “inner serenity and
the habit of kindness toward all”?'®> Were the Issaraks of the 1940s and the
DK cadres of the 1970s not Buddhists? (At first their enemies, the French in
the first instance and the Lon Nol government in the second, tried to claim
they were not Khmer, but Vietnamese.) And since they must once have been
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Buddhist — i.e., they were Khmer and all Khmer are Buddhist — what ac-
counts for their easy rejection of Buddhist mores for (more purely?) Khmer?

Probably more arrant nonsense has been written in the West about
Buddhism than about any other aspect of Southeast Asian life. Like every
other major religion, Buddhism as it is practiced in the countries where it has
ancient roots is a concretion of certain admirable philosophical and moral
principles with beliefs and practices which date from pre-Buddhist times,
prejudices peculiar to the society, special relationships with ruling classes, and
the ability to rationalize the pursuit of material gain, as well as a good many
other actions which are contrary to its principles. That Buddhists may torture
and massacre is no more astonishing than that the Inquisition burned people
or that practicing Catholics and Protestants joined the Nazi SS.

Ebihara got very close to what Cambodian Buddhism really means:
“the villager himself rarely conceives of observing separate religious traditions
[Buddhist, Hindu, folk]. Rather, for the ordinary Khmer, Buddha and ghosts,
prayers at the temple and invocations to spirits, monks and mediums are all
part of what is essentially a single religious system.” Instructive also was the
religious vocation of an 18-year-old girl who said, “I think I will go to three or
four Kathun festivals this year so that I will be reborn as a rich American.”16

One of the most important functions of Cambodian popular Buddhism
is the opportunity it gives for making merit — by participating in certain festi-
vals, by giving food to monks, or, for men, by becoming a monk oneself. The
desire to make merit results from the Cambodian understanding of Buddhism
as a fatalist doctrine which holds that our condition in the present life is the
result of our past conduct, while our conduct in this life, good or bad, will
determine our fate in future existences.

Moreover, the opportunity of making merit was not the same for all,
something which has hardly been touched on in the anthropological litera-
ture. Almost all forms of making merit- depended on giving up some part of
one’s own economic surplus to, or for, the temple and monks. Cambodians
did not believe that the poor man’s mite equalled the rich man’s gold. On the
contrary, the more spent, the greater the merit accrued; and thus those who
were already wealthy due to the supposed accumulation of merit in former
existences had greater potential for accumulating further merit as insurance
for the cosmic future.

Ebihara touches on this aspect of Cambodian Buddhism in her central
Cambodian rice-village. She notes that about three-fourths of the men over
age 17 had at some time been monks. But the poorest families could not
always spare their young men from field work to become monks; and about
17 percent of all adult men fell into that category.17 These poorest peasants,
then, were deprived by their poverty of the main merit-making and cosmic
insurance function of their society’s religion. We can surmise that some of
them, at least, must have felt resentment, compounded perhaps by the fact
that in traditional Cambodian society a period spent as a monk was essential
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to becoming a full adult with one’s own wife and family.

One would expect a tendency on the part of such men to reject Bud-
dhism, at least the idea of accepting fate, and in fact Ebihara found, already
by 1959, just such a tendency, not only among the poor, but among wealth-
ier people as well. Modern life and secular education impelled them to work
for the present and to lose interest in religion. In her village the number of
men who had been monks was in inverse proportion to age, and in the 10-19-
year group none had any plans to follow this old tradition.18 I found similar
attitudes among my teacher colleagues in 1960-61. Of twenty or so teachers
between the ages of 20 and 30, half a generation older than Ebihara’s young-
est group, only one had served his term as a monk, and most of the others
openly ridiculed religious traditions, considering monks to be social parasites.
This last attitude, then, was not the exclusive property of Pol Pot fanatics,
but already ten years before the war-existed among peasants and middle-

- class youth, most of whom in 1975 found themselves on the wrong side.

Even earlier, during the first Indochina war, certain anti-clerical tend-
encies which have since been associated with DK were already manifest.

French intelligence reports of June-July 1949 gave some attention to a
band of rebels under one ‘Achar Yi,” who operated in Kandal and Prey Veng.
They were apparently non-communist, since on one occasion they announced
an intention to “massacre the local Vietnamese, whether Viet Minh or not,”
but they were also noted for burning the sacred scriptures in temples they
suspected of following modernist tendencies.1?

Thus chauvinism, linked to peasant traditionalism in a form which
could countenance destruction of religious paraphernalia, already had roots
in the Cambodian countryside.

There was also an iconoclastic tendency among some non-revolutionary,
law-abiding people, including monks. In 1971, visiting a monk I had known
for some years in Battambang province, I remarked on the almost disrespect-
ful way he seemed to regard Buddha images in his temple. He explained that
the images were really only useless idols, unimportant to a real understanding
and practice of religion. It is impossible to ascertain how widespread this
monastic sub-culture was; and it may be only a coincidence that this man and
all his relatives and acquaintances had been part of the early Issarak bands
described by Bun Chan Mol in the northwestern districts noted for violence
both in those days and under DK.20

For those who wished to reject their religion; for whatever reason,
poverty or modernism, it was, however, better to be Buddhist than Christian,
for the former contains a nice escape clause for the backslider. As Pin Yathay -
put it, “you are responsible for yourself; you are your own master . .. Bud-
dha is not a god . . . only a guide. He shows you the way . . . it is for you to
convince yourself that the way he indicates is good.”?! Thus for those who
rejected it there was no superior moral force to accuse or punish them. If in
rejecting religion they also committed crimes, they would not be punished by
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a deity. They might risk cosmic demotion in a future life, but it was also
possible to calculate that later good works could offset the bad on the cosmic
balance sheet. Besides, the non-Buddhist folk practices which were a part of
every Cambodian’s religious heritage provided many other sources of protec-
tion, both physical and spiritual.

In the face of the gradual disaffection from traditional Buddhism which
Ebihara noticed, the Cambodian elite sought to reemphasize religion as a
technique for repressing the new desires for social mobility. In 1955, when
revolutionary forces were threatening, a newspaper representing Sihanouk’s
new coalition of the right maintained editorially that the country should be
ruled by its natural leaders, who are the rich and powerful. The less fortunate
should not envy them and try to take their places, for each person’s situation
in the present is determined by his past actions. The poor should accept their
fate, live virtuously, and try to accumulate merit in order to improve their
station in another existence.2?

At the same timie, and perhaps in an effort to counter the anti-monastic
disaffection of the youth, there were attempts to associate the monks with
nation-building. Thus in one of Sihanouk’s glossy magazines a photograph of
monks at work on a road or dike construction site was accompanied by the
caption “monks within the framework of our Buddhist socialism participate
in the work of nation-buildjng.”23 This of course prefigures the DK treat-
ment of monks, and for traditionalists could have represented sacrilege.

Even violence could be linked with the practice of Buddhism if it was
in defense of the established order upholding the official religion. One of Lon
Nol’s favorite themes, on which he composed a series of pamphlets, was
“religious war’ in which he tried to identify the Vietnamese and Khmer com-
munists with the thmil, the enemies of the true faith in old Buddhist folk-
lore.?* Violence in the service of the true faith could be used to link Khmer
Buddhists and Islamic Chams, the largest indigenous minority in Cambodia.
During the first two years of the war a Cham colonel, Les Kasem, gained fame
with a Cham battalion which was reported to have systematically destroyed
and exterminated ‘Khmer Rouge’ villages which they occupied. Their noto-
riety was finally such that the government realized they were counterproduc-
tive and the battalion was split up among other units. Pro-religious violence
is also attractive to some Christians, like Ponchaud, who proudly retails the
story of a Cham father who murdered his sons for accepting Communist
discipline.25 '

It is no wonder that poor peasant youth returned from short commu-
nist seminars full of anti-religious fervor.?® Cambodian Buddhism was dese-
crated, long before the DK regime closed the temples, by the blatant class
manipulation of the faith under Sihanouk’s Sangkum, followed in Lon Nol’s
Republic by the designation of temples as military recruitment stations.?’

Long before the war the poorest had reason to feel some resentment
against the religicus structure, and the middle groups were losing interest for
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materialist reasons. For both, at bottom, the mixture of Buddhist principles,
old Hindu rites, and ancient folk beliefs which together constituted Cambodi-
an religion, represented techniques for ameliorating one’s material life, either
now or in the future. If the religion was seen to fail in that respect, disaffec-
tion occurred.

Such disaffection was massively apparent among the refugees in camps
in Thailand, where in 1980 there were more registered Khmer Christians than
in all of Cambodia before 1970. To accuse missionaries of manufacturing
rice Christians misses the point. As one particularly sophisticated family
whom I had known in Phnom Penh put it: *“look at what happened to Cam-
bodia under Buddhism; Buddhism has failed, and we must search for some
other faith.”28

Some fifty-odd years ago another such large-scale disaffection occurred.
Around 1927, at a time of economic and potitical difficulties, thousands of
Cambodian peasants took an interest in the Cao-Dai religion — a faith of the
‘hereditary enemy,” the Vietnamese — going to worship and participate in
ceremonies at the Cao-Dai headquarters near Tay-Ninh. At the very least this
“reflected the reaction of a disoriented peasantry ready to turn to the newly
offered salvation that they believed would involve the regeneration of the
Cambodian state.”??

Rejection of traditional religion and the proliferation of non-Buddhist

. violence are thus well within the Khmer cultural heritage, whether the spe-

cific manifestations are a temporary interest in Cao-Dai, Issarak savagery,
modernist derision, or DK official atheism.30

If Buddhism proved to be no barrier to class antagonisms, or to vio-
lence, much in the country’s social and economic structure tended to
encourage both.3!

Traditional Cambodian society was formed essentially of three classes
— peasants, officials, and royalty. Very few Khmers became merchants, and
to the extent that an urban population apart from the court and officials
existed, it was composed mainly of non-Khmers, generally Chinese. This
division of society probably goes back to the Angkor period when national
wealth was produced from the land and collected by officials, who channeled
it to the court and religious apparatus where it was used largely for building
the temples and supporting the specialized population attached to them. A
part of the wealth collected by officials remained in their hands for their

“support in leu of salary, but this was accepted as the way in which the sys-

tem naturally functioned. Each of the classes had a function believed essential
for the welfare of the society, and in which the king’s role was quasi-religious
and ritual.32

Although the Angkorean state declined and disappeared, the old divi-
sions of society persisted. For the mass of the population, social position was
fixed, and it would have been almost unthinkable to imagine rising above the
class into which one was born. Occasionally, perhaps in time of war, or for
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exceptional services to a powerful patron, someone from a peasant back-
ground might rise into the official class and thereby change the status of his
immediate family; and clever children might be educated in an official family
or at court to become officials; but such occurred too rarely for any expecta-
tion of social mobility to be part of public consciousness.

The possibilities of wealth accumulation were also limited. Land was
not personal property, but in theory belonged to the king. An energetic
peasant could thus not accumulate land and wealth through hard work and
abstemiousness and move up the scale to rich farmer, entrepreneur, or what-
ever. The only possibility for wealth accumulation lay in an official career.
Even there life was hazardous. Officials were of course more or less wealthy,
and the official status of a family might continue for generations; but their
status was not assured by any formal legality, and could be ended precipi-
tously at royal displeasure — for instance, if an official showed signs of ac-
cumulating too much wealth or power. Even if a career did not end in dis-
grace, wealth accumulated in the form of gold, jewels, other precious goods,
or dependents, might revert to the state at an official’s death rather than
passing in inheritance to his family. There was thus no incentive, or possi-
bility, to use wealth for long-term constructive purposes or entrepreneurial
investment.

Village and family organization, especially if compared to China, Viet-
nam, or [ndia, were extremely weak. Khmer villages were not cohesive units,
as in Vietnam, dealing collectively with officials; and beyond the nuclear
household, families easily disintegrated. Family names did not exist, records
of previous generations were not kept, ancestors were not the object of a
religious cult. Corporate discipline over the individual by extended families
or by village organizations was weak, and once a person had fulfilled his obli-
gations to the state — as a tax or corvee — there was little constraint in his
activities. It is thus likely that a paradoxical situation of great anarchic indi-
vidual freedom prevailed in a society in which there was no formal freedom
at all.

The relations among royalty, officials, and peasantry, which did not
begin to change under colonial impact until after 1884, were organized in
forms of dependency. Everyone below the king had a fixed dependent status
which served to determine his obligations to the next higher level and also
provided protection. The provinces of the realm were given in appanage to
the highest officials of the capital whose agents in the provinces collected the
taxes and organized the corvee which were the raison d’étre for the system.
Each peasant in theory, and in the central agricultural provinces in reality,
was the dependent client of an official whose identity he knew.

Besides such dependence at all levels of society within the country,
the Cambodian ruling class had for centuries been dependent on foreign over-
lords and protectors, usually Siam and Vietnam, but at one point in the
1590s Europeans;33 and French protection against Vietnam was sought in the
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19th century even before the French were ready to impose it.34

There was thus no serious conception of self-reliance at any level of
Cambodian society, and in a crisis everyone looked to a powerful savior from
abaove or outside rather than seeking a local solution.

Kings looked to ever more powerful protectors both against their
neighbors and their own people, a practice which even Sihanouk did not give
up, in spite of his rhetoric to the contrary. His ‘crusade for independence’
was imposed on him by challenges from the left, and the independence grant-
ed in 1953 was in a way Franco-Sihanouk collusion to block a Cambodian
revolution. All through the formally anti-United States years of the 1960s he
never renounced the desire for an American protective shield against the
communist Vietnamese.33 »

Lesser members of the elite acted in similar fashion. The protest of
Prince Yukanthor against the French protectorate in 1901 is often treated as
an anti-colonial manifestation, whereas in fact Yukanthor was berating the
French for neglecting to provide adequate protection for the traditional elite
against upstart commoners who were taking advantage of the expanding
colonial bureaucracy to advance themselves economically and socially.36

At the lower levels of society peasants who felt oppressed would seek
to change patrons, or if pushed to violence they turned to anarchic banditry
which caused more suffering to their fellows than to the oppressive officials.
In contrast to the Chinese or Vietnamese mass peasant rebellions which occa-
sionally took state power and started a new dynastic cycle,37 no peasant or
other lower class rebellion in Cambodia before the 1970s ever snowballed
into 2 movement which endangered the system.

This was no doubt in part due to the individual anarchy resulting from
lack of corporate units above the family. The potential rebel wished to be
bought off, not change the system. This is seen in the circumstance of the
first stirrings of modern nationalist rebelfion against the French, and contrasts
with the earlier and more thoroughgoing organization in Vietnam. Soon after
the murder of the only French official killed in the 20th century by ethnic
Khmers while carrying out his official duties, the guilty villagers “returned,
ashamed, to the village, and before long were turning one another in to the
police”;?8 and in the 1940s at the French political prison on Pulou Condore,
the trusties, police spies, and torturers were all Khmers currying favor for
individual special treatment, while the Vietnamese maintained a spirit of
political solidarity and organized classes in Marxism.3?

The same client mentality persisted right on into the 1970s, at least
among one part of the population. Not only did Lon Nol and his coterie rely
on foreign protection, but so did all those outside the revolutionary camp
who saw the hopelessness of the government position. When it was clear by
1972 that a Lon Nol government could not win, those generals and civilian
officials who might have retrieved the situation, instead of simply taking
power, kept hoping vainly for the Americans to act in their favor. I suppose




00838891

The Gentle Land 15

every American in Phnom Penh at the time shared my experience of friends
and acquaintances asking in desperation, “why doesn’t the CIA do some-
thing?”

In the end their dependency led them to acquiesce in, or even encour-
age, the devastation of their own country by one of the worst aggressive
onslaughts in modern warfare, and therefore to appear as traitors to a vic-
torious peasant army which had broken with old patron-client relationships
and had been self-consciously organized and indoctrinated for individual,
group, and national self—reliance,40

If the traditional system seems in retrospect oppressive, we must re-
member that before the 20th century Cambodians, like most Asians, knew
no other, and that the demand for wealth by the elites was generally limited
to what could be consumed or spent within the country.

Although much of the formal system was changed by the French, there
was not a corresponding change in attitudes and values. Officials continued to
see their positions as ends in themselves, as situaticns in which to accumulate,
for consumption, part of the wealth extracted from the peasantry and passed
upward to the rulers. After they were put on salary by the French, such addi-
tional accumulation was illegal, but as a traditional practice it was not felt to
be immoral, and the corruption which later became such a serious problem
began thus as a continuation of an accepted traditional practice. The exploi-
tative character of colonialism thus merged easily with the exploitative char-
acter of traditional society, and intensified it; and for many of the Cambo-

.dian elites the evil of colonialism probably resided less in its exploitative

character than in the fact that they were not in ultimate control.

1 do not intend to argue that the Cambodian revolution was caused just
by economic pressure on the peasantry. That would be incorrect. If it had
not been first for the revolutionary movement in Vietnam and then for for-
eign military intervention with its attendant destruction, Cambodia might
well have gone on for years with a level of insurgency too strong for the gov-
ernment to suppress, but not strong enough to take over state power.41

It is nevertheless important to stress that exploitation of the peasantry
was increasing throughout the 20th century and if it alone did not push them
to revolution it was responsible for serious rural-urban antagonisms.

Taxes were increased by the French, particularly after World War I, and
were the highest in Indochina, with part of the funds funnelled elsewhere in
the federation rather than used in Cambodia. In particular, taxation was
“heavy in terms of any benefits . . . returning to the peasant”; and the murder
of a French official in 1925 was due to his attempt to collect taxes in arrears.
There were also onerous corvees for public works, first of all roads; and in
one infamous project, the construction of a resort at Bokor, 900 workers’
lives were lost in nine months, a statistic comparable to the human cost of a
Pol Pot dam site.4?

French efforts to reimpose their protectorate regime after a brief period
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of Japanese-sponsored ‘independence’ in 1945 led to a multiplicity of guerilla
operations by Issaraks representing all shades of the political spectrum, and
in general directed against the French and the royal government of Prince
Sihanouk. The years 1946-52 were increasingly violent, with the rebel forces
eventually controlling large areas.*3

Independence in 1953 did not bring long-lasting relief either, even
though taxes were not collected as energetically as before. Cambodia has
been pictured as a lush food-surplus region, but its soil is generally too poor
and natural water supply inadequate for optimum production of its main
crop, rice. Cambodian rice yields have always been among the world’s lowest,
and after World War II increasing demands for export rice, which in effect
were used to finance an increasingly luxurious urban lifestyle, began to
squeeze the nearly constant supply which also had to feed a rapidly growing
population.

Statistics are poor, and it was always. possible to claim that most peas-
ants owned their own land; at least landlordism and large estates were not the
main problems of the Cambodian peasantry. The technique which insured
that they continue to supply the market, whether or not it provided them
much in return, was a never-ending cycle of debt with usurious interest, the
collection of which was ultimately backed up by police power.44 Such pres-
sure to squeeze ever more rice out of a resistant peasantry was one of the
elements in the first really revolutionary revolts in 1967-68.43

Some examples of peasant conditions in one of the central agricultural
areas close to Phnom Penh are instructive with respect to what happened
after 1975. In the village of West Svay one-third of the households owned
land but had no oxen, or only one ox, and they resorted to various coopera-
tive arrangements to get their plowing done. Cooperation was also necessary
to secure a water supply, since rainfall was often inadequate, or at the wrong
time; and the primitive irrigation techniques for moving water from one field
to another required permission of all the owners, and resulted in frequent
quarrels.46 ’

When plowing and harrowing were performed cooperatively, the owner
of the field being worked provided a small meal and cigarettes. Such meals
had traditionally included rice gruel, soup, and various side dishes; but by
1959 “the villagers of West Svay had agreed among themselves that only rice
gruel and dried fish need be provided . . . because the cost of additional food
was too great an expense for many families.”*’

Thus for Cambodian peasants in that area the conditions of eXistence
imposed cooperative labor, but made outbursts of inter-family violence in-
evitable, and at certain times of the year forced them to accept a diet which
since 1975 has become a symbol of communist oppression in Democratic
Kampuchea.

Continuing in an historical vein, it is instructive to note that the forced
exodus of urban people in April 1975 was not the first such disruption in
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Cambodia; it was only the first which involved the comfortable classes of the
towns. If the population of Phnom Penh, as estimated, increased from around
600,000 in 1970 to over 2 million by 1975, at least half the increase, and a
larger number of people than the entire urban population of 1970, consisted
of peasants driven from their land by bombing and shelling. It is a strange
kind of history which regards that displacement of people as somehow less
abhorrent or more ‘normal’ than the reverse movement of 1975.

Further back in Cambodian history, but not so far that it would not
have been remembered by still living people, between several hundred thou-
sand and perhaps one million rural inhabitants, mostly in the provinces of
Takeo, Svay Rieng, and Kompong Chhnang, and representing from one-eighth
to one-quarter of the total population, were forcibly ‘regrouped’ during the
first Indochina war of 1946-54 .48 '

Furthermore, 'if the latest war and revolution had not interrupted it,
another forced exodus of from half to three-quarters of a million peasants
was being projected and viewed with equanimity by the Cambodian adminis-
trative elite and their international advisers. That was the estimated number
of people whose villages would have been flooded out of existence in north-
eastern Cambodia and southern Laos by Mekong Project dams which would
have provided few alternative benefits for them, or even for Cambodia as a
whole 42

Thus for the rural 80-90 percent of the Cambodian people arbitrary
justice, sudden violent death, political oppression, exploitative use of religion
and anti-religious reaction, both violent and quiescent, were common facts
of life long before the war and revolution of the 1970s. The creations of Pol
Pot-ism were all there in embryo.

When they emerged fully grown after 1975 they were directed first of
all at the urban population which, to the extent it had been at all involved in
the earlier violence described above, had always been associated with the
apparatus dealing it out.

Some degree of resentment, even hatred, of the towns should have been
expected. In his most recent, anti-DK, avatar Wilfred Burchett has alluded to
this. Under Pol Pot, he wrote, “it sufficed to turn up the palm of the hand
— roughened it saved — if not it was death.””50

I would not argue about that measure having occasionally been used in
1975 to distinguish urban evacuees, even though in most cases they were
easy to recognize without looking at their hands and, as the following chap-
ters will show, there was never a campaign to identify and dispose of urban
folk in general. What I found interesting about Burchett’s remark was thatl
had heard the same story in 1962 from a friend, an.urban school teacher, who
ten years earlier had been on a bus stopped by Issaraks ostensibly fighting for
Cambodian independence from France. They entered the bus by the front
and passed down the aisle turning up hands. If they were soft the passengers
were led away. My friend, fortunately, was sitting toward the rear and
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government security forces arrived on the scene before his turn came.>!

Who were these urban folk whose soft hands might have put their lives
in jeopardy a generation before anyone had heard of Pol Pot?

Before 1945 there was scarcely a Khmer urban population at all.
Phnom Penh (pop. 111,000 in 1948)52 and the provincial towns were primar-
ily Chinese trading and commercial centers with smaller but important groups
of Vietnamese traders and artisans, all overlaid at the highest levels by a
French administration and business network along with the ‘protected’ royal
Cambodian government in the capital and a Khmer administrative skeleton at
provincial and lower levels. As commerce was solidly in foreign or non-Khmer
hands, upward mobility for Khmers required entering the administration, and
this was only possible in times of bureaucratic expansion when not all the
positions open to Khmers could be filled by younger members of the tradi-
tional elite. A rough indication of the possibilities offered by the administra-
tion as a channel of upward mobility can be seen in a comparison of the esti-
mates of government administrative personnel in 1940 (13,000) and 1967
(93,800), a seven-fold expansion in a period in which total population had
not quite doubled.*3 Probably the main increase within that period was in
1953, after independence, and 1954, after the end of the Indochina War and
total French withdrawal.

Another index of the growth of a Khmer urban elite, and its problems,
is the expansion of education. Admittedly this was an area of colonial neglect.
The first local high school diplomas, the French baccalaureat, were received
by seven students, all of whom went on to prominent positions, in 1931; and
in 1936 there were only 50-60,000 children in primary school. By 1954 there
were 271,000 in primary schools, 3,300 in secondary schools, and 144 stu-
dents had received the full baccalaureat.>*

Thereafter, the numbers increased rapidly until 1970. Primary enroll-
ment expanded to a million, secondary to over 100,000, and tertiary from
350 to 10,000. The percentage increase ir: university students alone was many
times the percentage increase in the total population.

To what extent did this increase meet the needs of the country? Educa-
tion had certainly been neglected, and after independence some degree of
rapid development was desirable and laudable. The attitude of Cambodians,
however, seemed to be that the maximum amount of modern education in
any field at all for the maximum number of children was an absolute good in
itself, without ever taking into account the absorptive capacities of the
society. In contrast, the colonial authorities, as well as independent Thailand,
had tried to limit educational opportunities in order not to create an unem-
ployable class of semi-intellectuals.

Not only was the rate of educational expansion much greater than the
rate of increase in population, which represented in part a catching up, but it
also exceeded the capacity of government, commerce or industry to utilize
the graduates. High school education, that of the traditional French lycee
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with some Khmer-language admixture, provided a general arts education of
little practical ‘value, perhaps “suitable for the children of the French bour-
geoisie of the belle epoque (and no longer suitable for children in France
today) [but] not adapted to the needs of Cambodia.” University students
were also enrolled overwhelmingly in the arts courses which did not prepare
students for much more than the career of government function_ary.s5 The
technical university founded in 1964 had yearly enrollment between 1,300
and 1,700, which might have represented just about what was needed, de-
pending on the specific career orientation followed; but in a field such as
agronomy where Cambodia needed specialists, there were only 117 students
in 1970-71.%6

A majority of arts graduates from the Iycees and universities in the first
few years could find careers as teachers in the rapidly growing number of
primary and secondary schools. By the late 1960s the number of primary and
secondary school teachers had stabilized at around 20,000, most of whom
had probably come from among the nearly same number who had received
licenses, baccalaureats, and lower secondary diplomas during the preceding
decade. )

For the remaining graduates and the five times greater number who had
completed the courses of study only to fail the exams, government service
was almost the only outlet. It would have been unthinkable for anyone with-
a high school or even lower secondary education, with or without a diploma,
to go back to peasant life. The bureaucracy, however, was not indefinitely
expandable, and even with the overloading of offices to take as many as possi-
ble, Sihanouk, by 1961, had to announce that the administration was full
and couid not possibly accommodate the 600,000 or so students then in
school.37 He advised them to go back to the farm, but by then it was too
late. His Sangkum had already awakened aspirations which could not sud-
denly be cut off, and even though dependence of the urban upper and middle
classes on the state had been traditional, there had never before been such
opportunities for mobility into that sector by people from less privileged

groups.

Neither were there expanding commercial and industrial sectors to
absorb the newly educated. Commerce was still mainly in the hands of Chi-
nese, Vietnamese, and a few Khmer families who had always been dominant.
Their children also went through the new schools and then returned to fill
the empty places in that sector. Industry was virtually non-existent, a feeble
internal market made development difficult, and what did develop could not
make much special use of Iycee graduates or people with university degrees
in French or Khmer literature. At the top it needed engineers and technicians,
and at the bottom barely literate (or even illiterate) workers with 2-3 years of
primary education and direct from the village. The educational system was
thus producing an increasingly numerous class of useless people.

Moreover, the class structure .of Cambodian society meant that even
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usefully educated people might be denied suitable employment. In March
1972 Captain Chan of the Khmer Republic army told me that after having
obtained a degree in agriculture from an American university he returned
home hoping to work in a government agricultural service, but in spite of a
recommendation from Sihanouk he was turned down because “the depart-
ment is controlled by the bourgeoisie and I am not one of them and could
not pay a bribe to get a job.” He then joined the army as a private, before
March 1970, and was given a commission after the war started.

Education in Cambodia, as in much of the Third World, did not develop
as in the West or in the socialist countries of Eastern Europe after World
War II where, beginning in the 19th century, education at all levels developed
to supply skills needed in industrial societies. In Cambodia education grew as
a demand for status and wealth by people who believed they had been unjust-
ly deprived. The demand was first by Cambodians collectively against the
French, and then by lower class Cambodians as a channel to escape peasant
life and join what they perceived as the wealthier, easier life in the towns.>8
Even if Sihanouk and his advisers perceived the dilemma in the beginning,
political reasons would have prevented them from limiting education or try-

" ing to turn it into more useful channels. Precarious as their rule was,59 they

could not run the risk of accusations from their opponents that they were
keeping people ignorant as the French had done.

Education, then, at least beyond lower primary, represented first of all
a status, both socially and, where jobs were ‘available, economically. It was
not in order to acquire useful training, not even primarily to make money
through the exercise of skills much in demand, but to obtain a piece of paper
attesting the acduisition of a status through which, normally, one should
have been able to enter a service where salaries and perks would provide a
comfortable life and the prerogative of commanding people- of lower status.
Thus the stories, partly apocryphal but based on observed circumstances, of
Cambodians who would complete honorable university courses, then armed
with their diplomas, sell off their books or at least never look at them again.
Cambodia had not been and did not become a reading nation; and there was
always a certain implicit denigration of learning and of intellectuals by the
established elite. In fact, by the 1960s ‘intellectual,” when used publicly by
Sihanouk, was very nearly a term of opprobrium.

The holders of status positions, the bureaucrats, including teachers,
received salaries which were princely in comparison with the money income
of a peasant, artisan, or factory worker, or even in comparison with the
income from a similar position in Thailand. In 1960-62, for example, a teach-
er at lower secondary level had a salary equivalent to about US$100 per
month at the official rate of exchange while his counterpart in Thailand was
receiving about $30. This was because in Cambodia, as in many former
colonies, the first post-independence salaries were set to show some relation-
ship to the colonial (European) salaries for the same positions, whereas in
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Thailand salaries were initially set on the basis of local living standards and
class hierarchies.

Therefore bureaucrats, teachers, and even the unemployed with some
education had a privileged status, were jealous of their position and presumed -
prerogatives and, particularly since so many of them had recently escaped
from the village, were contemptuous of peasant life and determined to remain
in an urban milieu. Often boys with no more than primary schooling con-
sidered themselves intellectuals; and the resulting diploma snobbery extended
into unexpected quarters. In 1971 the FUNK Bulletin in Paris criticized the
Phnom Penh General In Tam as “personifying illiteracy in all areas,” and said
of another office, Hou Hang Sin, that he was “‘incapable of preparing a report
without spelling errors.”®® The editors, supporters of the revolution, little
realized that within a few years they themselves might face hard Jabor or even
death for intellectual snobbery, or at the very least would be serving under
men whose level of formal education was far below that of In Tam.

Another illustrative case is the young university graduate who left Cam-
bodia in 1973 and who in 1979 had an opportunity to meet and criticize
Thiounn Mum, a DK senior official who graduated from France’s Ecole Poly-
technique. Among other things she upbraided him for agreeing to work under
Pol Pot, “who has no university degree at all.”®1 She was also contemptuous
of DK efforts, defended by Mum, to shorten certain courses of education,
such as basic medicine and technical training, and appeared shocked when I
pointed out that western medical teams in the refugee camps were having
success with similar programs, teaching people to perform in a few weeks or
months tasks which in traditional schools might take years. Because of its
implicit attack on the status function of education, the notion of abridging
traditional educational programs, turning peasants into paramedics or basic
mechanics, or producing ‘barefoot’ doctors, is even more shocking to non-
peasant Cambodians than to bourgeois westerners. It was noticeable in KID
that some of the emergency programs considered desirable or necessary by
the international aid organizations were disliked by the refugees as being
uncomfortably similar to what had been implemented in Democratic
Kampuchea.

By the early 1960s it was already apparent that Cambodian towns were
filling up with people who through education had acquired new status but
who could not be put to use in the existing system, and urban economic
sectors were not being expanded to receive them (aside from the fact that
their education was nearly useless for those sectors). The expansion of the
school system itself had been the last surge of bureaucratic growth, and was
carried to its absurd extreme by the proliferation of universities after 1964.
The latter gave a few more years ‘employment’ to several thousand ‘intellec-
tuals,” both as students and teachers, but in the process created even more
educated unemployables.62

At the same time, as noted above, the demands made on the country’s
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economy, that is on the peasantry, by the towns were steadily increasing.

In traditional Cambodia, before the French protectorate, people of
status were rewarded, not with salaries, but by a cut of the fees, taxes, or
products they collected for the crown, and with the privilege of using people
of lower status for personal services or as direct producers of items of con-
sumption. Although that system was formally ended nearly 100 years ago,
the mentality which accompanied it persisted, and all state employment,
which meant almost all employment open to Khmers outside the villages,
was still ranked on a scale of desirability according to the opportunity it
provided for private benefits, now termed graft.

Even when whole industries were set up as foreign aid projects, as was
done by China in the 1960s, such industries were valued mainly for the possi-
bilities of personal enrichment inherent in them. The Cambodians had discov-
ered that even ‘socialism’ could be integrated into their traditions. The value
of the term in modern international relations was apparent by the 19505,63
and for foreign consumption the name of Sihanouk’s new political party was
rendered as ‘Popular Socialist Community.” Of course, it was not to be Marx-
ist socialism, but rather a Royalist-Buddhist Socialism, without class conflict
— declared inexistent in Cambodia — and depending on the ‘ancient’ Cam-
bodian practice of the sovereign providing for the welfare of his people.64
And since the sovereign by .definition always provided for the people’s wel-
fare, any kind of criticism was seen as subversive or anti-monarchical.

Under Royalist-Buddhist Socialism the state industries and nationalized
enterprises after 1964 became in effect appanages for Sihanouk’s favorites,
who grew wealthy while the account books showed red.®® Periodic scandals
served to spread the wealth around, placing some in temporary eclipse while
others took their turn at the trough. It was a continuation of the traditional
practice of officials extracting a percentage of what they collected for the
state; and no one of the elite was ever severely called to account or forced to
repay what he had collected from the public il1.66

Before the modern world impinged on Cambodian life the old system
could work passably well. The wealth squeezed out of the peasantry by the
officials and the court — the state apparatus — did not in general represent
a loss to the national economy, for little of it was spent abioad. It would be
redistributed through conspicuous consumption within the economy in the
construction of temples and dwellings, the support of large service retinues
which every wealthy and powerful figure collected, and the patronage of Jocal
artisans. Much of it was returned whence it came, and the propensity to
accumulate wealth by the elites must have been limited by the limits of

. consumption, or use, within the country.

In mid-20th century, however, such a system was much more fragile
and more oppressive. Conspicuous consumption indulged in by the elite was
no longer within the economy, but involved the acquisition of expensive
foreign products, frequent trips abroad, hard currency bank accounts, and the
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construction of amenities modeled on those of Paris and New York; and the
large dependent clienteles through which wealth was once redistributed were
no longer needed or desired. Development, for such a consumption-oriented
elite, meant luxury housing, western-style restaurants and bars, importation
of automobiles. The type of growth experience of Saigon and Bangkok in the
1960s and 1970s, ending for the former in 1975, and which most westerners
would consider tragic, was regarded by Cambodians with envy; and those
who opposed Sihanouk’s rejection of American aid in 1963-64 argued that
such growth would thereby be impeded in Phnom Penh.

The upper strata among whom such new habits began set the tone for
all those below. The elite had been to France, and often to other countries as
well, had investments abroad, and considered that emulation of the lifestyle
of wealthy Paris or New York was no more than their due. To this end
Phnom Penh was to be turned into a city with all the western refinements,
and luxuries were to be freely imported. On the one hand this made Phnom
Penh one of the most attractive cities in the world, and on the other led to
such absurdities as the “concours d’élégance automobile” sponsored by Si-
hanouk.S” “The beautiful city, though, had to be filled with private villas
which few could legitimately afford and all the luxuries to go with them.
From the highest levels the.-demonstration effect spread downward. until
everyone aspired to luxuries which neither the individual, nor the society as a-
whole, could afford, and the result was a generalized corruption and a drain-
ing of wealth into unproductive investments. )

Among the impressionable recipients of the demonstration effect were
all the superfluous young semi-intellectuals who flocked to the towns, par-
ticularly Phnom Penh. With the administration virtually closed to further
expansion since 1961, only a rapidly expanding economy could have made
room for them at the level they desired. But Cambodia, after 1963, went into
a recession. Rice production declined, and along with it the industries related
to rice, such as milling, transportation, commerce, and alcohol. Construction
and mechamcal industries also probably declined, and in any case did not
expand

The only employment for immigrants to the city was in the personal
service sector. Many of them found a place as clients, hangers-on, and quasi-
servants of the rich, thus perpetuating an old Cambodian tradition. Others
were absorbed in the hotels, restaurants, bars, tailor and dressmaker shops,
barber and hairdresser trades which constituted a sector seemingly unaffected
by recession or austerity. (The contradiction here is not logical, but in the
system itself. While productive activities stagnated, wealth, as in the case of
state industries noted above, was being drained off into economic back chan-
nels and spent on frivolous consumption.) When the war began and the for-
eign aid and diplomatic community began a new expansion, there were new
jobs as interpreters, secretaries, house-servants, drivers, gardeners, guards, etc.

Thus Cambodia’s urban population, and in particular that of Phnom
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Penh, expanded. Already in 1968 greater Phnom Penh held nearly 10 percent
of the country’s total population, and together with the other towns over 12
percent, while urban and semi-urban (non-peasant) people were 21 percent. 69

Although these percentages may not seem high in comparison with
many other countries, it must be remembered that the move from country to
town which is considered a part of normal development means movement
into industries producing goods both for the city and for a developing coun-
tryside. In Cambodia, however, industry, which had never been important,
was declining as urban population expanded; and far from providing equip-
ment for agriculture, the urban sector was intent on squeezing more and more
wealth out of it. Among the 880,000 who constituted the true urban popula-
tion, or 1% million who made up the urban plus semi-urban group, there
were only about 110,000 industrial employees, many of them outside Phnom
Penh, 93,000 in the administration, 48,000 in transportation, 13,000 in con-
struction — the most important. productive urban branch; but 60,000 in
‘personal service’ and 64,500 monks.”0

This situation was congruent with and exacerbated by traditional views
about status. Respectable employment, for an ordinary person, had tradi-
tionally meant life as a formally free peasant, or artisan, or state functionary,
or member of the entourage or domestic staff of someone of high status.
Wage labor was somehow degrading, while service employment was not; and
there was no value-neutral, or even non-pejorative, term for “work for.”

Urban-rural distinctions increased, and became more invidious against
the peasants, as the city became wealthier and more westernized. Ultimately
city folk began to regard peasants, not just as people who were poorer and
less refined, but, because of the agricultural slack season, as people who did
not work enough.’!

Already before the war then, there were several hundred thousand,
perhaps nearly a million, Cambodians who had escaped from peasant and
village life, and many more who wished to, and they were to a large extent
oriented toward a foreign ideal. Before the late 1960s there was a strong
French element in even primary education and many French teachers in the
high schools. Beginning with school books, and -continuing on through the
press, popular literature, and films, all Cambodians who shared in the least in
the urban culture were made aware of the attractions of western life, in par-
ticular the life of the comfortable bourgeoisie. As it became increasingly
clear that few of those who aspired to them would ever acquire those western
trappings in Cambodia, and as the country declined economically before
1970 and deteriorated physically afterward, the prosperous West became a
golden paradise to which all wished to go. This was a goal which few of them

could attain, however, and as second best, reverting to old patterns in their
culture, they saw salvation in dependency on a strong western country,
preferably the United States.

The war exacerbated the trend toward urban immigration and rural-
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urban contradictions; and the war itself, whatever else it may have been, was
also a war between town and country in which the towns fought increasingly
to preserve privileges while the rural areas suffered. Although adequate sta-
tistics are unavailable, no one of any faction involved in the war has tried to
deny that there were from half a million to a million war deaths, figures
which compare with the more serious estimates — several hundred thousand
to over a million — of abnormal deaths between 1975 and 1979.

Moreover, the rural half of the country, in 1970-75, suffered far more
human and material damage than the urban.’? Again, no precise statistics are
available, but impressionistic evidence is more than sufficient. The bombing
and shelling of the countryside, particularly in 1972-73, and its attendant
loss of life, are well known. Besides this, the rank and file of the Lon Nol
forces, in contrast to the almost entirely urban officer corps, were country
boys who from 1972 at least often found the army, even as corrupt as it was,
the only way to an assured rice ration. The real urban population suffered
hardly at all from war wounds or violent death; and the only section of them
directly exposed to war were the officers, among whom casualties, as every-
where, were much lower than among the soldiery.

The existing class distinctions of Cambodian society were maintained
and exaggerated in the military, particularly during the war. Officers came
back from the front daily to wine and dine in Phnom Penh restaurants, pay-
ing their bills, if at all, with money extorted by the device of phantom troops
or by withholding soldiers’ allowances. As the city’s productive function
shrank during the war, much of its economy came to depend on such expendf
iture, financed ultimately by U.S. aid, and the military became a sort of
mercenary force within their own country. An illustration of this class at its
worst was the widow of a colonel in the Khao I Dang refugee center in 1980
who complained of living conditions there, saying that in the good old days
before 1975 her husband’s orderly used to bring her bags of money twice
daily. The person to whom she addressed her complaint, another refugee,
retorted that it was because of people like her that they were all sitting

uncomfortably in a refugee camp.

Among all the urbanites whom I had known from 1960 onward, by
1975 I had only heard of one personal acquaintance killed in action and one
other case of a friend’s brother who had been killed. A French friend with an
even longer residence in Cambodia had similar experience. Only two of his
acquaintances had died as a result of the war. Of course, it is possible that
some of our earlier acquaintances from the 1960s had joined the Communists .
or remained in the countryside and been killed there, but that would only go
to prove my point.7 ,

The city, or at least its poorer strata, and indeed anyone trying to live

“honestly on a government salary, did begin to suffer from hunger at least by

1972 — first because of inflation and then outright lack of food; but anyone
who would argue that it was thereby disadvantaged with respect to rural areas
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would then have to admit that the Communists, in spite of war losses and
damages, were carrying out a very successful organization of agricultural
production.

Although certain journalistic accounts vividly described the shelling of
Phnom Penh, particularly during the last year of the war, those incidents,
bad as they were for their victims, cannot compare with the artillery and air
attacks on the countryside, some of which as early as 1971 were clearly visi-
ble just across the river from Phnom Penh where they served as an amusing
fireworks display for city people on an afternoon promenade or sipping
drinks on their balconies. )

These were the people — spoiled, pretentious, contentious, status-
conscious at worst, or at best simply soft, intriguing, addicted to city com-
forts and despising peasant life — who faced the communist exodus order on
17 April 1975.7 For them the mere fact of leaving an urban existence with
its foreign orientation and unrealistic expectations to return to the land
would have been a horror, and a horror compounded by their position on

the receiving end of orders issued by illiterate peasants. On the whole they

cared little or nothing for the problems of the ‘other half’ of their country-
men, and would have been quite content to have all the rural rebels bombed
away by American planes. Even having seen the damage done to the country
during the war they seem to exclude it from their thoughts, almost never
mention it unless asked, and then seem astonished that anyone would take
interest in what happened in the rural areas before they arrived there in 1975.

These are the people who, by the nature of the circumstances, have
been the main object of study for most post-1975 research on contemporary

Cambodia, and also until late 1980 the main source of information about

conditions inside the country. Even without conscious misinformation or
exaggeration their portrayal of those five years could not help but be very
one-sided; and the straight reporting of what they wish to say will inevitably
give a distorted, sometimes even false, picture, of little use in understanding
the revolutionary regime or for situating it properly within wider contempo-
rary history. The bias in their stories would already be serious enough if they
were again working at their old occupations, or some other useful task, in
post-DK Cambodia; but it has been compounded by the frustrations and
tensions of life in the refugee camps, and treated with insufficient perspi-
cacity by many investigators, subjects to which we shall now turn.”>
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CHAPTER 2

Problems of
Sources and Evidence

Just before the end of the war in 1975 Saloth Sar was characterized as
one of those who “have now filtered back” among the “Hanoi 6000,” a
group of Khmer Communists who went to Vietnam in 1954 and were sup-
posed to be in a dominant position among the “Khmer Rouge.”!

After the new Democratic Kampuchean (DK) government had been
formed and the names of its leaders made known to the outside world, our
attention was called to “the undoubted strength of the pro-Hanoi faction
within the Khmer Rouge, led by ... Ieng Sary.” A month later it was repeat-
ed that Ieng Sary “leans toward Hanoi,” while Khieu Samphan was “regarded
as pro-Chinese,” and Saloth Sar was believed to have been co-founder of the
Pracheachon, a Cambodian left-wing party made up of former Khmer-Viet-
minh fighters who also led the 1970-75 war.2

Another source qualified Ieng Sary as “one of the leading stooges of
Hanoi,” as was Son Sen, the New Minister of National Defense, while Khieu
Samphan was “a genuine nationalist,” which for the speaker meant somewhat
sympathetic to Sihanouk.

After the reorganization of the DK government in early 1976 we were
told further that Ieng Sary, who had clearly emerged as the strong man, was
“Stalinist,” and that apart from Khieu Samphan, all “who were known to
support close ties with China as a counter-weight against the traditionally
feared and hated Vietnamese, have disappeared from the new list of officials.”

27
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“All key positions are now in the hands of either pro-Hanoi, pro-Moscow, or

. . unknown Cambodians.”? Because of this it was expected that Hanoi’s
role in Cambodia would increase, and that the Russians would-move slowly
into Cambodia on the heels of the Vietnamese.

Now the foregoing assessments did not come from the pens of any of
the madhatters among Southeast Asia watchers, but were published in the
pages of the most credible news magazine specializing in Asia. They are ap-
propriate in introducing this chapter because they illustrate forcefully how
simple prejudice — in this case the idea that Cambodian leftist dissidents
must be somehow working for Vietnam - could totally distort what we now
know to have been the true situation. Of the DK leadership, Ieng Sary and
Saloth Sar-Pol Pot in particular never were pro-Vietnamese, and became in-
creasingly anti-Vietnamese as time went on; while those who were in any
degree at all pro-Vietnamese were mercilessly eliminated between 1975 and
1979.

The pro-Vietnamese categorization of Cambodian leftists in general was
a type of Standard Total View based on incomplete and selective evidence;
and it prefigures what I have chosen to call the refugees’ Standard Total View
(STV) of the Democratic Kampuchea (DK) and Salvation Front (SF)/People’s
Republic of Kampuchea (PRK) regimes which has permeated most of the
writing on Cambodia since 1975.

Refugees — the sources for recent history

Until 1979, when significant numbers of journalists and other foreign-
ers were allowed into Cambodia, and 1980-81, when scholars were permitted
to engage in research within the country, virtually all information about life
in Cambodia after 1975 came from refugees.4

Cambodians began fleeing their country even before the end of the war
on April 17, 1975; and the first refugees proper crossed the Thai border the
next day, mostly in the Aranyaprathet and Pailin areas. The first camp for
them in Aranyaprathet was set up behind an old temple named Wat Koh; and
in those days 5,000 refugees would have been considered a large number. At
that time they were free to leave the camp to move around town, visit ac-
quaintances, and find work if possible.> Most of them were more or less well-
educated town dwellers with contacts, friends or relatives abroad; and most
of them eventually made their way to western countries, principally France
and the United States. By 1977 the total number of Khmer refugees in Thai-
land, including those crossing over in Chanthaburi or Trat and over the north-
ern border to Surin and Buriram, had increased to around 20,000. They were
no longer allowed to move around freely and their condition was more like
that Qf prisoners. Up to January 1979 the total number of Khmer refugees
may have been no more than 3,0-40,0,00.6

With the destruction of DK in early 1979, and the ensuing freedom of
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movement, many people began moving towards the border. Just like the
refugees of the 1975-79 period, this new movement involved mostly former
urban residents, who rejected peasant life and sought a way of life like the
one they had known before April 1975. Unlike the pre-1979 period, these
new ‘refugees’ were not fleeing from political repression which, for them, had
ended with the destruction of the DK administration in their districts. Neither
were they, at least in the first half of 1979 and often longer, fleeing from
starvation, since the stocks of rice left by the old regime together with the
rice in the fields ready for harvest meant that for several months there was
adequate food in most parts of the country for those who stayed in plac‘e.7
The principal reasons for the new movement, without making any
attempt to assess their relative order of importance, were (1) to make contact
with the outside world for the purpose of either going abroad or contact-
ing friends or relatives already abroad; (2) to trade across the border for com-
mercial purposes; (3) to join, or organize, one of the para-military or bandit
groups loosely called Khmer Serei, ‘Free Khmer.’® The first people who tried
to go abroad, .or even to contact relatives, were mostly from the former
wealthy, well-educated groups who had had some earlier experience abroad
and who spoke French or English. In the beginning, when they were few in
number, it was relatively easy, particularly if they still had some currency or

- gold, to cross the border, contact a foreign embassy, and get out to some

other country. They would then write back to family and friends in Cambo-
dia about the ease with which they had managed their departure, thus en--
couraging more and more to attempt it.9 However, as numbers increased, so
did the Thai border controls; and such immediate departure increased in
difficulty until it became virtually impossible.

Many more people came to trade. Most of them had been non-peasants
before 1975 and they considered petty commerce both higher in status and
more remunerative than farming. They came to the border with currency,
jewels, gold, or other valuable objects hidden since 1975, and bought Thai
products to take back and sell at a profit which would finance another jour-
ney. Throughout 1979 there was a constant procession of thousands or tens
of thousands of such people on the roads from Battambang and Siemreap to
the border. Some of them, having started as border traders, then decided to
attempt emigration, which might involve several months waiting at the border
for the right occasion to cross. Others decided to remain at the border as
middlemen in the growing volume of trade, or they joined a Khmer Serei
organization, which- also lived off the trade, and plotted the reconquest of
Cambodia.1? :

The third main group of border arrivals were the ‘politicals,” again
mostly former urbanites or military men who had been victimized by the
DK regime, but who were equally opposed to its successor on grounds of its
socialism and dependence on Vietnam. These people wanted the restoration
of a system like that of Sihanouk’s Sangkum or Lon Nol’s Republic, and to a
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greater or lesser extent they were willing to fight for that goal — in contrast

to people who had given up on Cambodia and thought only of going abroad.

They came to the border to organize their resistance both because it
was impossible to do so within Cambodia and because they hoped for exter-
nal aid, in particular from the United States and Thailand. The extent to
which such aid was forthcoming is impossible to assess, and in fact matters
little for a study of Cambodia in 1979-81,11 since, as it soon became clear,
most of the Khmer Serei were less rather than more eager to fight, could not
in any case agree on leaders or organization, and found their true vocation in
the control of cross-border trade and refugee traffic — activities in which
most of them degenerated to the level of bandits and racketeers.1? '

The places along the border to which these people came were clandes-
tine border crossing points known to smugglers, bandits, and various ‘politi-
cals’ long before 1979, or even 1975, The original Khmer Serei had operated
along this border in the 1950s and ’60s; and before them Issaraks had used
the same forest clearings and border trails, in the 1940s as now hoping for
Thai aid against the, then French, government in Phnom Pcnh.13 After 1975
there was still a lively cross-border trade between Thai merchants and repre-
sentatives of the new Cambodian authorities, which on one occasion led to a
murderous incident very close to the location of the present border agglomer-
ations;“' one of the 1979 Khmer Serei leaders was reported to have been a
teak smugglér based at Phnom Malai throughout the DK period;!3 and the
first people who came in 1979 knew, or could easily find out, the best border
points for their purposes.

Three of these border points gradually turned into large camps which
still existed throughout 1980. All three are opposite Thai villages which, for
outsiders, have given their names to the refugee agglomerations. The first, in
terms of its initial importance in 1979, is opposite the village of Non Mak
Mun. Five miles to the north is the ‘new camp,” opposite the village of Nong
Samet; and three miles to the south near the village of the same name is the
Nong Chan camp.

By June 1979 there were well over 40,000 people massed along the
border north of Aranyaprathet either within, or outside, the three camps,
and increasing numbers of them were hoping to cross into Thailand and pro-
ceed onwards to other countries. Unlike the first few hundred who had earlier
succeeded in such plans, there was no possibility of the new large numbers
being accepted abroad. The Thai, furthermore, did not consider people who
came over after January 7, 1979, the date the Salvation Front (SF)-Vietnam-
ese forces captured Phnom Penh, as genuine refugees. They were “displaced
persons’ on the Cambodian side of the border, and ‘illegal immigrants’ on the
Thai side. People nevertheless kept coming, and the Thai professed to fear
that they might be stuck for their support and embarrassed or threatened by
their politics. Not much international attention had been directed to these
refugees, for humanitarian concern with Cambodia was still' concentrated on
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events within the country and the alleged parlous state of the people there.
The Thai therefore decided on drastic measures to call international attention
to the situation and to discourage the people grouped along the border from
attempting to become refugees in Thailand.

In the third week of June about 42,000 of them were loaded onto
buses on the Thai side and taken on a long journey northward around the
border between the two countries to a point south of Srisaket and forced
down narrow mountain +trails-in the Preah Vihear area, sometimes across’
minefields, back into Cambodia. Perhaps thousands died.1¢ Some of the sur-
vivors were indeed discouraged and decided to make their peace with the new
government. Many others, perhaps most, drifted back to the border and
could be found again in 1980-81 in all the refugee camps. ’

The Thai move was effective in drawing attention to the problem.
There was a wave of international protest and some pressure was exerted on
the Thai to institute more humane policies.17 Their action, if planned as a
measure to rid themselves of the pseudo-refugee problem at the border,
proved in the end to have been counterproductive. It called attention ta the
Khmer massed along the border north of Aranyaprathet, and eventually re-
sulted in programs which would attract even more: of them, bringing them
across the border semi-permanently. It is arguable that had the Thai left those
people alone, tolerating the trading which had supported most of them, and
taking severe action only against the few who might have tried to force their
way into Thailand, the stated goal of discouraging the refugee exodus might
have been more readily achieved.

It was suggested at the time that another 30,000 Khmer in Chanthaburi
and Trat provinces might get the same treatment, but they were DK forces,
and the different treatment accorded the two groups is perhaps a clue to cer-
tain unexpressed goals of Thai policy. One Thai official was quoted to the
effect that although the world was accusing the Thai of lack of humanitarian
feeling, “when we help them, they say we’re not neutral,” Bangkok is accused
of helping Pol Pot “merely because refugees had been permitted to enter.”18
This disingenuous explanation ignored the differences between the two
groups. Those sent back were all anti-DK as everyone well knew; whereas
those whose asylum might conceivably help DK were given special treatment.

" The enforced return to Cambodia of the 42,000 coincided with in-
creasing discussion of conditions within Cambodia and the need for aid to all
Cambodians whether on the border or in the interior. There were increasing
numbers of reports of countrywide starvation and epidemics. The U.S. State
Department, whose analysts had not considered that Cambodia was in a crisis,
was pressured by “American charities and their own embassy staff in Bang-
kok” to change their views, even though they had “serious second thoughts
about the [embassy’s] data.”!® The genesis of this change in U.S. attitude is
interesting in view of later information suggesting the crisis was exaggerated.
Whatever the true situation, one of the stumbling blocks to increased aid was
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the question of whether it should be delivered directly to Phnom Penh or
pushed across the Thai border. Another, related to the first, was the question
of aiding both sides. In general the U.S. and Thai favored a cross-border
operation with no overt political discrimination; and the Swedes were also
pressing to send aid across the northern border to the 42,000 believed strand-
ed in northern Cambodia.2% Phnom Penh insisted that all aid should go
through its hands and none to the DK remnants near the border. In the end
aid went both to Phnom Penh, by plane or through the port of Kompong
Som, and across the border north and south of Aranyaprathet, where the
Thai continued to supply the DK remnants as they had done in the past,21
and where the international and voluntary organizations gave help both to
the DK groups and to the anti-Communist Khmer Serei camps from which
food was then transported inland to the northwestern provinces.

While attention had been fixed primarily on conditions within Cam-

bodia and on the anti-Communist refugees north of Aranyaprathet, an

entirely different group of people were slowly proceeding toward the border
and their appearance, beginning in September 1979, was to be the catalyst
for a new system of refugee organization.

When the SF/Vietnamese forces invaded Cambodia in early 1979 and
defeat for the DK regime was imminent, most of the DK military and politi-
cal forces, together with as many ordinary people as they could gather up,
withdrew gradually from the towns and rice plains into the forests and
mountains of western and northwestern Cambodia. There, for as long as
seven months for some, they moved slowly away from the attacking Viet-
namese toward the Thai border, through inhospitable, malaria-ridden coun-
try, with dwindling food supplies, no medicine, and wracked by internal ten-
sions left over from the factional disputes and purges of the Pol Pot years.22

By the time they erupted onto the Thai border — not at the points
discussed above, but to the south of Aranyaprathet — they were in the pitiful
condition shown to the world by the press in September and October 1979,
dying by the scores from illness and hunger. Other groups of these DK refu-
gees also crossed into the southeast in Chanthaburi and Trat where there had
already been a large border concentration at Ban Laem as early as July, but
the groups which attracted the most attention were those who came out
about 20 km south of Aranyaprathet. The pity their condition aroused
caused people to forget or ignore their leaders’ political past, and emergency
aid was rushed in from all quarters.?3

In mid-September Thai officials led by Air Marshal Siddhi Savetsila,
then Secretary-General of the National Security Council, visited the border
where the new exodus was taking place and announced that 60,000 people
were massing there, and moving closer to escape Vietnamese pressure. In
early October they crossed. Under this pressure Thai policy gradually changed.
They accepted that aid must be given, but they could not do it alone. Help
was requested from Western countries and international agencies on condition

e
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that aid going through Thailand must be non-political and must go to all
sides of the Cambodian conflict.?*

By the end of October Prime Minister Kriangsak had announced an
open door policy “allowing all Khmer refugees who wished to come to Thai-
land to do s0.”25 This was not meant to be a change of strategy; “there must
be some people alive in order to oppose the Vietnamese in Kampuchea . . . it
will just take longer,” meaning apparently longer than the earlier tactic of
forcing everyone back into the country as soon as they reached the border.

This statement at least demonstrated that any observer who had seen
covert objectives, beyond concerns for Thai security, in earlier Thai policy
toward the refugees, was not entirely wrong. The covert objective was now
clearly to use the refugee situation to influence future political development
within Cambodia.

About 30,000 of the newly arrived DK refugees were settled in a camp
near the town of Sakeo, about 50 km from the border,26 and another large
group established itself on and around the fortified base of Phnom Malai, an
old Khmer Serei hideout just inside the Cambodian border about 20 km
south of Aranyaprathet. Still a third group of these DK remnants set up a
base at Phnom Chhat, inside Cambodia north of Nong Samet, and in the
southeast the camps of Kamphut and Mairud welcomed those who crossed
over in that region. \

The attention given by the press to these DK refugees had several im- '
portant effects: (1) international attention was directed to the Cambodian
refugees and relief efforts were intensified; (2) the Thai government reversed
its policy and agreed to open its borders and establish ‘holding centers’ to
care for the refugees until such time as they could either return home or go

- on to ‘third countries’; (3) a belief grew both abroad and in Thailand that

all Cambodian refugees were in the same- pitiful shape and that they were
fleeing starvation at home; and (4) this supposed evidence of administrative
failure served as propaganda ammunition against the SF regime and the
Vietnamese efforts to support it. '

Some hints of the different situation did come through from a close
reading of a journal like Far Eastern Economic Review (FEER), which re-
ported accurately that north of Aranyaprathet conditions were different. At
the Nong Samet camp, whose estimated population of 80,000 was believed
to be the largest concentration of Cambodians in the world, “most people
[were] in relatively good health” - in fact there were attempts to conceal
the quantities of food in the camp — and a brisk trade across the border into
Cambodia was observed.?’ )

The journalists nevertheless believed things were changing. Newly ar-
rived refugees reported tighter travel restrictions, and three of them had
stories of Vietnamese firing on people to keep them from reaching the
border.?8 Thus the reports of increasing starvation within Cambodia and the
new rumors of Vietnamese brutality served to convince outside observers
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that the refugee exodus would increase at all points and that they would all

be in increasingly poor physical condition. It should have been recognized as -

significant though — and the significance increases in the light of what hap-
pened a bit later, in November-December — that even when Prime Minister
Kriangsak opened the door in October, there was no large-scale movement of
the 80,000 people at Nong Samet or the other thousands in Mak Mun and
Nong Chan, to take advantage of it.

With the door open and a massive exodus expected, some place had to
be prepared to receive them. There was already a plan for one huge holding
center for 200-300,000 at Mairud in Trat province and four to five smaller
centers elsewhere. Then, in late October or early November it was decided to
build the large center at Khao I Dang (KID) and leave Mairud as one of the
smaller camps.29 The latter was in the area of the first large exodus of DK
refugees and the originally planned giant camp would have served as a relief
and rehabilitation center for them; but by September or October it was clear
that the main DK operations were going to be farther north near Aranya-
prathet.3°

More important, probably, was a belief that vast numbers of new refu-
gees were being pushed out of the northwest by famine within Cambodia and
Vietnamese harassment. The FEER wrote on November 16, 1979 that
180,000 people had already crossed the border north of Aranyaprathet and
cited diplomatic sources as placing another 130-150,000 within striking dis-
tance. It added that within the next two months Thailand could get up to
750,000 people. By November 30, the estimate was 600,000 on the border,

-meaning that 14% of Cambodia’s estimated 4 million population was either

in Thailand or ready to enter. By December 7, as the “plight of the Khmers
daily grows more desperate,” “the survival of the Khmer race [might] depend
on the exodus into Thailand”; and it was foreseen that in the coming months
a million Khmer, or up to a quarter of the estimated population, could be
under Thai control.3! In these circumstances the Thai, who would not con-
sider accepting 40,000 in June, now agreed to take several hundred thousand;
and certain more astute observers did not fail to note the political advantages
which might thereby accrue to Bangkok from the effective control of such a
large part of the total Cambodian population.

As a result of the new developments and predictions, the Thai Supreme
Command chose Khao I Dang as the site for:the new major holding center
and gave the United Nations High Commission for Refugees (UNHCR) the
green light to set it up in the expectation that 300,000 or so miserable Khmer
would rush across to settle there; and on November 21, 1979 the first small
team of UNHCR officials waited on the bleak landscape for the buses and
trucks sent out to bring the people in.32 _ '

To their astonishment, in the first week after the opening of KID, only
28,000 people took the opportunity to enter; and they were in fairly good
condition. Many of them had cash or gold and hoped to set up business in the
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new campsite. In the second and third weeks 16,500 and 29,800 respectively
arrived and then the numbers dropped to under 4,000 for each of the follow-
ing three weeks. In the seventh week, the first week of January 1980, the
total jumped again to just over 21,000, because of fighting among Khmer
Serei factions in the border camps; but immediately afterward fell to 2,800
for the eighth week, under 2,000 in the ninth week, and then fewer than
1,000 per week. Often half the vehicles sent out to transport the refugees
returned empty. On January 24, 1980, when the total population was about
111,000, just over a third of what had been expected, Thai authorities or-
dered KID closed to further entry.33

It appeared that the UNHCR might have been misled. The number of
people prepared to become refugees was only a fraction of that estimated and
most of them were hardly in circumstances justifying refugee treatment. In-
deed many of those who did come required persuasion, or they came to KID,
like the mountain climber, “because it was there.” Otherwise they would
have continued to trade between the border and the interior, and as condi-
tions at home improved, gradually returned.3*

Although KID was closed in January 1980 that was not the end of it.
Once created, a place where people could sit indefinitely in security, on
welfare, it inevitably became a magnet drawing more people out of Cambo-
dia. The magnet effect was operative because the Thai guards could be bribed
to let new people in at night; and the population thus rose from 111,000.in
January 1980 to 136,000 in July. The increase represented almost entirely
middle-class former town dwellers whose goal was resettlement in another
country. They were also often people possessing skills needed within Cam-
bodia, who had been offered suitable employment by the new regime, and
who would not have attempted to leave if a place like KID did not exist. The
magnet was kept charged in various ways. Messages could easily be sent back
to Cambodia via the same underground routes which brought out clandestine
new arrivals, and they told friends and relatives of the good deal at KID. The
Voice of America kept up its news of Cambodians finding freedom across the
border. Some people even left KID clandestinely and went all the way back
to Phnom Penh to lead out relatives who were too timid, or who lacked funds
to make the trip alone. All of this traffic was facilitated by the nearly abso-
lute freedom of movement permitted by the new Cambodian authorities.35

These refugee camps, and their inhabitants, were the sources for most
of the information in the following chapters, and also for most information
about Cambodia which has been published elsewhere about the DK period.
The bias of nearly all such people is against both the DK and SF/PRK govern-
ments, and thus any information tending to show either one in a favorable
light is contrary to the preconceptions and intentions of those informants.
If there is a conscious distortion in their testimony, it is nearly always in a
negative sense.

That is particularly true of the bourgeois refugees who formed the
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majority of the population at KID and Nong Samet. They were the most dis-
favored group in DK and quite reasonably view that regime with distaste.
Their opposition to the PRK stems from prejudice against both socialism and
Vietnam; and their information about the new Cambodian government is also
conditioned by the circumstance that having left the country as refugees and
rejected the employment offered to them in 1979-80, they can no longer go
back, and their only future lies in resettlement abroad.’®

As for the inhabitants of the Sakeo camp, mainly DK cadres, military,
or base peasants, most of them who remained in mid-1980 had become dis-
illusioned with that regime, and they also had little to say in its favor, al-
though their experiences had been quite different from the lives of the KID
refugees. The really hard-core DK supporters who had been at Sakeo returned
to Cambodia in June 1980 before I had met any of them, but a number of
interviews collected by Stephen Heder have been incorporated here.3” Both
types of people at Sakeo were unsympathetic to the PRK, and for at least
one of the same reasons as the KID refugees, dislike of the Vietnamese. )

There are thus inherent biases in the material used for this study, but
they are the same biases as have affected most other work on contemporary
Cambodia, and the differences which may appear here will therefore be due
to the way in which I have used the material rather than to the material itself.

The Standard Total View (STV) )

According to the STV, DK tried to exterminate all those who during
the Sihanouk and Lon Nol periods had served in the military or had held
civilian administrative posts, were otherwise urban elite, and all other ‘intel-
lectuals,” meaning all who had more than basic primary schooling, in particu-
lar doctors, teachers, technicians; and the members of these groups who sur-
vived only did so by concealing their identities between April 17, 1975 and
early 1979, or whatever earlier date they managed to escape from Cambodia.

In addition to direct extermination of such class enemies, the STV
holds that the regime deliberately abolished schooling, medical care, and
religion; sought to destroy the family, in particular by tearing children from
parents; and, through deliberate efforts to deprive the population of an ade-
quate diet, caused the deaths of large numbers of those people who escaped
the extermination dragnet. Ethnic minorities, in particular the Moslem
Chams, are supposed to have been special extermination targets; and there
have been statements to the effect that attractive women were in danger
simply by virtue of their physical qualities. An extreme STV held by some
refugees asserts that the ultimate purpose of the extermination and starvation
policies was to eliminate most Cambodians so that the country could be
settled by Chinese. Earlier on, as illustrated by the FEER articles cited above,
the sellout was supposed to have been to Vietnam too, but by 1977 at least
DK had decisively given the lie to that canard. The policies imputed to the




00838913

-]

Problems of Sources and Evidence 37

new DK government, according to the STV, were perverse and had no rational
basis in either economic or political necessity; and the people who were the
chief victims, the former town dwellers, being tired of the warin 1975, wel-
comed the revolutionary victory, and would have cooperated willingly in
efforts to restore and redevelop the country.

The basic STV also holds that the policies outlined above were invariant
as to time or place; the scenario was true everywhere, all the time, between
April 1975 and January 1979. The explanation offered for such aberrant
policies is ‘Communism,” or by the more sophisticated, ‘Maoism,’ in particular
its Cultural Revolution.?®

The first compilations giving currency to such views were the books of
Ponchaud and Barron/Paul; and journalistic accounts during the two years
following their publication repeated that “all intellectuals,” -or “all doctors,”
or “all former military” had been killed, or that 1 million Khmer died in the
first year, or that Cambodian women had become infertile and the birthrate
was not sufficient to replenish the population.

There is also an STV on the PRK regime. While acknowledging that the
Vietnamese intervention put an end to the flagrant brutalities of the DK per-
iod and thereby saved the lives of many who would have been executed or
worked to death, it holds that in a more subtle way the new Phnom Penh
authorities may be as dangerous as their predecessors, and at its most extreme
asserts living conditions have declined absolutely since January 1979 and
that the Khmer now are in danger of disappearing as a race.3?

The STV for 1979-81, while admitting that mass executions had not
occurred, still asserted that the Vietnamese wished to destroy the surviving
Khmer intellectuals, and if they had not yet started killing them, they soon
would. It was alleged that Khmer intellectuals and administrators were sent
for study and training to Vietnam, from which they never returned, that
others simply disappear, or are arrested and imprisoned for undisclosed rea-
sons. The Vietnamese were further accused of destroying Cambodia by taking
away the rice which was available in early 1979, misappropriating rice seed,
preventing people from harvesting, holding up distribution of foreign aid, and
attempting to massacre those who came to the Thai border to receive such
aid. 40

In the administration Vietnamese are supposed to occupy all posts of
authority with the Khmer serving only as flunkies. Study of Vietnamese lan-
guage is “forced” into the school syllabus, and provincial school administra-
tion tied to a Vietnamese ‘sister province,” rather than the national Ministry
of Education, in such a way that, so the story goes, even selection of new
teachers, CL}rricula and school books is controlled by distant Vietnamese
authorities.*!

The goal of such alleged Vietnamese policies is to make Cambodia a
mere province of Vietnam with the Khmer as second class inhabitants, since
the destruction and absorption of Cambodia, according to these sources, has
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always been a principal objective of Vietnamese policy in Indochina.
This second STV has also found its supporters in the western press, and

among them we find again Ponchaud and Anthony Paul. In a way this repre--

sents consistency on Ponchaud’s part, since in his earlier work he tried to find
a Vietnamese devil behind DK actions, which then proved illusory.42

The STV has permeated public consciousness to such an extent that it
has become conventional wisdom and may be forced on evidence which does
not support it. :

In the summer of 1980 the Associated Press Bangkok correspondent
Denis Gray wrote of a youngCambodian girl drawing a peaceful scene of
fields and peasants, something which, he asserted, she had never seen. Gray
was referring to a drawing made by a Cambodian refugee child at the Khao
I Dang Camp. Two large collections of drawings by such refugee children
were assembled, and both have been taken as irrefutable evidence of the
total horror of the Communist DK regime and the damage which may have
been done to the children’s minds by what they had witnessed.

The first of these collections was organized by UNESCO in April 1980
in two refugee camps, Khao I Dang and Sakeo, in the form of a contest. Over
five hundred children responded. In KID all children were invited to enter
drawings. This produced 400. Then their teachers chose the best 200 and
told the artists to do another. From this second group about 70 were selected
and the artists were told to produce new drawings to be sent to the contest
judges. Altogether 106 drawings were selected by teachers in the two camps
for judging, and prizes were awarded to 29 drawings, 26 of which were even-
tually published in a bocklet, Kampuchean Chronicles.*3

The organizers of the contest did not set any theme or issue any guide-
lines, and the compilers of the booklet felt that the drawings “do not carry
a specific message.” In spite of that the world’s press understood those draw-
ings as a collection of horror portraits and as a total condemnation of the
DK period.44 Likewise, the principal of the KID school, a refugee teacher,
declared at the prize-giving ceremony that about 70% of the drawings de-
picted Communist horrors, which proved the evil of the DK regime and the
deleterious effect on the children’s psychology. -

As far as I was able to determine, no one had ever taken an interest in
examining precisely what the drawings really did show. I arrived at Khao I
Dang too late to see even the last selection of 70 pictures, let alone the earlier
sets, but one foreign relief agency worker who had, estimated that no more
than 10% of the earlier sets showed acts of violence. What could, however,
be seen at the school in May were many large technically well-done portrayals
of mass executions and other horrors drawn by the school art teachers, and
representing scenes which they admittedly had not all witnessed but which
were composites of events reported by various people, or inferences from
circumstances which had been brought to their attention. Whatever the chil-
dren really saw and experienced, there was at least subtle encouragement by

L3
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the school staff to draw scenes of Communist violence. For the staff, what-
ever the intention of UNESCO, the children’s drawing contest was a perfect
occasion to dramatize their own view of the years 1975-79.

Without the cooperation of the foreign press, however, the propaganda
effort might have misfired, for it is true that the drawings as a whole “do not
carry a specific thessage.” Of the 26 in Kampuchean Chronicles, only five
show scenes of Communist violence. One other is a violent fantasy in which
the identities of the actors are unclear; and the young artist stated that he

would “be happy to go back [to Cambodia] because I'll be able to see my

parents.” Two other children, one of whom drew a prosperous scene of the
collection of palm juice and the preparation therefrom of sugar, and one
whose picture was not published, reported the death of family members,
eithér by violence or hunger. There are also several other non-violent scenes
depicting people who are very thin and tired. On the other hand five draw-
ings are of perfectly normal, healthy peasant life, two are of Khao I Dang
Camp, and two are fantasies of unclear meaning. Four more of the drawings
depict a file of people, often very thin, proceeding on foot through the forest,
and it would have been worthwhile asking the children what they had in
mind. In any case they do not portray the exodus from the towns in April
1975 or the ‘second exodus’ later that year.45

There are two likely possibilities — either the overnight trek from the
border to Khao I Dang or the often months-long emigration of those who
followed or were driven by the DK forces into the forests after the Vietnam-
ese invasion of 1979. One of the drawings is clearly the latter, for the boy
who drew it said that his family, friends and neighbors had left the village
together and “for seven months we walked through the forest,” where a
younger brother and sister died. As for life back home, before 1979, he
reported that his happiest memory was “catching fish in the sea,” for “here
in the camp we don’t eat fish very often . . . [and] when we do, it comes in
a tin,” something he found ridiculous. The artist of a similar scene mentioned
that for three years he had not gone to school, but “at first I was happy . ..
I played and swam all day.” And the scene on the back cover of the booklet,.
because of the number of people involved, almost certainly represents the
1979 DK flight from the Vietnamese.*0 _

Other interesting comments by the children were, “I don’t get enough
to eat here . . . but I didn’t get enough to eat in Kampuchea either. But there
all of us ate together — my father, mother, sister and brother . . . [and] now
I have to eat alone or with other children,” the reason for which is not ex-
plained. Or the remark by one of the boys who drew a normal field scene,
“I was both happy and sad to leave the village . . . happy because I could get
away from a very hard life, . . . sad because I had to leave the house where I
was born.” And finally the boy who reported that, “after we left our village
we reached Seam Reap [sic] and the temples of Angkor Wat [where] we
stayed . . . for a long, long time . .. [and] cleaned the temples [which] were
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covered with moss.”%’

~ This collection of drawings, then, does not have a ‘specific message.’
Like most evidence from Cambodia it has several, only one of which has been

“noted in the presentation to the outside world.

The second collection of children’s drawings resulted from a free draw-
ing class organized at the request of Jack Reynolds of NBC, who wanted to
do a television film on the children of Khao I Dang. When they were finished
Reynolds collected just over 100 drawings to take with him for further study
in preparing his program, on which he repeated that DK stood condemned
by the children’s testimony, and that the peaceful scenes in the collection
must represent memories of the pre-1975 period."’8 .

Careful tally of 102 of those drawings which I was able to examine,
however, reveals that only 22 show scenes of violence at all. One of those, in
fact one of the artistically more imaginative, represents a refugee run down
and killed by a truck in Khao I Dang; two of them seem to-be from the
Khmer Serei border camps; and one shows in the lower left-hand corer two
groups of soldiers in combat against a background of lush fields, well-filled
coconut trees, and a cheerful-looking peasant house. When I asked the young
artist what the scene represented, she pointed out that DK soldiers were de-
fending the farm against invading Vietnamese — so much for the jdea that all
scenes of prosperous peasant life are pre war memories, or that all memories
of violence are of DX atrocities.

This leaves eighteen of 102 pictures, which really do show DK harsh-
ness, including murder and torture, against the population; and even this
group includes two scenes of what would have been normal field labor for
real peasants, but where the clear presence of armed guards conveys the idea
of forced labor by the ‘new’ people.

Of the eighty remaining drawings thirty-eight are pictures of the refugee
camp or entirely unrealistic, but non-violent, fantasies; and five show people
moving through the forest from a Khmer Serei camp, such as Nong Samet, to
Khao I Dang.49 The last group of thirty-seven, twice the number of Commu-
nist-oppression: scenes, are pictures of peaceful peasant life or lush fields, the
type of scene which Gray imagined they had never seen and which Reynolds
considered to be pre-DK memories.

Now, without interrogating each child — which was not done — it is
impossible to know for certain what the full intention of any drawing was;
or to say with absolute certainty that none of the pictures represent pre-war
scenes. But since in all of the identifiable drawings it is clear that more recent
memories were uppermost — no child, for example, drew the exodus from the
towns in 1975, a large number drew scenes of camp life; and very many,
even when drawing farming scenes within Cambodia, put the mountain of
Khao I Dang in the background — it is likely that those peaceful country
scenes also represented the life they had lived between 1975 and 1979. In
some of the peaceful drawings there are even certain clues of recent vintage,
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such as cement-lined irrigation canals in the fields and a rice-transplanting
scene in which people are wearing the typical krama, the red and white
checked scarf-sarong-headcloth which DK adopted as a sort of uniform
insignia.50

Even this is not the whole story. I evoked above the possibility that for
the first drawing contest the pupils might have been primed, in other words
their evidence contaminated by later influences; and there seemed to be one
clear case of this among the drawings done for Jack Reynolds, Among the
102 pupils were three — unfortunately only three — of the UNESCO prize-
winners. One of them had on that earlier occasion presented a brilliantly
colored Buddha image beneath a tree in the open countryside, possibly a
work of pure artistic imagination since that type of image would almost
never have been seen in a similar situation. For Reynolds, however, the boy
drew a standard Communist murder scene. When I questioned him about it
he said it was really something he had witnessgd, but the victim was a stran-
ger, one of the “easterners brought over and kiiled in 1978, a matter of
some interest in itself.>! The evidence of his first drawing, though, shows
that left to his own artistic interests he does not tend to recall and reproduce
violence, and that some of these children have either caught on to what for-
eigners want to see, or the political requirements of refugee life may be
recalling to their minds violence they had forgotten, or infusing them with
scenes of violence they had never known.

Specific evidence of this is not lacking. Between May and September
1980 the adult artists of Khao I Dang kept turning out, for sale to the inter-
national aid personnel or visitors, atrocity scenes increasingly grotesque in
detail and thus increasingly the result of imaginative reconstruction rather
than what they had experienced — precisely the same sort of situation as
reported by Mannoni in his study of the psychology of another situation of
revolutionary violence.52 Such adult ‘artistic’ work cannot help but influence
whatever is reproduced by the children; and such influences probably account
for the standardization of some of the children’s scenes of violence, including
certain details which were seldom, if ever, observed. Thus armed cadres are
shown overseeing or abusing the ‘new’ people at work; but refugee testimony
concurs that the cadres or base people who led work groups were rarely
armed and were often real peasants who worked alongside the ‘new’ people.
Another bogus theme is in pictures of monks being defrocked en masse to
the accompaniment of kicks and punches, something which if it happened at
all was extremely rare.>3

Any study of a social or historical situation has to begin with a descrip-
tion and evaluation of the sources; and the foregoing discussion of the refugee
children’s drawings is in order to illustrate how preconceived notions of out-
siders may be imposed on the evidence, or, equally serious, how sources may
be coached, or influenced by their environment to produce information
different from what they might have offered spontaneously.
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The presence of this second difficulty in Cambodian refugee informa-
tion is well known. Charles Twining, one of the U.S, Foreign Service officers
specializing in Cambodia, offered the opinion that “you must talk to a refu-
gee as soon as he comes out for the story may become exaggerated”;54 and
another foreign service expert told me that for his own personal assessment
of refugee information he discounts everything that is not first hand, that is,
which the informant has not seen or experienced him or herself.

Less attention has been given to the bias of the reporter or researcher;
and this gets us into a very complex area. Even though investigations of post-
1975 Cambodia have generally been motivated by anything but intellectual
objectivity, the very nature of the Cambodian question is such that a certain
amount of subjective value judgment seems inevitable. At the very least each
observer has certain views about what measures are permissible in order to
effect social change and necessary to cope with political and social crises; and
these views will inevitably color interpretations of even the most objective
facts. So let no one imagine that any writer on contemporary Cambodia is
merely searching for objective historical truth in the manner of one writing,
say, about twelfth century Angkor. No even approximately adequate history
of modern Cambodia has ever been produced. All of us have certain precon-
ceptions — sometimes well-researched and thought out — about the situation
before 1975 and about what should have happened following the defeat of
the Lon Nbl regime; and we are all in a way hoping to discover information
to justify those — in most cases erroneous — preconceptions. For, as far as I
know, everyone who thought seriously about Cambodia between 1970 and
1975 failed in one way or another to foresee what subsequently happened.
Possibly the only exception would be those who were convinced that the
victors, being ‘Communist,” were bound to do horrible things — a prediction
which, even to the extent that it proved correct, was for the wrong reasons
and thus of no value in serious study of the phenomena.55

Neither should a writer, or reader, accept that a simple, unqualified
claim to interest in the welfare of the people is sufficient to justify any inter-
pretation, for given the clear and deep divisions among Cambodians manifest
since 1970 at the latest, any such stance involves implicit assumptions about
who the real people are and which of them deserve most sympathy.

For example, in a hypothetical case in which a given population was
split into two numerically equal halves going at each other with murderous
intent, the outsider interested .only in popular welfare would have no objec-
tive or moral reasons for preferring one side over the other or for assigning
virtue or blame.

’ The Cambodian situation very nearly approaches this hypothetical
situation — probably more closely than any other real case we are likely to
see. If it is true that 2.5-3.5 million permanent and temporary urbanites were
displaced to the countryside as ‘new’ people in April 1975, the figure repre-
sents close to half the total population, who were considered as potential or

»




00838919

Problems of Sources and Evidence 43

actual enemies by the other half. This dichotomy, whatever the precise nu-
merical relationship, had been apparent throughout the war of 1970-75.
Whatever else the conflict was, it was also, if not first of all, a war between

~ town and countryside in which the town’s battle was increasingly for the sole

purpose of preserving its privileges while the rural areas suffered.”®

The argument here, then, is that in 1975 Cambodia was divided into
two numerically comparable camps, one of which had suffered immeasurably
more than the other for five years, but nevertheless having won -would domi-
nate the other for the next four years, inflicting equal or greater damage on
it, partly due to objective circumstances and partly out of revenge.

For the foreign observer or scholar now trying to study Cambodia,
neither of the two factions merits-an @ priori ascription of moral superiority,
and preferences for one or the other cannot be justified on any grounds of
sympathy for the ‘people’ — unless, what has not usually been done in the
West, one sides with the rural camp on the grounds that it had more people
in 1975 and that they had already suffered more before and during the war.
This is not, however, the argument that I intend to emphasize here.

Any account which, from the vantage point of the present and assum-
ing the information presented to be factual, casts blame on one camp while
showing sympathy for the other must be based, not on any objective assess-
ment of their works, but on preconceptions of the observer about the proper
organization of society or the inherent morality-of particular points of view.
Furthermore, and 1 shall argue this in more detail, the same is true of any
account written between 1975 and 1979, since the various sources of infor-
mation were so contradictory and inconclusive. Even the appearance of hun-
dreds or thousands of refugees who had undoubtedly suffered and who were
nearly all from the urban sector, did not justify condemnation of the other
side as a system, particularly during 1975-76 when there were also impressive,
but usually neglected, witnesses who had no horror stories to tell at all.
Neither, at least by late 1975, could true believers in the revolution offer a
convincing picture of the Cambodian regime as essentially humane and
benign; and their arguments, as much as those which decried the ordeal of
Cambodia’s townspeople, depended on ideology as much as on fact.

The ideological bias, and selection of information to fit that bias —
assuming for the present that the information was true — is most clearly
revealed in the two works which have had the widest currency: Barron’s and
Paul’s Murder of a Gentle Land and Ponchaud’s Cambodia Year Zero.' ‘

The bias and selectivity are most obvious in Barron and Paul (B/P); and
their work itself, if judged by the statistical information it offers, seems to
have been conceived as a propaganda effort from the start.>8

In their assessment of the qualities of the Cambodian Communist
leadership they remark, “all had spent roughly half their adult lives abroad or
in the jungles isolated from the daily realities of their country,” thus implying
that for B/P the only Cambodian realities were the urban, not the peasant




00838920

44 CAMBODIA

communities (as well as jungles) of Takeo, Kampot, Kompong Cham, where
the Communist leadership spent the 1960s and early 1970s.°° And as for
B/P’s urban realities, their own exotic, never-never description of Phnom
Penh and the countryside also comes in part from the reminiscences of peo-
ple who “had spent half their adult life abroad” and some of whom had seen
little of the country since the early 1960s.50 This exotic paradise was what
foreigners tended to see in the early 1960s, but only the most obtuse could
have failed to realize the harsher realities coming to the surface after 1965.

But B/P no doubt preferred to rely on the comfortable memories of
their informants whose elite status they take pains to stress: Ung Soc Choe,
“son of a wealthy family,” “Banker Siv Hou,” ‘Pin-Sam Phon, supervisor of
the city waterworks,” ‘““a prosperous pharmacist, Kyheng Savang,” “a wealthy
architect, Ly Bun Heng.” Even when their informants are not stated to be
wealthy, the majority of them seem to be from elite groups (students, a Noro-
dom, an intelligence officer); and in spite of B/P’s statement that “people
from the lower socioeconomic strata always composed the majority of refu-
gees,” which was in fact never true, one sees little sign of B/P taking any
interest in them or their evidence.5!

The truth of the stories given to B/P by their informants is not the most
serious issue, although there could well be some exaggeration, or even un-
truth. There is no doubt that such things happened. The more important
question about their book is the extent to which those stories were represen-
tative, both as to the type of experiences of the population as a whole, and
of the conditions of Cambodia in 1975. Their extremely unrepresentative
character can only have been a deliberate choice on the part of the authors,
since even if people of lower strata were in a minority, some could have been
found.

Barron and Paul could also have been more careful in examining reports
of things their informants had not directly experienced, since some of them
were Iumors, now disproved, not facts. Thus the Communists, we now know,
did not ransack and destroy all libraries, all printed matter, the Royal Palace,
flinging documents into the streets or “tens . . . perhaps hundreds of thou-
sands of books . .. into the Mekong”; and the route taken by one of their
informants, Ly Bun Heng, shows that he could not possibly have seen what
was happening at any of those places.62 From what we know of DK morality,
the forced marriage of city girls with Communist soldiers appears as certainly

untrue, the result of an unchecked rumor, which it seems that Ly Bun Heng, -

with his good relations to the village chief, could have verified, and which
had apparently not spread to the “three desirable daughters” of the man

whom Ly had to persuade to join him in ﬂight.63 A third story which we .

now know to be untrue, and which at some point in the chain of transmission
to B/P involved an outright lie, was of the new wave of executions ordered in
October 1975 and picked up by the “radic monitors of several nations.” The
actual order then issued, and which presumably the monitors did pick up, was
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in fact to stop executions at local initiative. B/P’s quaint footnote on this is:
“This information was obtained confidentially from three different foreign
intelligence agencies” (and missed by the CIA?).64

A final example of B/P’s biased reporting concerns the exodus from
Phnom Penh to the south in April 1975, and the ‘second exodus’ from the
south to the northwest. The story of the first is presented through the expe-
riences of an impressionable, pampered 14-year-old girl of a wealthy family,

LR Y

- who had apparently never known any life but “a splendid white villa,” *“a

cultured home,” and “education at the French Lycee Descartes,” even in
1974-75 when much of Phnom Penh was already living in misery and close
to starvation, In general, people of less sheltered background, even real
Phnom Penh urbanites, do not remember that southward move as a time of
horror .9

Of course, such bias is only to be expeéted from the Reader’s Digest,
whose sympathy for the tribulations of established elites faced with popular
effervescence is well known.

Ponchaud, however, is a different matter. He claims to be of peasant
origin and to have a long-standing sympathy for the peasants of Cambodia,®6
and he might argue that his critique of the DK regime was based on its un-
pleasant consequences for the Cambodian peasantry as well as for the towns-
people. His cited witnesses, though, like B/P’s, are overwhelmingly urban,
and their testimony complains, not of damage to peasant life and agriculture,
but of their own sufferings inflicted by a vengeful peasantry — only one of
them was able to note that the peasants had suffered badly from the war, in
particular bombing.67 Ponchaud’s bias, even if unconscious, is shown by the
circumstance that — unlike B/P — he was well aware of all that was happening
in Cambodia from 1970 and even before, yet he chose to write his book; not
when peasant life was being torn apart by bombs, shells, and raids directed
from the city 58 but only after the peasantry had taken power and had begun
to educate the city to the demands of peasant life under emergency condi-
tions, and probably to exact vengeance as well.

Ponchaud tells us that he “mistrusted those who spoke French, and
those who came from the wealthier classes,” and that he was “mainly inter-
ested in the ordinary people . . . who could neither read nor write nor analyze
what they had seen but whose illiterate memories could supply exact details.”
Nevertheless, of the 94 refugees whose written accounts formed the basis of
his book, Ponchaud lists 63 by occupation and of those, 52 were apparently

~ town dwellers, and 42 definitely of elite status. The elite nature of his infor-
" mation is even more apparent among the 20 informants whom he names and

who provided the most important evidence. Four of them were teachers or
students, 3 doctors or pharmacists, 4 technicians, 2 businessmen, 1 court
clerk, 4 military, and the remaining 2 unidentified by occupation.69 Natural-
ly, almost the entire body of their testimony concerns the fate of the urban
evacuees, not the peasants in whom Ponchaud claims special interest. This is
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not entirely Ponchaud’s fault; it lies in the nature of the sources, but he
should have noticed it and warned his readers.

Such contradictions are strange from someone who claims, “I am an
exegete by training and profession . . . accustomed to apply the methods of
source criticism to a body of reported events in order to elicit the historical
truth from them.” His exegetical talents could have been profitably exercised
in a re-reading of the above description of his method, and of certain other
sections of his book. For example he writes, “all refugees complain of the
relentless, goading nature of the work,” in which “no effort was made to
spare [the human organism] and it was never given a day of rest.” But just a
few pages earlier a pharmacist and his friend found that “since we weren’t
very strong physically, the village chief sent us to work with the women’s
group,” and they were well trcated; while other evidence indicated that
“during . . . May 1975 people were apparently not forced to work.”70 In
another instance Ponchaud writes that “after a lengthy term in prison,” a
doctor was sent back to the fields, but in the following paragraph reports
that “in Kampuchea there are no camps or prisons,” only the death sentence;
and this is soon followed by a detailed description of another doctor’s experi-
ence in some camps and prisons for intellectuals whom the regime apparently
wished to reintegrate into special work.”1

In spite of this, Ponchaud’s book is not blatant propaganda like that of
B/P, and the factual errors or misinterpretations could have been made hon-
estly. There are -even flashes of unexpected information which disagree with
the general picture; thus, “there was nothing very brutal about this first de-
portation,” or the story of a Phnom Penh man who received decent treatment
in a Communist village in Kompong Cham province.72

In general, then, Barron, Paul and Ponchaud present the experience of
the middle and upper strata of the towns as the members of those strata per-
ceived it, suddenly and unpleasantly jolted from their usual existence and
transplanted to the rigors of rice-field, forest and dam site. It was a case
which was particularly easy to draw up since the refugees, then the only eye-
witness informants about Cambodia, were overwhelmingly urban, to the
extent of 70-80% of the total in the main camps in Thailand in 1979-81.73
Of course, their reports could have been handled with greater rigor than was
attempted by B/P or Ponchaud, but even in the best of analytical circum-
stances there was an inherent bias in the raw evidence available to all research-
ers, since the main sources of information were unfriendly witnesses both for
the history of DK and for the study of the ensuing PRK period.

The STV as propagated by B/P, Ponchaud, and the popular press was
questioned as early as 1975, and by some people who were experienced ob-
servers of Cambodian affairs. Their doubt was based in part on ideological
preconceptions which have in general turned out to be mistaken, exemplified
by the naive use of official DK statements as accurate reportage by Porter
and Hildebrand and the lyrical treatment of ‘News from Kampuchea’ by the
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publication of that name in Australia. 74 Their views were also, however,
based in part on eyewitness experiences Whlch contradicted the STV but
which were ignored by its purveyors.

Thus there were reports that the exodus from Phnom Penh had been
carried out slowly and without brutality, which together with credible de-
scriptions of the supply and service situation in Phnom Penh could give -an
impression of a certain rationality rather than mere blind fanaticism. Some
refugees related that they had been kept in Phnom Penh to work in hospitals,
which contrasted with reports of all hospitals being brutally evacuated. There
were also people who came out during 1975-76, and who had seen no mur-
ders or brutalities and were astonished by such stories when they reached
Thailand. Similarly, one of the refugees found on arrival in the free world
that normal western factory work discipline was more fatiguing than the
forced labor in Cambodia. In the same camps where Barron and Paul collect-
ed their horror stories there were, in 1975-76, people who had not had such
experiences, and who had left simply because they had not wanted to do field
work, or because they already had families abroad.”

Within the STV literature itself, one occasionally found serious contra-
dictions. Thus Ponchaud related, along with a description of the destruction
of religion, the story of a wounded survivor of a mass execution of Lon Nol
officers who took refuge for several months in one of the principal temples
of the town of Battambang until he was well, which implies that the temple
functioned, with food still supplied by the faithful, and a large enough com-
plement of monks to keep a wounded stranger hidden from the authorities.’®
Ponchaud also included other non-STV reports in his book, but integrated
them into the story in a way which obscured their signiﬁcance.77

The stories which were rélatively positive, or inconsistent with the STV,
were generally ignored by the mainstream press and relegated to obscure left-
ist or intellectual publications; and only through the efforts of writers like
Noam Chomsky have they been able to reach a wider public.78 Even if the
ideological commitment of those who supported DK could be as distorting as
that of B/P or Ponchaud, and their version of the revolution as lacking in
objectivity, they had, in 1975-76, real evidence for their point of view and
were trying to exhibit a degree of sympathy and understanding for a country
which had been reduced to a primitive political and social level by one of the
most destructive wars of modern times. Even if the picture they tried to draw
were totally inaccurate, it would be innocuous, for their views had virtually
no effect on the public. Anything written about Communist atrocities, how- -
ever unhistorical, uncritical, or dishonest, was immediately taken up by the
press, pushed through large printings, excerpted and reviewed, and taken as
authoritative even if its author, like Ponchaud, was completely unknown and
devoid of scholarly or journalistic credentials. Writers on the other side, who .
took a sympathetic view of the revolution and its difficulties, had little
chance of a hearing, and when the purveyors of the STV took notice of their
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work at all it was to villify the authors rather than to examine and discuss the
evidence.””

There is thus no intention in this review of sources and evidence to
equate the errors of those two points of view. The more serious of the latter
group, continuing their efforts to understand and explain the Cambodian sit-
uation, have recognized the defects in their earlier treatment, tried to deepen
their understanding, and have offered assessment of and support for new
solutions which seem to be of benefit for Cambodia and its people. Some of
the more prominent of the first group, however, in their support for a new
anti-PRK STV which is clearly even less honest than the earlier one, have
shown that their concern was and still is political propaganda rather than an
understanding of Cambodia.80

The accumulated evidence about DK indicates that even if true-believer
enthusiasm for the Cambodian revolution was misplaced, the serious criticism
of the STV in 1975-76 was reasonable and largely correct. It is also true that
throughout 1977-78 evidence supporting a picture like that presented by B/P
and Ponchaud increased and was apparently confirmed at last by the evidence
from Vietnam, a once fraternal Communist regime, which in publicizing the
conflicts erupting with Cambodia recounted horrors the equal of any found
in the Western press during the previous 2-3 years. There could hardly any
longer be serious doubt that the DK regime, however it started out, had be-
come something very much like that depicted in the STV. We know now,
however, that it was not just an increase in evidence about an already existing
situation, but that things realily changed in 1977. In 1975-76 the STV was
simply not a-true picture of the country, and conditions could reasonably be
explained as inevitable results of wartime destruction and disorganization.
From 1977, on the other hand, DK chose to engage in policies which caused
increasing and unnecessary hardship. Thus the evidence for 1977-78 does not
retrospectively justify the STV in 1975-76, and the Vietnamese adoption of
some of the worst Western propaganda stories as support for their case in’
1979 does not prove that those stories were valid 81 '

Such distinctions were not yet clear at the time, however, and the in-
creasing evidence for the STV threw the foreign defenders of revolutionary
Cambodia into disarray. Some decided they had been wrong and lost interest
in Cambodia; others admitted they had been wrong, and accepted the STV
for the DK period but began to engage in detailed analysis of DK to explain
why it turned out as it did and to show that such a development was not
necessarily inherent in the beginning; still others maintain that the STV is
only partially true and continue to insist that 1975-79 was a period of real
positive achievements. The last group, in contrast to the others, tend to reject
the PRK solution and to accept uncritically the STV for 1979-80. Among the
analysts of events of 197581 we also find an important difference in that
some see the evil aspects of the DK regime developing gradually out of ideo-
logical and .policy conflicts among different factions, while others assert that
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the STV, to the extent that it is true, was accurate from the very beginning,
and that those of us who doubted the STV reports in 1975-76 were wrong.
In this way a few intellectuals of the far left find themselves in the same camp
as Ponchaud. For them the conflicts which ‘eviscerated the Front’82 were
simple power struggles among individuals and cliques, an explanation which
smacks more of mainline American political science than the Marxist intellec-
tual currents with which they otherwise wish to identify.

By the end of 1978, then, the STV had been generally accepted — by

* the defenders of the regime to their dismay, and by all reactionary forces,

anti-communist propagandists and sensation-hungry journalists to" their
delight. '

The destruction of a regime so evil should have pleased both groups, -
and they should have been even more delighted when the increasing exodus
of refugees in the months following the destruction of the DK administration
showed decisively that the STV needed modification with respect to the
groups which were thought to have been exterminated. As a European busi-
nessman with wide contacts in Phnom Penh before 1975 put it, there was a
sudden arrival at the border of all sorts of old acquaintances presumed dead
— businessmen, bankers, professionals, military officers — who could not all
have been overlooked had there been a general policy to exterminate them.83
Another such example was the flight to Thailand of over a dozen members of
the Aphaivong family, descendants of the eighteenth-nineteenth century
hereditary governors of Battambang who had brought that rich province un-
der Thai hegemony, and some of whom after its retrocession to Cambodia in
1907 had continued to play important roles in Thai government and politics
as well as being active in Thai irridentist efforts in the 1940s. Because of their
background those who remained in Cambodia kept a low profile politically,
but maintained their position as wealthy landlords in Battambang.84 To the
DK cadres they would have been doubly inimical — as traditional allies of a
hereditary foreign enemy, and as an example par excellence of an exploiting
class. Yet they survived. :

Similar doubts were evoked by the first news I had of old acquaintances
who had not been heard from since April 1975. In February 19801 received
word that a family I had known since the 1960s was in the refugee center of
Khao I Dang, and that all members who had been alive in 1975 had survived
and were in good health — that is, 20 people including a woman of about 65
who for years before 1975 had suffered from severe respiratory complaints;
her three unusually attractive daughters with their husbands, a schoolteacher
and two former Lon Nol soldiers, one a Cham; her son with his wife; and the
children of the. four couples. Besides that, all of the younger women had
borne children during the DK years -with only one infant death, a statistic
which would not have been unusual in the best days of pre-war Cambodia;
and one of the surviving children had been in delicate health before 1975.
Moreover the family had for years -before 1975 had close relations with
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foreigners, a circumstance well known in the area where they lived and where
they remained throughout most of the DK period.

Was this a unique case? Did it just happen against all odds that such a
group of unexpected survivors were friends of a Cambodia scholar who had

- since 1975 expressed doubts about the STV and who would be sensitive to

evidence controverting it? Was the experience of one of the more sensational-
ist newsmen — that all families he had encountered had lost at least six mem-
bers — more typical?85 '

During five months visiting and working in the refugee camps, I became
convinced that my friends were not a unique case, although they were in a
minority, in their region, as a large family group which had lost no one
through illness, starvation, or execution. I did, however, meet other similarly
intact families; and, even if they lost one or more members over what would
have been expected in the given time period, Khao I Dang was largely popu-
lated by families,; not isolated adult survivors or orphans.86

The overall ‘demographic picture of the main refugee holding center,
and the objective experiences of many family groups and individuals, thus
argues against certain aspects of the STV. This is not, however, the way the
refugees see it. What I have called the STV is their STV, what they wish to
believe, which they are eager to convey to all who will listen, but which can
be penetrated and analyzed by careful questioning and listening.

The family which I cited above, for example, although aware of my
interests and used to my questions for ten years before 1975, at first said -
they didn’t want to talk about 1975-79 at all because it had been too horri-
ble. Eventually, however, it turned out that some of them had always had
adequate food and had often been able to help those in poorer circumstances;
they had never been separated to an extent that complete contact was lost;
the children remained with some member of the family; the two persons who
had come close to physical danger had been fairly judged; and in 1977-78,
the generally worst yedrs for atrocities against ‘new people,” two of them,
one man and one woman, were given privileged village-level positions because
of their education, which was needed to carry out administrative tasks. Final-
ly, as soon as the constraints of the DK regime had been removed in early
1979, they were in good enough health, in spite of the poor rations of the
previous three years, for three of the young men to be able to leave their
families and set off on bicycles to see Phnom Penh, just for a lark and to in-
form themselves on the situation in other parts of the country. Following
this they began to engage in trading with the Thai border area, and by the
time they decided to become refugees they had accumulated several thousand
Thai baht (1 baht = $0.05). ,

There are thus numerous details which controvert the STV which is
not to say that all horror stories are fiction. I am convinced that all the worst
atrocities which have been reported occurred at some place at some time,
but not as the STV would have it, everywhere all the time. To get a more
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accurate account behind the STV requires careful questioning and in particu-
lar careful listening as people become loquacious and free-associate, for some
of the more interesting details come out accidéntally and unexpectedly.87

Undoubtedly some readers will ask, why bother? By any account the
years 1975-79 were a terrible period and even the survivors suffered miser-
ably. What is the point of prodding them to reveal exculpatory aspects of the
regime which tormented them, and in the process insinuate that they may be
lying? Such is indeed the attitude of the refugees themselves — if one accepts
that DK was bad, as I do, there is no point in analyzing it further or relativiz-
ing its evil. They were bad peoplie who did bad things, and that was that.

It is a question which merits an answer.

First, as an historian, one of whose special areas is Cambodia, it is in-
cumbent on me, if I choose to write about it at all, to search for as much of
the entire truth as possible, wherever that may lead. A chronicler, or journal-
ist, may simply repeat stories as they are handed to him, even when he knows
they may be less than honest,88 but an historian may not. If he thinks they
are less than honest, or incomplete, or imply certain things not expressly
stated, it is his duty to draw out these aspects, break down the stories, re-
order their details, and fit them into wider contexts.

One of the wider contexts which is, I believe, objectively important,
whatever one’s subjective feelings about what is legitimate in social change,
is the situation of the Cambodian revolution with respect to the widespread
social and economic changes taking place all over the world, and in particular
in Asia. How does it compare with other revolutions, or with non-revolu-
tions? Was it Communist or not? Was it entirely aberrant, one of a kind, or
did it develop logically out of certain preconditions which may be repeated
elsewhere?%? To even begin to answer any of these questions we should try to
discover what happened in Cambodia place by place, year by year (or even
month by month), and for what immediate reasons.

As an example, let us take one of the matters which arises in most STV
stories, the numbers of excessive deaths from executions or unnecessary star-
vation. Total estimates have ranged all the way from the tens of thousands to
3 million; and those who have tried to analyze the data have been accused of
useless playing with figures, such as arguing about how many Jews the Nazis
killed.

This analogy is instructive. As we shall see, some of the STV estimates
must be reduced by factors of from 10 to 50; and if the same were true of
Jewish deaths, that is, if in 1945 it had been discovered that 600,000, rather
than 6 million, had lost their lives and no records were available about Nazi
policies, we would not have a holocaust, and would not even be able to infer
a massacre of Jews as such, but rather random, if large-scale, killings of Poles,
Czechs, Rumanians, Russians, or Yugoslavs, in short an historically quite
different phenomenon.

There is thus no need to apologize for attempting a close reading of the
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refugee stories in order to penetrate past the STV, particularly now that cer-
tain quarters, which three or four years ago were pushing the STV onto the
public in order to discredit DK Cambodia, have decided that Pol Pot may be
useful and have begun their own exculpatory, but dishonest, cuts in the
horror picture in order to switch attention elsewhere. 0

By early 1980 at the latest, the presence of several hundred thousand
mainly middle-class survivors in the border camps and holding centers was
good evidence that the STV conditions could not have prevailed everywhere
throughout the entire DK period.

As one method of penetrating the blanket affirmation of the STV
which the physical survival of many of its proponents belied, I decided to
ask individuals to relate what had happened to them, personally, and what
they had seen, in chronological order, since April 17, 1975.

This did produce some fearsome stories in conformity with the stand-
ard total view, in particular the story of the extended family of one of my
close friends, all of whom perished except an elderly woman with several
young nieces in KID, and a former teacher, now in his forties, working for
the new government in Phnom Penh. They represent one of the authentic
tragedies — neither exploiters, nor corrupt, nor Lon Nol military, fate placed
them all in places where they could not avoid extermination; from the head
of the family, a retired official of the highest rank who loyally responded to
the revolutionaries’ call for cooperation on April 17, through several middle-
level technocrats, and my friend, a teacher, who, crazed with hunger and
illness in one of the worst areas of Battambang, wandered into the woods and
was shot as a bandit, to several families of prosperous peasants.

An equally tragic story in personal terms, but instructive for modifica-
tions of the STV, is that of Pin Yathay, published.as L Utopie Meurtriére.%1
He lost all his family, mainly through illness, in one of the worst, if not the
worst, district of the whole country; but until the very end the family lived
together, compassion was shown by DK cadres at moments of family tragedy,
Yathay was several times praised for his work effort, and he was able to carry
sufficient cash and other valuables out of Phnom Penh to supplement the
family’s rations for over two years.

Many other stories were in startling contrast to the above. I met people
who had not known serious hunger, although they may not have eaten as
well as in prewar Phnom Penh. One woman, a prewar schoolteacher, told me
that even under the Communist regime she had been put to work teaching
primary classes, something which even many skeptics of the STV would have
thought impossible. “But,” said some listeners to our conversation, “that was
in Damban (region) 3 where it was different,” and for the first time I heard a
specific indication that conditions had varied enormously in different parts
of the coun’(ry.92 )

Contrary to the statements that all educated people had to hide their
literacy to avoid trouble, I found several.others who had been given special,

L
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privileged tasks because of education beyond that-of the cadres. For example,
a girl who had been a student in the next-to-last year of high school and
who in April 1975 had admitted the fact was given a crash course in adminis-
tering injections and turned into a medical worker for one year, a testimony
also relevant for the question of DK destruction of medicine.”® Other such
examples were a teacher whose status was known and who was called in from
field work every year to prepare the statistical report for the district of Mon-
kolborei, and several persons who were given minor administrative posts
where literacy and numeracy were required.

Still other refugees stated, from their own experience, that the only
status which in itself carried mortal danger was membership in the Lon Nol
military or police organizations. According to them teachers, doctors, engi-
neers, etc., knew that if they otherwise performed well, those backgrounds
did not endanger them. ~

In virtually every personal account of 1975-79 there came a point at
which the person said, “then I got sick and had to spend 2 days (or 2 weeks,
or a month) in the hospital.” “What hospital, hadn’t medicine been abol-
ished?” “Well, not exactly,” would be the answer, “but of course it wasn’t
real medicine like we had before and it wasn’t any good.” Nevertheless, it
turned out that nearly everywhere, at all levels of the administration, there
was a place set aside for medical care to which sick people could go and at
least rest, and which in some places provided genuine modern medicine and
competent surgery.

As for executions, the first response was always yes, they had “seen”
or at least “knew of” many, but on closer examination there are nuances in
the stories. In Pin Yathay’s account — and, it should be emphasized, in one
of the worst areas — the executions of which he had direct knowledge were
few in number. One man I interviewed, a teacher who took great pains to
recall accurate data, said that he had direct knowledge of only 5 executions,
three of whom had been secret police agents of the Lon Nol government —
but again, he had been in Damban 3. A young woman from Damban 4, a
much worse part of Battambang, thought hard and remembered having seen
one killing; and in telling the story revealed something which she and her
friends had the day before denied — that there were regular distributions of
fish as well as the basic ration of rice.

Not all relations between DK cadres and ‘new people’ were bad, as Pin
Yathay’s story shows.®* The same young woman and her friend said they
didn’t consider any of the cadres whom they knew personally to have been
“bad people”; and she proved the sincerity of her statement one day in
August 1980 by rushing around the KID camp to find me in order to report
that two of the former cadres from her village had just been moved from
Sakeo to KID and she wanted me to meet them. Indeed their reunion was
that of old friends.

That situation was, no doubt, exceptional, but it was not unique. The
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woman, who had worked as a teacher, and her husband, a dentist, one day
asked me to take a letter to someone in Sakeo. It turned out that it was their
old DK village chief, a pleasant man in his 50s, a peasant and long-term com-
munist supporter, who had been kind to them during the difficult years. Al-
though, since they were in different camps, I witnessed no friendly reunion,
I served as mailman for them and it was clear that each party remembered the
other with some affection.

With respect to general control and work discipline, another chance
conversation revealed interesting nuances. I had mentioned to some of the
refugees in KID that several people had come out of Cambodia saying they
knew of no massacres, and that working conditions were tolerable. I was
immediately asked when such people left Cambodia. “In 1975-76,” I an-
swered. “Well, that explains it. At that time things were very ‘loose’ around
Battambang. It was easy to move around, work discipline was lax, people
could look for their own food, and except for Lon Nol officers there wasn’t
much killing” — statements which might not have been made in response to
a direct question about living conditions in 1975-76; and I thus by chance
found out that in parts of the northwest, life had not become unbearable
until the second half of 1976.%5

The same sort of unexpected details appeared in conversations about
the PRK period. When I would point out that derogatory information about
the new government was exaggerated, that they allowed much personal free-
dom, and engaged in no massacres, my informants would say, “yes, but in
the beginning (1975-76) the other communists (DK) were easygoing too,
and then they got worse” — another chink in the facade of the STV for all
times and places.

Even investigation of the DK people at their worst, when killing, shows
important variations in time and place. Many people who claimed to have
seen- or known of * many killings, when pressed for details reported the
special events of 1978.96 That is, in their part of the country, killings had
been few and selective until that time. Another man, in whom I was at first
not much interested since I had already met many people from his area of
the country, mentioned offhandedly that he was the sole survivor of a group
of 12 acquaintances who had gone from Phnom Penh to the northwest after
1975. 1 asked why the others had been killed. “Oh, they were corrupt. We
had all been appointed as village chiefs by the Communists, and they used
their positions to squeeze gold, jewels and money out of the people under
them.””7 This put a new dimension on certain executions and revealed an-
other unexpected instance of DK trying to use educated people in administra-
tive positions.

Occasionally, apparently reliable accounts contain cleay contradictions
which emphasize the great care necessary in analysis of information about
DK. It was with great interest that I read of an eyewitness report that Ly Vu
Ong, former Dean of the Faculty of Archeology, had beer: killed immediately

L
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after leaving Phnom Penh in April 1975.°® My interest was because I had
known Ly Vu Ong, and because in 1980, in KID, I had met his wife, who told
me that he had been killed in 1977 for having kept a secret diary of their
experiences.

Similarly, Wilfred Burchett could cite without comment a statement
that “Children [implicitly of all population categories] of 13 to 14 years
were conscripted into the army,” and another report that “youth of the ‘new’
urban evacuees were not eligible for . .. enlistment in the armed forces, even
if they volunteered.” The latter is correct, as confirmed by refugees I met in
Thailand in 1980.°

One more such contradiction concerns a crocodile breeding farm estab-
lished by the DK authorities in the center of Siemreap. According to Bur-
chett’s informants, “evidence was given of young children having been fed
to crocodiles” there, and Burchett met people who claimed to have been
witnesses.190 In August 1981, while on a visit to Siemreap, Serge Thion and
I went alone, without a guide, on a tour around the center of Siemreap and
came upon the crocodile farm, about which we had not yet heard. Thinking
that it would have been a perfect place for DK sadism, or subsequent stories
of such, I began talking to the caretaker, gradually leading up to the subject
by asking how the animals were cared for and fed. I finally asked if they ate
humans, a question he obviously considered silly, answering, “of course, if
they could reach any.” I then asked if they had ever been fed humans during
DK times, at which he looked at me in real astonishment and said, “no.”
Later our guide was quite upset that Thion and I had toured Siemreap alone,
and was particularly infuriated that we had visited the crocodile farm, saying
“did you know that they fed children to those crocodiles under Pol Pot?”
Apparently we had missed part of the standard propaganda treatment, by
saying which, however, I do not wish to claim that no DK sadist ever pushed
a person into a crocodile pit.

In brief, then, the STV as a complete picture is not true; and an accu-
rate description of Cambodia requires that one penetrate beyond it. Parts of
it are belied by the very existence of the people whose stories have formed it.
Other parts are contradictory and require further questioning to determine
more precisely time, place and circumstance, With respect to the post-January
1979 period, the STV may be more easily checked against other information
from within Cambodia, which shows that some people are guilty of straight
fabrication and damages their credibility for the earlier period as well.

Nevertheless, the experiences noted briefly above, and the entire con-
tent of chapter 3 below on the DK years, show that whatever the refugees
feel about the STV, they easily provide information which is inconsistent
with it, and their own analyses of differences in time and place were very
helpful in developing the point of view presented here. Often they were fully
aware that the story they were telling me of their personal experiences was
not at all congruent with the STV which they would like to believe about
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DK, and manifested laudable objectivity about those experiences which even
in the best circumstances were very painful. '

Their ability to be objective, particularly when questioned carefully,
proves that the inaccuracies which have pervaded the STV presented in the
mainstream Western press owe more to the writers than to their sources. The
media treatment of DK was not inaccurate just because some of the refugees
were incapable of accuracy or were liars, but because the journalists respon-
sible for publicizing the STV selected the information most suitable for sen-
sational publicity and ignored the rest. Or when the rest could not be ignored,
an explanation was devised to circumvent it, as when Jean Lacouture af-
firmed that “in certain cases the ‘witnesses’ [inverted commas mine] refused
to provide the worst . . . because as Cambodian patriots they felt some disgust
in spreading ignominious details in front of the public. . ..” The same theme
appeared in a letter to the Far Eastern Economic Review from some “‘con-
cemed correspondents” who wrote that “[The refugees’] stories did not
come tumbling out . . . on the contrary, the interviews were an exasperating
exercise.” Such disingenuous statements are designed to cover their authors’

" bias. Certainly during both my brief visit to the first refugee camp in Aranya-

prathet in 1975 and the five months I worked among refugees in 1980 I saw
no evidence of reluctance to tell the worst atrocity stories. On the contrary,
those who appeared reluctant to taik, particularly in 1975, were those whose
own experiences really were in contradiction to the STV, 101

That the refugee information as a whole — and not denying the truth
of any particular story — is indeed an ‘STV’ rather than a careful descriptive
account, is shown by the subtle modification which began to creep in already
in 1980. The general tenor of the modification, apparent in KID, and more
particularly in the Khmer Serei camp at Nong Samet, was a gradual increase
in anti-Vietnamese attitudes and anti-Vietnamese ‘atrocity’ stories together
with a toning down of the STV of the previous regime. Thus a camp officer at
Nong Samet, in a conversation about the possibility of an anti-Phnom Penh
alliance with the rump DK forces on the border said they were no longer
emphasizing DK atrocities in the interest of a campaign against the PRK and
the Vietnamese. Likewise, when an employee of the KID handicraft shop was
telling me about the necessity to unite in the struggle against Vietnam, I
pointed to some drawings of DK crimes which were displayed for sale, asking
if there wasn’t a danger of Pol Pot’s retumn in the anti-Vietnam movement.
His somewhat embarrassed resgonse was that “those things should not be
given so much attention now.”1 2 _

That tendency to overlook DK’s misdeeds may be the strongest among
Khmer intellectuals who have been abroad since before 1975. In 1980 a
Khmer demographer, whose own wife returned to Cambodia in 1976 and
disappeared, published an article tending to minimize DK deaths and to
blame Vietnam for the country’s misfortunes. Another young intellectual,
whose entire family including wife and child seem to have disappeared,
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argued that DK must have had a good economy or they could not have
exported rice,” and must have fed people enough, or they could not have
produced anything. He was also willing to insist that only real traitors were
executed, even if numbers might have been as high as 20,000; and when
asked about the fate of his own family he replied that they could have died
of “natural causes.” In any case, he thought all that must be put aside in the
interest of an anti-Vietnamese strugg]e

The gradual shift from an anti-DK to an ant1 PRK STV is not confined
to Cambodians in the refugee camps or resident abroad. It is a major compo-
nent in the foreign efforts to whip together an anti-PRK coalition, and was
an important feature, albeit disguised, of a-CIA report on Cambodian demog-
raphy published in early 1980.104

Related to this have been interesting shifts in joumnalistic coverage.
These include emphasis in some media on anti-Vietnamese stories and even
uncritical repetition of assertions that the Vietnamese occupation might be
worse than DK.19% That position could not long be maintained by anyone
but an abject propagandist, and has gradually been abandoned; and a new
controversy has been generated over the original STV and the way it was
presented to the public.

William Shawcross, for example, has argued that portrayals of an STV-
type situation were correct‘, that DK atrocities were comparable to Nazi
treatment of Jews; and he severely criticizes those who wrote skeptically of
them before 1979. He also asserts that there was not in 1975-79 “a massive
let alone coordinated campaign against the Khmer Rouge,” that in fact there
was too much doubting of the refugee stories among journalists. Among the
few people who did a proper job were Barron and Paul, about whose treat-
ment of their material Shawcross could find no stronger criticism than that
Paul’s research “was dressed up in unattractive and historically inaccurate
propaganda” without that author’s participation. Shawcross himself also saw
the truth. He visited refugees on the Thai border in December 1975 and
published a story in FEER after being convinced by *“both middle class peo-
ple from Phnom Penh and peasants” that “they were telling the truth.”1

It is clear now that criticism of negligence by the Western press-in
recognizing DK atrocities would not be accepted by the former, since a
similar remark by the -editor of FEER in December 1981 brought stinging
rebukes from Bangkok-based journalists who asserted that “it was the West-
ern press which exposed Pol Pot,” and who offered to prove it with “a thick
file of news clippings dating back to May 197 5.7107

The Review accepted their assertion of diligence, but not their allega-
tion of its own negligence and superficiality in coverage of Cambodia, and
the editor appended a list of articles which were to demonstrate that FEER
had in fact covered DK and its atrocities over the years. It is instructive to
examine what he considered good coverage. The first article mentioned was
“an exclusive interview with Nouth Choeum . .. Sihanouk’s aide, which gave
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the first inside account of the atrocities,” on October 24, 1975.108

In fact, since Choeum had been outside of Cambodia after 1970, he
could in no way have given an “inside account” of DK’s beginning; and he -
provided no information about atrocities at all, beyond the already well-
known fact that Phnom Penh had been evacuated, and that the friends and
families of Sihanouk’s Peking entourage had been dispersed into the rural
areas along with everyone else. Most of the content of his interview was
gossipy conversation about life among Cambodian royalty in exile, the
queen’s death, and the maneuvers surrounding Sihanouk’s return to Cambo-
dia, interspersed with such gems as “‘everyone knew, 80% of the [April 1975]
victory came from his [Sihanouk’s] tireless activity,” the “Red Khmers are
cowardly and hypocritical,” and a complaint that when the queen died on
April 28, 1975 Phnom Penh radio continued to broadcast revolutionary
music instead of “religious music which was called for under royal protocol
. .. [which] proved that Phnom Penh leaders did not really like the Cam-
bodian monarchy.”109

The only substantive information about the new DK which Nouth
Choeum offered concerned factions within the Cambodian revolutionary
leadership, nearly all of which proved incorrect. As a source of new informa-
tion he was extremely disappointing and so was FEER’s treatment of him,
in particular their failure to probe for detailed information about factional
leadership which he might have possessed and which would have been of
value to serious students of the country. Derek Davies was certainly correct
to claim “due immodesty” when including that story as part of the Review’s
“unrivalled” coverage of Indochina.

Davies next specified William Shawcross’ article of January 1976,
written soon after Shawcross had travelled to the Thai-Cambodian border
and visited the refugee camps.

For Davies’ purpose it is also less than impressive. Shawcross started off
by reporting that refugee accounts ““suggest [my emphasis] that the Khmer
Rouge is finding it hard to govern the country except by coercion” and “‘even
suggest that terror is being employed as a system of government.” Farther on,”
after some description of the Indochina refugee situation, he noted that the
refugees “did not appear to be in a sorry condition,” even though they com-
plained of *“rigour and hardship,” “pain of working in the field all day with
only a cup or so of rice to eat,” of “youngand old . . . dying of starvation,”
and “of the fear in which the Khmer Rouge are held.” Then after devoting a
longer space to non-atrocity information about the new system, Shawcross
questioned how the Khmer Rouge could rule with such a low ratio of soldiers
to people; and he repeated the refugee answer that everyone was cowed by
fear of execution, even though his informants often did not know of any
occasion on which the-alleged executions had taken place. Although con-
vinced that “the life of ordinary people today really is appalling,” Shawcross
agreed that “it is impossible, on the basis of talking to some refugees and
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reading the radio monitoring, to say how a country is being run”; and he
ended with a reminder that if an “atrocity” [emphasis by Shawcross] -was
being perpetuated as “Henry Kissinger has, on several occasions since April
[1975] lamented, . . . Kissinger must bear some measure of responsibility”
since “the atrocity did not begin in April — it simply entered its sixth year.”
For a careful reader Shawcross’ article did not present the expose of DK
terror which Derek Davies now wishes to make of it. It was a careful assess-
ment of refugee accounts and some of the evidence which might force their
modification, together with a reminder that however hard life was in Cam-
bodia, the new authorities might have been faced with a situation in which
there was little choice.110 . :

It is difficult to understand why Shawcross now wishes to efface his
earlier good judgment and claim to have been a purveyor of a sensationalist
STV when he clearly was not; and in one respect he even seems to have
moved full circle from implacable critic of Kissinger to collaborator in the
latter’s strictures against the American left. While Kissinger alleges some de-
gree of “responsibility” for what happened in Cambodia of “those.whose
pressures rigidly restricted American assistance to Cambodia . . . who finally
succeeded in throttling all aid to a still resisting country in 1975, and writes
of “antiwar critics who made the collapse of Indochina inevitable,” Shaw-

cross chimes in with “the ‘scepticism’ . . . displayed by the western left
toward what was going on in Cambodia [1975-79] is one of the principal
reasons why an international campaign . . . was never mounted on behalf of

the Khmers.”111:
~ No more impressive was another article mentioned by Davies, Donald
Wise’s of September 23, 1977, “on the liquidation of intellectuals and pro-

_ fessionals.” He merely repeated the more extreme STV allegations, referred

to Barron and Paul as a source, and cited one new informant of his own who
apparently gave him the standard charges of liquidation of nearly all intel-
lectuals, adding that “Cambodia is governed by drunkards, thieves, savages,
barbarians and classless illiterates,” The man further damaged his case, in a
way that Wise did not perceive, by reporting that “the normal ration per
person is two condensed milk cans [500 grams] of dry rice a day,” which
would have been an adequate rice ration, and would have been regarded as a
luxury by most residents of DK.}12

FEFER’s big gun in the area of Cambodia reportage was of course Nayan
Chanda, cited approvingly by Davies; and Chanda’s work was indeed the
most thoroughly researched and sensible of any journalist writing on that
subject. But he, in particular, was extremely, and properly, circumspect on
the question of atrocities.

In his article of October 26, 1976, he wrote that “most observers agree
that the worst excesses of the reign of terror are over,” that “large-scale
executions have apparently stopped, although sporadic killings continue.”
He added that “part of the killing was the action of the have-nots against
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the haves,” inspired by a desire for revenge, and effects of a savage war.
Moreover, he felt that the refugees, who were then coming mainly from
isolated work sites in the three provinces bordering Thailand, “rarely have
any information of value.”113 :

As we shall see below, all of that agrees very well with information
elicited from questioning a large number of refugees in 1980; and the “Con-
cerned Correspondents’” who seem to think Chanda misread the evidence
in not realizing that worse was to come are off the mark. Worse purges did
begin in 1977, but nothing can be inferred from them about 1975-76, since
there was a change of policies almost tantamount.to a change of regime. Ref-
ugee reminiscences from nearly all parts of the country concur in depicting
the last months of 1975 and 1976, after the immediate post-war massacres
of Lon Nol military had ended, as a rather tolerable period.

Again in October 1977, Chanda wrote “occasional executions continue,
the refugees say,” a fair statement of the situation, since the purges about
which refugees could have told Chanda at that time were affecting mainly
cadres, not the ordinary population. Chanda also noted that Pol Pot consid-
ered 1-2%, or 80-160,000 people as enemies, and that “explains the sporadic
executions which have continued to take place in Cambodia after the first
rush of executions of top military and civilian officials in the summer of
1975,” again a fair analysis of the available information which is still sup-
ported by the much larger body of evidence subsequently accumulated.!14

Two other articles of Chanda’s cited by Davies, of March 31 and
April 21 “1977” [sic 1978] concerned Cambodian attacks on Vietnamese
border areas, and even if they were extremely brutal they do not permit any
inference about atrocities within Cambodia in 1975-77.

In the work of Nayan Chanda, then, the Review does have reason to
be proud of its Cambodia coverage, though not of the hasty leaps into DK-
bashing for which Davies now wishes to concede his critics’ prescience. Inter-
estingly, the latter now accept uncritically Vietnamese ‘confirmation’ of the
conditions they had earlier alleged, although many of them are retuctant to
believe what the Vietnamese have said about-Cambodia since 1979. With the
exception of what had happened on the Vietnamese border during Cambo-
dian attacks, much of the information offered by the Vietnamese about Pol
Pot’s Cambodia had been culled from the more uncritical Western press
reports, and whether true or not, can in no way be taken as confirmation of
them. As for the allegation of Vietnamese tardiness in recognizing DK ex-
cesses, one of the points to be made in the present study is that before 1977,
the year in which Cambodian-Vietnamese conflict began in earnest, there
were few excesses, that even in 1977 they were mostly in regions far from
Vietnam and news of which would not easily get to that country, and that
the zone about which Vietnam would have had the best information, the
East, was the least violent until 1978.

If the “Concerned Correspondents” of Bangkok are really concerned
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about suppression of atrocity evidence, -they should be addressing their
. critique to the CIA, whose report on “Kampuchean Demography” totally
whitewashed the last, and by far greatest, massacre, the purge of the East
beginning in May 1978.115
This competitive scramble among journalists to claim credit for atrocity
mongering in which not all of them were engaged, rather than for the sober
reporting which was to their credit, would be merely amusing if it did not
illustrate the unfortunate circumstance that journalism has now become to
such a large extent a branch of the entertainment industry with its practi-
tioners forced to search for, or even invent, ever more sensational stories to
hold the public’s attention.116
As an example of  this need for exciting stories, it is instructive to note
the manner .in which the presence of a ‘self-confessed’ Communist mass
murderer in Khao I Dang was ferreted out and sensationalized in a publica-
tion of international circulation. Unfortunately the wrong man was fingered.
Sometime in July 1980, while talking with the brilliant young Indo-
china scholar Larry Palmer in the American Embassy agents’ house in Aranya-
- prathet, Larry mentioned to me that a man who allegedly admitted to having
carried out a couple of hundred executions was said to have recently been
transferred from the Sakeo refugee camp to Khao I Dang. Larry had not yet
met him, but had heard the story from Rod Nordland of the Philadelphia
Inquirer. :
On July 20 I met Nordland, who admitted that the details of the story
were not entirely clear because in his interview with the man, named Til Vin,
. he had been forced to use a chain of two interpreters, Khmer-Thaij and Thai-
English; and that in addition the chief of the camp section where Til Vin
lived was present and kept ‘interpreting’ the latter’s answers. But he believed
the main fact, Vin’s role as executioner, because another camp resident whom
he had also interviewed with interpreters claimed to have witnessed his own
son’s death at Til Vin’s hand. Nordland was nevertheless happy to go with me
to talk to Vin without interpreters and try to tie up loose ends of the story.
Til Vin was a small, dark, grey-haired kindly looking man in his fifties,
a peasant from Sneng in western Battambang, an old radical area where he
himself had been part of the Communist movement since before 1970. I men-
tioned to him that I myself had once visited Sneng, in 1962 or '63, to look at
the late Angkor-period temple on the main road going through town. Then
we got down to his ‘story,” and I said I understood from Nordland, who was
with me, that he admitted to killing a large number of people between 1975
and 1979. He denied he had said any such thing; what he had said about kill-
ing was that a couple of hundred, mostly Lon Nol military, might have been
killed in Sneng in the beginning, right after the Communist victory, but he
° hadn’t even been there since he had fled farther into the woods during the
Lon Nol search and destroy operation in 1974 and had not returned to Sneng
until 1977.
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When he returned to Sneng in 1977 he had been one of the three-man
executive committee of a cooperative, the next-to-lowest level of DK admin-
istration; and he claimed that in his area executions had been infrequent and
the policy had been to use moral suasion and propaganda (kosang) against
those who did not measure up to Communist standards. This statement fitted
well with the picture I had already built up from refugee accounts of Damban
3, where Sneng was located, and added credence to his story.117 The only -
executions in which he admitted playing a role, as cooperative administrator
rather than executioner, were two cases of couples killed for transgressing
the regulations prohibiting sex outside marriage. When I left Nordland that
afternoon we had decided the story needed a lot of further checking, first of
all with the eyewitness, a man named Touch Khieu.

I found him a couple of days later. He was voluble and eager to tell his
story. Yes, he had seen his son, a Lon Nol soldier, killed in Sneng in 1975,
and he knew that the killer, A-Vin (‘A’ being a pejorative prefix), had recently
arrived in KID. “You mean Til Vin?” I asked. “No, not Til Vin, —- Vin,” he
replied. 118 There we had it. The chief witness was exonerating Til Vin. To
make sure, I asked him to describe the killer. “Tall, fair-skinned, black-
haired, but balding,” on every point the physical opposite of Til Vin. He was
also able to describe Til Vin, knew that he too was in KID, and remembered
that he had come to Sneng in 1977 and had taken up a post on the coopera-
tive committee. As-for Til Vin’s crimes, if any, Khieu remembered his involve-
ment in “several” executions for ‘moral turpitude,” precisely what Vin him-
self had acknowledged.

After this I looked up Nordland again, told him the results of my con-
versation with Touch Khieu, and he agreed that his original story would have
to be reworked and that more research, particularly a meeting with the other
Vin, was required.

I was therefore astonished to find Rod Nordland’s original story, in the
form of a “Letter from Khao I Dang,” in FEER of August 8, accompanied
by photographs of Til Vin and a friend, and signed by “Natalie Ané.”!1

I immediately wrote a letter to the editor, pointing out the facts out-
lined above and on which the testimony of the accused (Til Vin) was sup-
ported by the evidence of an eyewitness and next-of-kin (Touch Khieu) of
the only identified victim. I may also have inadvertently let slip some remark
about irresponsible, sensation-hunting journalists, because I soon received a
letter from Derek Davies himself dated August 13, 1980, in which he not
only rejected my effort to have a rectification published in FEER, but in
the excitement of the moment hastily accused me (the only person con-
cerned who had spoken to the subjects of the story directly) of relying on
hearsay against the ‘facts’ which had been obtained by his journalist through
a double chain of translators aided by the interjections of a camp official.
For him the story derived from those uncertain circumstances was ‘fact,’
while the mutually congruent stories of Til Vin and Touch Khieu, without
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benefit of intermediaries, were not.

When 1 returned to KID a couple of weeks later I investigated further
and was informed that Nathalie Ane was a journalism student who had visited
the border area and had accompanied some of the journalists, including
Nordland, on their rounds. Til Vin remembered that Nordland had been
accompanied by a woman, as did Tun [Tuon] Savy, another man who fig-
ures in Ané’s story and who finally led me to meet - Vin, the person whom
Touch Khieu accused of his son’s murder. The second Vin did not admit to
murder either, which is only to be expected, but the important point is that
both he and Savy, like Touch Khieu, agree that Til Vin, the man exposed to
the world by the Review’s excursus into sensationalist journalism, was not at
the scene of the alleged crime.

It was impossible to discover the reasons for the mistaken implication
of Til Vin, which was important since even if his hands were not clean and he
willingly administered DK’s absurd sexual policy, the executions in which
he had some responsibility were few and for an ‘offense’ clearly spelied out
in advance and known to all, not en masse for wartime activities carried out
under another regime. There could have been simple confusion of idenfity,
delibetate false accusation for personal reasons, or a factional feud left over
from DK days. But the atmosphere of the refugee camps was the perfect
hothouse for proliferation of all sorts of rumors, distorted reports and false
stories which are dangerous ammunition in-the hands of inexperienced or
uncritical reporters.

One more example of the thirst for sensational news about Cambodia
demonstrates the embarrassing inaccuracies to which uncritical propagandiz-
ing can lead as well as the interesting circumstance that some ‘concerned’
organs of the press have moved from a search for DK atrocities to glorifica-
tion of the DK forces as participants in a new struggle for the ‘liberation’
of their country. On December 20, 1981 the New York Times published a
story by one Christopher Jones about his alleged visit to the DK-occupied
zone near the Thai border where he observed military action against the
Vietnamese.

The story has since been exposed as a total fraud, and only its sensa-
tionalist character can explain why the NYT would accept a story from an
unknown writer on such a sensitive subject without having it checked by
people familiar with the area, who could have spotted some of its faked
details with no more than a cursory perusal
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CHAPTER 3

The Zero Years

After the Sideshow

In February 1976 a group of anonymous Western social scientists
published a “Blueprint for the Future [of Thailand]” in the Bangkok Post
newspaper.! Although Thailand is 4 times larger than Cambodia in area and
7 times the population, their political, economic, and social structures before
1970 were so similar that any analysis of the former must have some rele-
vance for study of the latter.

It is therefore interesting for our purposes to note that according to
“Blueprint,” if Thailand was to avoid a revolution certain measures needed
to be rapidly taken: the surplus population of the cities should return to the
countryside, much more investment should be made in agriculture, the ad-
ministration should. be decentralized, unproductive wealth should be taken
from the rich and political power from the old elites.

Anyone who has even cursorily followed the media treatment of Cam-
bodia since 1975 will recognize those as measures taken by the DK regime,
although they were carried out to an extreme far beyond that envisaged by
the authors of “Blueprint.”

Those gentlemen were of course talking of a pre-revolutionary Thailand
with its material infrastructure and social organization still intact, not of a
country destroyed by war; and since one of the excesses imputed to Cambo-
dia was the execution of the former regime’s military, it is worth noting that
in their discussion of decentralization of law-enforcement agencies, the
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authors of “Blueprint” recognized the dangers of turning “a force of 25,000
- retrenched policemen loose on an already fragile society.” They said that
“careful screening processes” would be required “to weed out the bad ones”
before the old police could be integrated with the new, popularly chosen
forces.

They did not suggest what “screening processes™ should be effected,
but they at least recognized a problem which arises whenever rapid political
change, revolutionary or otherwise, is attempted: what is to be done with
those groups who will fight the changes no matter how benevolently they
may be carried out? Obviously something must be done to neutralize them;
and with that recognized in principle by western social scientists, one may ask
what they would advocate as a proper response in a country such as Cam-
bodia, where the ‘retrenched’ forces may have been 6-8 times the figure
projected in “Blueprint” in a much smaller, war-devastated area.

Although this chapter is first of all descriptive, such a description can-
not help but be evaluative as well; and indeed part of the purpose of this
study is an evaluation as well as a description of Democratic Kampuchea® It
is therefore useful to point out at the beginning that some of the principles
of reorganization applied in DK could find approval by western moderates
in a similar situation.

Even attitudes toward DK itself in those milieux could be cautious and
° moderate when the authors were writing, not for the popular press, but for

consumption by serious scholars and officials.

Guy J. Pauker, for example, in a book devoted to predictions and
- policies for Southeast Asia in the 1980s and published in 1977, evoked the
problems of growing populations, the need for more food, increasing scarcity
of land, and insufficient urban employment for the hordes of peasants mov-
ing into the cities. He showed some concern that voluntary migrations within
Southeast Asia were “not from overpopulated villages into the wilderness”
[as they should be in order to develop new land] “but from the countryside .
to the cities,” and that “the noncommunist countries use only mild admin-
istrative measures to slow down the flow.” Indonesia’s ‘transmigration’
program, for instance, was too modest. In this confection one would expect
some reference to Cambodia, and Pauker wrote, “the forced migration in-
flicted on the Cambodians after April 1975 . . . is certainly not a desirable
model.,” And that was all — not that the Cambodians were doing the wrong
thing, or that Cambodia was being destroyed by inhuman murderers, but
only that they were not taking apparently necessary steps. in the best way
This is the only comment on the Cambodian revolution in the entire book.3

- A couple of years later Douglas Pike, a U.S. government expert on In-
dochina, was able to give a semi-official imprimatur to conclusions similar to
those for which western observers sympathetic to DK had been villified a
couple of years earlier: Pol Pot was the “charismatic” leader of a “bloody but
successful peasant revolution with a substantial residue of popular support,”
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under which “on a statistical basis, most of them [peasants] . .. did not
experience much in the way of brutality.”4

Barron and Paul, Pauker, and Pike, from milieux either close to the
U.S. government or which represent the epitome of U.S. middle-class conven-
tional wisdom, and who share similar preconceptions, have thus said very
different things about Democratic Kampuchea — of course, over time, a
matter to be taken up later. Those who do not share their view, or who wish
to go beyond them, might desire more precise details about whether DK was
simply a chamber of horrors, or a popular, if somewhat violent, peasant
revolution which was possibly doing the right things in other than the best
way. They might also be curious as to whether Cambodia is a guide for the
Thailand seen through ‘“Blueprint.” The following chapter is intended to
provide some answers.

We shall see that all of them were partly correct. Democratic Kampu-
chea was certainly, and first of all, a victorious peasant revolution, perhaps
the first real one in modern times, and it had at first considerable support;
some of its policies were rational but carried out badly; and as a result it
became at times and places a real chamber of horrors. The partial correctness
of their views does not excuse the propaganda character of their statements,
which, as they stand, are of little use either for a description or an explana-
tion of DK. Neither have we as yet an explanation of why a peasant revolu-
tion which carried out policies considered correct by western analysts became
so bloody that in the end it lost the support of its most favored class, the
peasantry. This is one of the things we seek to explain, and in the process the
partial truths will be separated from the propaganda and shown to have been
partial both geographically and temporally.

Administrative divisions

Democratic Kampuchea was divided administratively into seven geo-
graphical zones named after their compass directions: North, Northeast, East,
Southwest, West, Northwest, and Center, plus the Kratie Special Region
no. 505, and before mid-1977 the Siemreap Special Region no. 106.5 The
zones, like lower-level divisions, were also numbered, but since they appear
to have been little used, I ignore them here.® The zonal division I have out-
lined was not always completely stable. Before 1975 the West and Southwest
had formed a single large zone called ‘Southwest’; there was a Special Zone
comprising Dambans 15, 21, 25, and 33;7 and after the purge of early 1977
the North, which had included Dambans 41, 42, and 43, was split into the
Central Zone and a new North Zone consisting of Damban 103 and the
former Siemreap Special Region, redesignated Damban 448 :

The zones did not correspond to any pre-revolutionary administrative
unit. Each included more than one of the old provinces, and sometimes tra-
ditional provinces were split between two zones. The Northwest was nearly
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coextensive with Battambang and Pursat provinces; the North Oddar Mean-
chey, Preah Vihear, Siemreap, Kompong Thom, and part of Stung Treng; the
Northeast part of Stung Treng plus Ratanakiri and Mondulkiri;® Kratie Spe-
cial Region most of old Kratie province, with the exception of two areas
north and south of the bend in the Mekong River; the East part of Kratie,
Kompong Cham, and Kandal as well as all of Prey Veng and Svay Rieng; the
Southwest the remainder of southern Kandal, Takeo, Kampot, and part of
Kompong Speu; and the West Kompong Chhnang, a small corner of Pursat,
part of Kompong Speu, and Koh Kong. The boundaries of the Central Zone
are not clear, but it included the remainder of Kompong Cham province
north of the Mekong River.10

Each zone was sub-divided into Regions (dambans), all or nearly all of
which crossed old administrative boundaries, and which were universally
known by number. The numbering of most regions shows some systematiza-
tion, but the rationale of this is unclear. Numbers 1-7 made-up the North-
west, which may reflect its status at the time the CPK (Communist Party)
first devised their administrative system, probably well before 1970, as the
first truly revolutionary area. This impression is strengthened by the circum-
stance that Damban no. 1, bordered on the west by Thailand, on the north
by the road from Battambang to Pailin, on the east by the road from Battam-
bang to the Pursat border, and on the south by the Battambang-Pursat bor-
der, included the Samlaut district where the peasant revolts in 1967 and 1968
marked the beginning, for some Cambodian revolutionaries, of overt armed
struggle against the government.11 The numbering of the other Northwest
regions, however, cannot be so easily fitted into a significant scheme.

Beyond the Northwest the Regions are not numbered consecutively
throughout the country, but, in general, following a zonal code. Thus, in the
Eastern Zone, another early center of revolutionary activity and which repre-
sented a distinct faction of Cambodian communists, the five Regions were
numbered from 20 to 24, with no obvious rationale, except that no. 20 was
geographically in the center and contained another old communist base,
Kamchay Mea.

The Southwest and Western Zones also held several old insurgent
strongholds, but their zonal codes are less distinct, perhaps reflecting both
their pre-1975 unity and earlier stages of organization. In general the zonal
code for the old Southwest consisted of numbers in the 30s, Dambans 31, 32,
33, 35, 37, with 31, 32, and 37 falling in the West after the division; but it
also included Damban 13 on the Vietnamese border south of Takeo, Dam-
ban 11 in Northern Koh Kong, and Damban 15 just west of Phnom Penh,
the last two of which fell into the Western zone after the split in 1975. At
the same time the Southwest acquired Damban 25, originally of the East,
and from 1971 in the Special Zone.

In the Northern and Central Zones the code was generally in the 40s,
no 41 just to the northeast of Phnom Penh, followed northward by 42 and
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43; then 44 in Siemreap province; but also inexplicably Damban 103 in the
far north in the former province of Preah Vihear.12 This reflects an earlier
arrangement in which Preah Vihear was included in a northern and northeast-
ern zone, for in the latter, as it stood after 1975, the Regions were numbered
100, 102, 104, 105,'107.

Below the Regions the administrative units seem to have generally
followed pre-revolutionary terminology: srok (district), khum (sub-district),
and phum, the last meaning ‘village’ and having a population of 200-400
people. Refugee information, however, varies with respect to these levels,
and for most of them the important unit, and the one around which their
daily lives revolved, was the cooperative (sahakor), generally equivalent to
a khum, and incorporating several phum.

The administration at each level was headed by a triumvirate of offi-
cials called the ‘committee’ and at the upper levels entitled respectively
‘Secretary,” ‘Deputy Secretary,” and ‘Member.’ At the two lowest levels, in
1975, they were usually local people, if not long-term CPK personnel at least
chosen from among the poor peasantry, and the chief was called protean,
‘President.” In some areas consisting entirely of ‘new’ villages, that is, exiled
urbanites, ‘new’ people were appointed as me-phum (village chief), often with
results unsatisfactory both for themselves and for the CPK authorities.

At Zone and Region levels, some officials who can be identified were,
in 1975, often intellectuals who had joined the CPK maquis in the 1960s.
Others were members of the old ICP, Issarak, or Pracheachon groups, or men
whose political and militant past can only be identified as Issarak.!> No one
has yet been able to compile a complete list of these top cadres,'® and many
of the refugees know nothing at all about the identities of the men under
whom they worked and lived. At first this seems strange, but all cadres used
noms-de-guerre, beyond which it is often difficult to penetrate, and most
‘new’ people felt quite correctly that curiosity about such matters was best
avoided. Even among the CPK people, former low-level officials often claim
ignorance of the men on the Region and Zone committees above them,
apparently because the old military ‘need-to-know’ rule was strictly applied
in Democratic Kampuchea. »

Another reason for such ignorance even on the part of members of the
system, and one of the more intriguing aspects of DK administration in gen-
eral, was its extreme decentralization with a very great degree of autonomy
for each vertical administrative unit and virtually total compartmentalization
of units horizontally. This is emphasized by all refugees who have attempted
to give coherent thought to the system, and in any case appears spontaneous-
ly after no more than half a dozen interviews with people from different
zones or even regions. Almost no two regions were alike with respect to con-
ditions of life. Amount of food, its distribution, work discipline and general
hardship, numbers of executions and execution policy, even the content and
extent of political education differed among zones and regions; while

.
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execution policy and food distribution sometimes differed even among
contiguous villages.

The compartmentalization often enabled resourceful, and lucky, ‘new’
people to play the system against itself. Apparently if one fled from a coop-
erative and succeeded in reaching another administrative unit without being
caught by one’s own cadres, or military of a superordinate level, there was a
good chance of being taken on in another cooperative with few questions
asked, since most units were short of labor; and because of the lack of com-
munication among coordinate units, pursuit was difficult.

In origin the decentralization and autonomy were the result of practical
necessity. At the end of the first Indochina war in-1954, the original Cam-
bodian -revolutionary movement broke up and the leaders who remained in
the country retreated to isolated rural areas, such as Samlaut in Battambang
(Damban 1), Chhouk in Kampot (Damban 35), the backwoods of Prey Veng
and 'Kompong Cham (Dambans 20, 41), and Amlean%-Phnom Aural in Kom-
pong Speu and Kompong Chhnang (Dambans 31, 32). 7

When the armed struggle began in the late 1960s it began in different
regions under different leaders in very loose coordination, perhaps even with
different ideologies and programs; and one former DK official has declared
that during the war, troops from different administrations were not mixed.18
By April 1975 these Zonal and Regional leaders were the ones who controlled

- the armed forces and thereby potentially had the jump on political power. As

Stephen Heder has pointed out, when leng Sary, Pol Pot, and Khieu Samphan
arrived in Phnom Penh they may have had no military power base of their
own; and as Ben Kiernan has emphasized, the various military units were not
reorganized into a single army until July 1975.19

The Occupation of Phnom Penh

Phnom Penh, on April 17, 1975 and the following few days, was thus
occupied by at least three or four different zonal forces which up to that
time had operated autonomously in different parts of the country with coor-
dination, possibly fairly loose, only at the top.

Tep is a young man from Chhouk, Kampot, Southwest Zone with very
dark skin, rather handsome, a ready smile, and obviously intelligent.20 He
was from a peasant family, but managed to continue in school up to the first
baccalaureat, the next-to-last year of secondary education. Then, in 1972,
disgusted with the Lon Nol government and attracted by the revolution, he
left school and, with many other young people of the area, joined the revo-
lutionary forces. During 1972-73 he fought in several battles in the south,
where he estimated fatal casualties were about 50%.21 In 1974 his unit began
to move northward, and participated in the battles of Kompong Sela, one of
the bloodiest of the whole war, Trapeang Kraleng, Kompong Speu, until at
the end of 1974 it was on the Phnom Penh front, where it remained until the
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final offensive and capture of the city .22

As late as April 15, when it was clear they would soon enter the city,
his unit had still not been informed of plans to evacuate the population. On
the contrary, his battalion commander, a fellow student before 1972, told
them the plan was just to search out Lon Nol officers. Then between April 15
and 17 they learned that the plan had changed. The inhabitants would be
evacuated, and to make the exercise easier, were to be told — and the troops

‘knew this was a lie — that the evacuation was for only three days. Neverthe-

less,- the soldiers had clear orders not to loot, or to kill uniess they met with
resistance. As for the policy toward Lon Nol officers and civilian officials,
they did not know who was marked for execution, only that they were to be
identified and rounded up. )

Kong is another former high school student who joined the revolution-
ary army early on, in 1970, but residing in northern Kompong Cham province
he found himself among the Northern Zone forces.? He was never a front-
line soldier, but during 1970-74 was involved in economic and cultural work,
and then was sent to an artillery unit for the final assault on the capital. In
contrast to Tep from the Southwest, Kong knew all along that Phnom Penh
was to be evacuated, and the northern troops were told that all Lon Nol offi-
cers from the rank of lieutenant were to be killed, along with all important
civilian officials.

In the East, as we shall see, policy toward Phnom Penh may originally

have differed considerably from the above, but for a former teacher who
had been captured by the Communist forces in an attack on Kompong Cham
in 1973, the first public information in the Koh Sautin area of Damban 22
was the announcement that Phnom Penh had been taken and the people in
the villages should prepare to receive the “brothers and sisters” from the
city who would soon arrive in the countryside.2 He then borrowed a motor-
cycle, dressed in black like a cadre — which in itself is a comment on dis-
cipline at the time — and rode off to look for friends and relatives on their
way out of Phnom Penh. Just outside the city he found thousands of people
camped waiting for the three days after which they could return home; and
he told them they might as well forget about returning and start getting
settled in the villages. As for the policy toward enemy officers, it seemed to
vary considerably in the East, and he could not determine what the orders
from the top might have been.
' On that subject there is one more observation. One of the left-wing
intellectuals who returned — from North Korea — after the end of the war,
stopped for two weeks in Hanoi on his way home in December 1976, and
was told by the Cambodian embassy there that only officers from the rank
of major upward were targets for execution, along with civilians such as
police secret agents.25

Within the city itself there was one observer who had an opportunity
to observe CPK actions close to the center, and with a relatively dispassionate
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eye, since he knew he would not be targeted either-for execution or evacua-
tion to the rice fields. This was the late Henri Becker, a French technician in
the Ministry of Information who was kept on the job by the new authorities
for several days and conversed with cadres of apparently rather high rank, 26

He describes occupied Phom Penh as divided into 5 sectors held by dif-
ferent forces under autonomous commanders. The northern sector of the city
was occupied by troops from Kompong Cham, Kompong Thom, Pursat,
Kompong Chhnang and northern Kompong Speu, thus from the Western,
Northwestern, and Northern (here part of Kompong Cham) Zones.?” This
included the Ministry of Information with Becker himself, and presumably
the cadres he met were of this group. They also held Phnom Penh’s fifth
sector, Tuol Kork-Pochentong. '

Then there was the center sector of Phnom Penh south of Kramuon
Sar as far as the independence monument, and occupied by troops from the
Southwest, which fits the account of the southwestern soldier, Tep, who said
his unit came in on the Pochentong road and occupied the central market
(Phsar Thmei) sector.

According to Becker the western side of the city was occupied by
troops from the south, which does not correspond to any revolutionary
zone, but given the location they were probably also Southwest Zone forces.
As for the southern sector of the city, Becker relates that it was taken by
troops coming from the “southeast (Takhmau),” which probably means they
were Southwest Zone forces.28

The autonomous, uncoordinated character of these different military
units was highlighted by a certain amount of conflict among them on the
first day of the occupation, and by the circumstances that a fake “Khmer
Rouge™ unit organized in Phnom Penh was able to occupy the Ministry of
Information first and even turn away the arriving CPK troops.29

Although Becker seems to have been well informed about the initial
administrative divisions of the city, he clearly had no idea of CPK Zones and
Regions. In particular, he seems to have been unaware of the existence of an
Eastern Zone, or of its troops in Phnom Penh, which is interesting in the
light of later developments; and his ignorance on this point may have been
due to the Northern Zone bias of his informants. In fact he was told by his
principal CPK contact, Nhiem, that “six divisions participated in the offen-
sive against the capital . . . on three fronts: South, West, and North,” while
the troops stationed east of the Mekong were only responsible for neutraliz-
ing the naval forces on the river and shelling the city just before its occupa-
tion.

We know from other evidence, however, that East Zone troops occu-
pied part of the city, perhaps even the neighborhood of Wat Ounalom within
Becker’s central city sector taken by Southwestern troops. An important DK
official who fled to Thailand in 1979 recalled that Phnom Penh was occupied
by East Zone troops from across the Mekong, Northern troops coming down
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route 5, Southwest and Special Zone troops along route 4, and from Takh-
mau the troops of ‘Ta Nath,” an officer described both as a Special Zone and
Southwestern man.3! From what we now know about later intraparty con-
flict, it seems likely that the skirmishes among CPK forces known to Becker
and caused by “trespassing in the different zones,” may have involved in
particular rival East and Southwest forces.3?

In passing, it is necessary to deny Lacouture’s affirmation, based on
God only knows what wild stories, that Phnom Penh was taken by “com-
pletely primitive montagnard guerilleros” of the Khmer Loeu upland minor-
ities of Mondulkiri and Rattanakiri.33

The evacnation ’ -

In the northern part of Phnom Penh, where Becker was close to the
center of authority, the order for evacuation was not given until the morning
of the 18th, the day following the occupation. This delay, however, was
apparently not due to indecision over policy, as may have occurred among
other zonal forces, but may have been due to loss of contact between North-
ern Zone command and troops in the rapidity of the final advance 34

The orders given in the northern sector were quite brutal, and contrast
with reports from sectors of Phnom Penh under Southwest or East Zone
troops. 5 The inhabitants were to be given only 10 minutes to prepare pro-
visions for two days, and then were to start out of the city on the road north-
ward. Then all the houses were to be searched for valuable goods such as
arms, radios, recorders, motorcycles, and bicycles, which were to be col-
lected and brought to headquarters. Locked buildings and shops were blasted
open with rockets and their contents carried away, or sometimes destroyed in
a manner which appeared to be purely looting; and as a result numerous fires
broke out which destroyed considerable property. ‘

The relative harshness of the northern evacuation in comparison with
other sectors continues to appear in stories describing conditions en route.
There was more harassment, and more frequent killing of men believed to
have been Lon Nol soldiers. Such is the evacuation picture presented in Pon-
chaud, most of whose informants seem to have taken that route;3¢ and it is _
confirmed by my own conversations.3’ Nevertheless, some evacuees managed
to keep their cars long enough to drive as far as the ferry crossing the Tonle
Sap ‘toward Kompong Cham, and were thereafter not pressed, taking up to
two months to cover another 50-100 miles. Ponchaud, too, was able to write
that “there was nothing very brutal about this first deportation.”38 One
informant also added that the worst brutalities en route in the first evacua-
tion were along the road to Kompong Chhnang and Battambang, while con-
ditions on the other northern road, toward Kompong Thom and Siemreap,
were easier. This is significant for the overall picture of the DK regime in that
the two routes were in different zones, the first in the Northwest and the
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second in the North.

In spite of what appears as a general DK policy to consider all Lon Nol
officers as enemies, not all of them felt the threat as imminent. Major Yem,
a former teacher. who had been at the Chom Chau base on the Pochentong
road beyond the airport, said that on April 17 he simply started walking into
town in full uniform, sometimes along with the occupying DK troops, and
was not bothered. In his opinion there was no attempt in those first days to
arrest and execute officers except those of very high rank and notoriety. 39
But the Pochentong road along which Major Yem proceeded was the entrance
route of the Southwest Zone troops, whose policies and actions seem to have
been somewhat different from those pursued by their Northern colleagues.

The evacuation to the south, under the supervision of Southwest Zone
troops, 40 has been the subject of at least two published accounts, one of
which intended to purvey a total view which does not stand up under analy-
sis, or under comparison with most other refugee reports from that experi-
ence. That is the version of Barron and Paul, whom I have discussed to some
extent above; and the second is Pin Yathay’s L'Utopie Meurtriere, also
mentioned previously.

From both of their stories we see that in those sectors of Phnom Penh

-controlled by Southwest Zone troops, the order to evacuate was not delayed.

It came immediately on the morning of April 17. 41 In contrast to the North-
ern sector, though, there was nothing like a ten-minute ultimatum. People
could take hours to pack for the journey, and in some cases waited for a day
or more before actually leaving their houses. 42 Neither, apparently, was there
any serious search and confiscation of household articles. Cars and motor-
cycles were loaded up with all manner of things, both useful and useless, for
the drive down Monivong Boulevard toward the southern suburbs.

Barron and Paul make much of arbitrary, summary executions along
this route; and there must have been some, but it seems that they have col-
lected every such case, real or rumored, and made them into the typical
picture. Every corpse along the road becomes a communist atrocity, ignoring
that just a few days earlier there had been fierce battles all around the city.
It is impossible now to reconstruct and analyze all those incidents, but we
must also enter into the record that other refugees who passed along the same
route report that there were no atrocities at all, and that the pace was mod-
erate and bearable.

Even Pin Yathay, whose book was intended as an atrocity story against
the DK regime, only claims to have witnessed one execution on the way out
of town, although he had hearsay knowledge of others; he quotes a fellow
engineer who considered the communist action as rational under the circum-
stances; and he himself found that “the exodus had taken place without
police brutality, without administrative harassment.” »

That attitude was shared by one of the KID teachers, who told me that
up to 1975 he had sympathized with the revolutionaries, and in particular
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admired Khieu Samphan; and during the first days of the evacuation felt no
fear or apprehension about the future. He had confidence for the moment in
the rationality of the CPK actions.** Another of my informants, also a
teacher, and a compiler of very careful memoirs concerning his own and
others’ experiences, proceeded southward with his family and car, like Pin
Yathay, pushing it on flat stretches and driving only uphill in order to con-
serve fuel; and he stated unequivocally that during the two weeks it took to

"reach Saang, south of Phnom Penh, he witnessed no brutality or killing. He

acknowledged that there may have been some, but considered it exception-
al.*> Such was apparently the impression of a colleague, about whose experi-
ences he prepared a written report designed as a whole to protest DK condi-
tions. Nevertheless, the only complaint made by the informant about his
13-day march from Phnom Penh to Kompong Trabek, province of Prey
Veng, was the brilliant sunshine which caused him, as an albino, particular
discomfort. 6 .

Southern Prey Veng, his destination, was in the heart of the Eastern
Zone, Region 24; and this leads us to the subject of the Eastern Zone role
in the occupation and evacuation of the capital, a matter of great intrinsic
interest given the peculiarities of the Eastern position over the following four
years.

Becker’s information, obtained from Northern cadres, shows no aware-
ness of Eastern Zone troops as such within Phom Penh at all; and he seems to
have been told that their duties were confined to an area beyond the Mekong
river. Yet the troops which Becker says came from the southeast could well
have been Eastern Zone: many refugees recognized them in the city because
of their distinctive military fatigue, rather than black, uniforms; and in the
account of Pin Yathay there is a curious incident which seems to show that
they had a different attitude toward evacuation than the other Zonal forces.

Yathay, informed of the evacuation order by the Southwestern troops
who had occupied his residential quarter, packed his family into two cars,
and then decided to first drive to Wat Ounalom, beside the river, to ask ad-
vice of his uncle, Huot Tat, one of the two Buddhist patriarchs of Cambodia.
There they found that the DK troops, “contrary to their comrades,” were
wearing fatigue uniforms which were already known in Phnom Penh as indi-
cating troops from the provinces east of the river.#” Thus contrary to Beck-
er’s information, Eastern Zone troops occupied part of Phnom Penh aiong
the river front on the eastern side of the city. Wat Ounalom was filling up
with members of Phnom Penh’s elite searching for refuge in the city’s most
prestigious temple, and hoping against hope that the evacuation order was a
mistake. Throughout the 17th they were left alone and not ordered to move
out; and late in the afternoon a monk was sent to the DK headquarters in
the old Ministry of Information to ask for definite information. There he
was told by a well-bred DK officer that the evacuation rumors were unfound-
ed and unreasonable, and “I can give you my word of honor that I know

o
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nothing of that order.”*8 4

There is nothing in Yathay’s account to indicate the Zone to which

~ that officer belonged, but we know that the Southwestern and Northern

Zones had already formulated such a policy, even if the North was a day late
in carrying it out. The most important point, in any case, is that there were
DX officers in Phnom Penh on April 17 who neither knew of nor approved
of the policy; and only on the following day were the people at Wat Ouna-
lom told they had to leave, at which time Yathay was able, with his two cars,
to choose his own route out of town.

If I have gone into some detail about this, it is because over the next
four years factional cum zonal differences and conflicts were a crucial aspect
of the DK regime, and it is important to establish that some signs of this
appeared even in the first days of their victory. :

Like much else that seems to have happened in DK, possibilities for
disagreement may have been built into the original policy decisions. Accord-
ing to a former cadre from the Southwest, the ‘Pol Pot’ zone par excellence,
there was no disagreement in the party or the army about evacuation per se;
and the decision had been taken 10 days before liberation. There was, how-
ever, no set period in which it was to be carried out, and each region and unit
could make their own decision about the modalities. There was likewise,
according to that source, no central directive about the destinations of the
evacuated population, and peopie could go wherever they wished, subject
presumably to on-the-spot decisions of the units occupying the city. This
explanation at least can account for the varieties of experience reported by
the evacuees; and the informant admitted that there had been some disagree-
ment and fighting among the troops in the city.49

Probably the rudest aspect of the evacuation was the treatment meted
out to the sick and wounded in the evacuation of most of the hospitals; and
since this subject has been given shrill attention in accounts of arbitrary DK
brutality, it merits some discussion here too.

The discussion should start with a survey of medical care as it was in
the last months before the end of the war.

This is not a new subject but was given considerable attention at the
time by journalists, American and international officials, and scholars; and
adequate documentation is therefore available. Unfortunately the hysteria
attendant on DK efforts to remodel Cambodia have caused most people to
forget what conditions prevailed there shortly before the end of the war.

In the country as a whole nearly half of the hospital facilities had been
destroyed by bombing or artillery. Most of these, to be sure, were outside of
Phnom Penh, which had suffered very little physical destruction. But, as we
know, the city’s population had increased nearly five-fold, putting a strain
on facilities which may have been only adequate in the beginning. In normal
times, 17,500 beds were needed, but in 1974 there were only 7,438 and
these were crowded into a space designed for only 3,000. One of the largest
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hospitals, Preah Ket Melea, was 200% overcrowded. Another, the Khmero-
Soviet Hospital, had twice as many patients as beds and just over a quarter
of its normal complement of doctors.>0

The number of medical personnel was also in decline, with the number -
of physicians having decreased by 20% already in the first year of the war.
In each subsequent year, more of them, worried about the outcome of the
war and finding the conditions of their work impossible, went off to France
or other western countries. Contrary to what one would infer from sensation-
hungry journalism, the dearth of doctors in Cambodia today is not due pri-
marily to DK executions, but to voluntary emigration during 1970-75. Of
the approximately 450 doctors at the outbreak of the war,”! about 200, at
least, are alive abroad, perhaps more, and in September 1979 John Pilger,
possibly not realizing that the prewar total was under 500, wrote that 350
were alive in France alone.52 Since all but about 20 of those abroad left
before the end of the war, Phnom Penh, in 1974-75, may have had a worse
doctor/patient ratio than today.

Some of the pre-April 1975 descriptions of hospltal conditions merit
a second reading.

The facilities were not only overcrowded; for the most part they
were crude and unsanitary, There was an acute shortage of medi-
cines and drugs. Death frequently resulted from infection and
lack of proper care; medication was not being administered to
patients suffering severed limbs or gross traumatic abdominal
wounds. Little or inadequate antibjotic therapy was bemg given
to patients in need of such therapy 53

The same report mentioned that “patients overflowed the ward and were
lying . . . in the halls and corridors, . . . the stink of pus and infection mingled
with the foul odor from clogged, flooded toilets.”” Hospital operating rooms
were ‘“‘crudely furnished, unclean and totally without sterile precautions.”54

Other observers reported “an amputee, still in great pain, has to lie in a
hospital corridor because there is no room for him in the wards, which are
reminiscent of Scutari.” Amputations, moreover, were being performed by
*“young medical student[s],” as in the cases of a man and his daughter who
had both just lost arms. 33

These details provide an intetesting counterpoint to descnptlons of
Communist hospitals in the horror stories of B/P and Yathay, and indicate
that for the average person the new regime did not necessarily mean a decline
in standards of medical care.>’ '

Such reports also indicate that by April 1975 medical care in general
in Phnom Penh had reached a nadir of hopelessness and could only be re-
formed by drastic measures. One might argue that the new regime, rather
than sending doctors out of the city along with everyone else, should have
kept them in town to gradually clean up the hospitals. Nevertheless, DK
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medical policy in April 1975 was not just brutality for its own sake, as our .
journalists would have us believe, but was a necessarily crude attempt to cope
with a hopeless situation with hardly any equipment or personnel.

The sick and wounded were not just pushed out into the countryside
to die, but rather, as Hildebrand and Porter already reported, many were
transferred to the better-run establishments from those which were in unac-
ceptably bad condition. Perhaps some would argue that here Hildebrand and
Porter have used tainted information, coming from official DK sources; but
we find corroboratory stories even from among the refugees. Barron and
Paul, of all people, show us a medical student who saved himself from imme-
diate evacuation by first posing as a patient and then working as a doctor.>8
A similar, perhaps really the same, story was published in the Bangkok
Post.59 The informant, given the pseudonym Sak Sau, was a former first-
year medical student who worked as a doctor for two months after April 17,
He had first taken refuge from the evacuation in a temporary hospital at the
Olympic Stadium, and then worked at what had been the private surgical
hospital of a highly qualified physician, Dr. Kum Song Seung. Such an estab-
lishment had probably been kept in good condition up to the time of the
occupation. According to Sau, thousands of patients, presumably those evac-
vated from places like Preah Ket Melea, came there for treatment. Unfortu-
nately there were no doctors left, only a few medical students, conditions
were primitive, and treatment often crude, even brutal. The hospital, how-
ever, was given special treatment. After the city water supply stopped func-
tioning, DK soldiers brought water in fire trucks; and there was plenty of
food available. Toward the end of May some patients were transferred to the
Khmero-Soviet hospital and others to the old revolutionary base in Amleang;
and in mid-June a Communist medical team replaced Sau and the other
students, who were finally sent into the countryside.

The reason why Sak Sau and others were at the Olympic Stadium was
that on April 15, the government radio ordered “‘all military surgeons, civilian
physicians, and medical students in their fourth year and longer to report to
the medical reception center at the Borei Keila [Olympic] sports stadium.”’%0
This order obviously deprived all other hospitals of doctors and meant that
their patients had been without care for two days before the fall of Phnom
Penh.

The revolutionary for¢es thus made some attempt to continue emer-
>gency measures begun under their predecessors for reasons which are not
clear. If the city had not fallen, would the old government have tried to cen-
tralize all medical care in one place? And was the reason for such a measure
the flight of so many doctors? One might argue that it would have been more
humane to move doctors back to other hospitals, but the reports cited above
show why the DK forces might have rejected that option.

Descriptions of Phnom Penh medicine just before the end of the war
together with stories such as that of Sak Sau indicate that even in their




00838954

78 CAMBODIA

treatment of the ill and wounded the CPK forces were facing an incredibly
bad situation. Cambodia’s medical system, inadequate at best, had been
destroyed, even in the capital, by the war, and most of the doctors had al-
ready fled. Even though more rational use could have been made of remaining
medical personnel and some hospital patients were cruelly evacuated, it is
absurdly irresponsible to fault the new regime for being unable to cope, in a
manner acceptable to the affluent West, with such a situation.

Closely related to the question of medical care and the evacuation of
Phnom Penh hospitals by the DK is that of food rations, malnutrition, and
starvation, complaints about which form one of the consistent themes in

nearly all refugee stories.

Starvation was not unknown; and malnutrition was common. The point
of the present discussion is not to.minimize such facts, but to put them in
proper context at the time of the evacuation of Phnom Penh and the first
few months of the new regime.. As B/P for once note correctly, the basic
measure for -rice became the condensed milk can holding about 250 grams,
even though they are mistaken in attributing the rice to U.S. aid;61 and dur-
ing the first few months this was the usual daily ration. Ponchaud goes. into
more detail, explaining, correctly in principle, that conditions differed widely
depending on time and place. He is probably incorrect, though, in implying
that the ration throughout most of the country in 1975 was only half a tin
per day, and in particular in the statement that in Koh Thom, south of
Phnom Penh, and one of the best food areas in DK, the ration was cut to two
tins per week. Pin Yathay, who cannot be suspected of sympathy for DK,
was in Koh Thom for several weeks and considered the rations adequate,
although he does not specify quantities. Even later, when the situation had
deteriorated, it was possible, by careful economizing and communal cooking,
to survive.

But providing mere survival in Cambodia’s natural conditions, we a2
led to believe, was at least incompetence, if not a crime; and from reading
the Barrons, Pauls, Ponchauds, and Yathays one would think the CPK to be
entirely responsible for the situation,

“Cambodia had never known a famine,” it was a “granary of all Indo-
china,” says Ponchaud.®? He does admit, however, that by 1974 there wasa
food crisis, but only acknowledges hunger in the ‘liberated’ zone. In the
government sector “most of the population” were being fed with rice brought
in by the Americans. .

The London Sunday Times Magazine article quoted above was much
more honest in reporting that “starvation was unknown in Cambodia until
the war”; but “now S0 babies a week are dying of malnutrition [just in
Phnom Penh] ” and other children were “disfigured by starvation.””%*

By 1974 the rice supply for Phnom Penh was only about one-third
the quantity required; and after September of that year the average head of
a household was not earning enough to buy the minimum requirement even

u
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supposing it to be available. In February 1975 a family was only allowed
2.75 kg. per person for 10 days at the subsidized price, that is, 270 grams a
day, just slightly more than the DK milk tin, and apparently less than Pin
Yathay later received in Koh Thom. Moreover, in Lon Nol’s Phnom Penh
corruption and diversion of supplies sometimes made even the official mini-
mum unobtainable. Only the rich could afford meat, there was serious malnu-
trition among adults as well as children, and in March 1975 there were 8,000
deaths from starvation. One of the western officials who compiled the above
statistics declared that, “this generation is going to be a lost generation of
children,” and he was referring to Khmer Republic, not DK, conditions.%3

It is clear from the above that ordinary, or poor, peopie from Phnom
Penh who regularly received a daily milk tin of rice from the DK regime may
have eaten better than they did in the last months of Lon Nol’s Phnom Penh;
and this is certain for those in Kompong Cham who between July and August
1975 received 16 kilos of paddy per month (10.2 kg. milled rice, 340 grams/
day), or in Koh Thom where the ration satisfied even Yathay, who had never
suffered in Phnom Penh.66

Of course B/P’s and Ponchaud’s wealthy informants never made that
type of comparison, and, to give them the benefit of the doubt, in their com-
fortable isolation may not have realized the penury of most of their compatri-
ots. The sordid circumstances of hunger in Phnom Penh did not touch those
who lived in ‘fine white villas’ or who, like Yathay, were able to ‘cumulate
functions’ and stuff their pockets with dollars right up to the end.%” Indeed,
if it was not ignorance; Yathay was guilty of the most callous prevarication
in asserting that the city had never known famine, that every family had large
stocks of rice, enough for at least a month, that refugees were well received,
that mest were active workers who were paid like everyone else, and who
“could eat decently and earn a little money.”68 One would imagine that it
was only the poor functionaries like Yathay himself who suffered because
their “meager salaries . . . did not permit [them] to live.”®? Of course, many
civil servants, those who were honest, or who did not have Yathay’s special
opportunities, found themselves among the urban poor and in the circum-
stances cited above from Hildebrand and Porter. Among my own acquaint-
ances, those who were still fat in 1972 were thin in 1974, and some who were
thin to start with had become cadaverous.

A careful comparison of conditions just before and after April 1975
shows that those accounts which describe Khmer Republic Cambodia in pre-
war terms are ahistorical at best, dishonest at worst, and that there is a good
bit of truth in the DK contention that only the evacuation could save the
city population from worse starvation than it had already known. Certainly
the poor of Phnom Penh who, during the evacuation, were allowed to break
into food stores and take what they wished, must have agreed.m That DK
food production and supply were in later years a failure in many parts of the
country, and led to worse starvation than ever known in Phnom Penh is true,
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but that is another matter. .

Once the population had left, the new authorities set about putting the
deserted city into some kind of order and organizing a central administration,
a process about which we know virtually nothing.

The soldier Tep from the Southwest spent one month in the city on
guard duty. According to him the general policy was to tear down old ram-
shackle wooden buildings, but to lock up the others which were not being
used by the new administration and preserve them intact with their contents,
which contrasts with the generalized looting described by Becker in the
Northern sector. The truth of Tep’s remarks is confirmed by several of the
first returnees to Phnom Penh in early 1979 who found their houses and
personal belongings just as they had left them over three years before.”! Of
course, essential materials such as medicines and foodstuffs were taken from
pharmacies and stores for distribution and immediate use.

- Ponchaud’s reports on this subject — one indicating a careful search for
food and medicine, but another generalized looting and destruction — show
an apparent contradiction which he neglected to elucidate, and which is per-
haps explicable by differences in zonal policies. In both cases, though, the
suggestions that everything was being taken to Vietnam seem, in the light of
what we now know, to have been pure fantasy, not noticed by Ponchaud
because of his own anti-Vietnamese prejudices.72

Evidence, more precisely admission, that generalized looting was not
DK policy or practice sometimes comes out in the strangest contexts. A for-
mer teacher who had worked for a while in 1979 in the Commerce Ministry,
desiring to blacken the Vietnamese after he fled to KID, claimed that they

looted large quantities of high quality clothing, radios, television sets, tape

recorders, and medicines left in the shops during the DK period.73

There was also in 1975 an immediate effort to revitalize the essential
sectors of the capital’s economy. By June a former resident passing through
could see “paddy fields, dikes, new roads’; corn growing on large and small
hills; rice cultivated on the university lawns and ducks in its ponds; textile
and bicycle tire factories operating normally; and a state “Commercial
Garage” in the former residential suburb of Tuol Kork.”4

Pin Yathay, passing through the city in September 1975, also noticed
small workshops everywhere, and remarked in particular on the river shipyard
at Russey Keo which he had once managed, and which the new authorities
seemed to have expanded by turning it into a repair shop not only for boats
but for all sorts of engines.75 We also have additional evidence, both from
refugéts and from the confessions of arrested officials, that in 1975-76 the

. tempo of industry and the skilled personnel of many factories were main-

tained, and in some instances technicians were even called back from the
evacuation.’®

‘The precise fate of the Republican officials and officers who surren-
dered at the Ministry of Information on April 17-18 is unknown, although it
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is certain they were executed. The DK soldier Tep said he knew of no execu-
tions within the city, nor where those officials were taken.

Another comment on the subject of executions in Phnom Penh came
from a Lon Nol soldier who, rather than leaving the city, stayed in a house
in Tuol Kork until the evacuation was completed. When discovered by the
DK troops he told them he had been a military photographer, and they em-
ployed him for a month taking pictures all over Phnom Penh before sending
him to the Northwest.”” He claims that there was no killing at all in Phnom
Penh except for those who resisted, which if not absolutely true at least
indicates that some of the victims were able to view the evacuation process
as relatively free of violence.

On reaching the countryside, the urban evacuees found themselves
subject to a rigidly reorganized society different from anything they had
previously imagined.

The society of Democratic Kampuchea was in theory divided into a
number of strata based on a class analysis which showed Marxist origins,
but which was then distorted beyond anything Marxist by considerations
peculiar to the Cambodian situation.

The entire population fell into three large categories called “Full
Rights,” “Candidate,” and “Depositee.” The Full Rights people were poor
peasants, the lower and middle strata of the middle peasants, and workers.
Candidates were upper middle peasants, wealthy peasants, and petty bour-
geoisie; while the Depositees were capitalists and foreign minorities.”?

Those situations could be modified, however, by a person’s political
behavior or the situation of other family members. For example, even a poor
peasant could be demoted to Depositee if it were discovered that his father
or brother had been a policeman; and if a Full Rights person was arrested for
any reason his family would then become Depositee.

Moreover, all those evacuated from the towns after April 17, 1975 were
considered as Depositees whatever their economic or social status, which
meant that virtually all workers or petty bourgeois were placed in that lowest
and socially disadvantaged group and that the poorer peasants were de jure
as well as de facto the privileged social class. @

In principle, Depositees were excluded from any kind of civic life, and
were not accepted into the army, even as volunteers. That is, they not only
could not hold office, but were to be excluded from village or cooperative
meetings where only the Full Rights people had voting rights and the Candi-
dates could express views but not vote. That principle, however, was not
always followed, for a number of urban evacuees report attendance at meet-
ings along with people of the two higher categories. For the ex-urbanites,
the really operative division was between ‘new’ people (evacuees) and ‘old’
or ‘base’ people (multhan), the peasants who were officially either Full Rights
or Candidates, and who had lived in revolutionary areas since before April
1975. This division is all the more meaningful in that even peasants from
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non-revolutionary areas were classed as Depositees, and in some cases there
was a distinction between base area Depositees (former ‘capitalists or non-
Khmers) and ‘new’ Depositees from the city.79

As an example of the way in which the policy worked, the soldier Tep
had an unpleasant surprise when after a month of duty in the city he was
suddenly taken off to prison because the authorities had discovered that one
of his brothers was a Lon Nol policeman; and he spent several months at
reeducation and hard labor with other DK men whose class backgrounds
were similarly tainted. .

Thus for reasons which can perhaps not be fully explained, but which
will be explored later, the desiderata of a peasant-populist or peasant-anar-
chist revolution were dressed up in quasi-Marxist class-analysis terminology
to become the dominant social ideology of the next 4 years.

Democratic Kampuchea — Themes and Variations

For most inhabitants of Phnom Penh their destinations in the evacua-
tion and thus their circumstances over the next 3% years were determined
by the sector of the city in which they were resident on April 17. There are
no surviving statistics on the numbers of people reaching the various zones
from Phnom Penh. One former ranking Eastern Zone official estimated that
2 million reached there first, with some being reevacuated later to the North,
but that estimate seems exaggerated.SO. Given the pattern of occupation of
the city, it would seem that the East could not have gotten more than a third,
with another third going to the Southwest, and most of the rest to the North-
west, North and West. '

We can assume that DK policy was to send people to less populated
areas, and this seems borne out by reports of the second evacuation of late
1975-early 1976. This exercise, termed variously ‘second migration,” ‘second
deportation,” or ‘second exodus’ in what has been written to date, mainly
concerned people leaving the crowded Southwest for the more open spaces
of the Northwest, and also a smaller number who were moved out of the East.

Because of the areas and population groups which it affected, the
second movement could be amply documented from refugees in KID in 1980.
Many of those people had originally gone to the Saang-Koh Thom districts
south of Phnom Penh in April 1975 and in the second move were sent to
Kompong Chhnang, Pursat, and Battambang. One man also related a move by
boat up the Tonle Sap and tributary rivers to Rovieng in the far North, Their
stories confirmed Ponchaud’s remark that the second deportation was more
deadly than the first, both because people were weaker and conditions of
travel were harsher; but they contradict Barron’s and Paul’s assertion that no
food or water was provided. Neither is it correct, as Ponchaud wrote, that
people were generally deceived, being told that they were to return to Phnom
Penh. Many in fact volunteered, believing they would find better conditions,
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or an easier escape route in Battambang. As for numbers affected, Ponchaud
wrote of ‘hundreds of thousands,” a 1976 news story based on refugee ac-
counts put forward a figure of 300,000, and in an earlier critique of the STV
on this point I suggested that 400,000 would have been the absolute maxi-
mum, which still seéms consonant with the various impressionistic refugee
accounts.®1 !

Although there were possibilities for changing an assigned route in
April 1975, particularly for those who had a rural home to which they were
returning, most Phnom Penh residents would have seen little reason to
change, particularly since they believed the evacuation was temporary. Even
had they known it was to be permanent, they might not have seen much
reason in choosing one zone over another, unless their goal was to reach Bat-
tambang, known as a rice-surplus area little touched by war. With the excep-
tion of one region.of Battambang, that would have been an infelicitous
choice, for most of that province, like the rest of the country, evolved in
ways which would not have been predicted and which resulted in wide dif-
ferences in living conditions among the various zones and regions.

A major purpose of the description which follows is.to emphasize and -
try to explain those differences, some of which became apparent to Phnom
Penh residents early in the evacuation.

It is first essential to note that some of the areal differences in DK had
their roots in the prewar history of the country and are to that extent inde-
pendent of communist policy. Among such independent variables are both
objective economic and demographic circumstances and political-administra-
tive conditions.

Cambodia had always depended first of all on its agriculture, and after
the war of 1970-75 rehabilitation and further development were even more
necessary, with an important policy innovation in the DK effort to put nearly
the entire population into productive agricultural work. Given such a policy -
of creating new peasants, perhaps over one million of them, by fiat, it is im-
portant to note that very little of the total Cambodian land area was of good
agricultural quality, and that even within the prewar cultivated area there
were significant differences in soil quality and rice yield. Some of the richest
soil was in Tuk Meas, Kampot (Damban 35), and in Monkolborei, Battam-
bang (Damban 3), with very high yields in Phnom Sampeou (Damban 3) and
also in Suong, Kompong Cham (Damban 41). The poorest soil and yield were
perhaps in Kompong Speu (Dambans 32, 33) and in parts of Kompong Thom, -
with 8rzelatively poor soils in much of Takeo province (Dambans 13, 33) as
well.

Taking the statistics for 1967-68, the last which are more or less reli-
able, and reworking them to fit the DK zones, we see that the areally small
Southwest was the most populous and had over twice as many people as the
much larger Northwest or Center, and nearly 30% more than the enormous

- combined North-Center area. The East, another small zone, was 50% more




00838960

84 CAMBODIA

populous than the Northwest, and also slightly more populous than the
combined North and Center.
' When these population figures are compared with those for gross pro-
duction of rice, we see that the Northwest and East produced nearly identical
quantities in 1966-67, while the very populous Southwest produced -only
slightly more. In terms of a rice-to-people ratio, the Southwest Just before the
war was the least favored zone.%3

The rich parts of Battambang not only had some of the best lands and
highest yields, but also the most important concentration of large proprietors
and a peasantry which may have been better off than those in the crowded

" Southwest.

Superimposed on such basic economic facts were aspects of prewar
politics which are relevant for an understanding of Democratic Kampuchea.
During the first Indochina war of 1945-54 most of the military action in
Cambodia, and the greatest concentration of communist activity and organi-
zation against the French, was in the provinces which later formed the East
and Southwest Zones and the part of Kompong Cham north of the river in
the Center Zone. Those were also the places where reprisals were taken in
the form of forced regroupment of peasant villages, in particular in Kompong
Cham, Kampot, and Takeo.3 It would not be surprising if such actions left
a residue of resentment against urban Cambodia, whose officials had cooper-
ated with the French; and in many other parts of the country, isolated peas-
ants were unfamiliar with towns and townfolk, whose ways seemed quite
foreign to them.

During the war of 1970-75 the East and Southwest were again, as dur-
ing the first war, the scene of much military action; and communist organi-
zation and administration got an early start. In contrast, wealthy Battambang,
in spite of its revolutionary Samlaut district, remained formally in Republican
hands until the very end; and if Phnom Penh’s authority outside the main
towns of the province was very weak, it was also difficult for the communists
to set up an effective administration. Thus the province with the greatest
potential social contradictions had, in 1975, the largest number of Republi-
can supporters outside Phnom Penh, and also the weakest local communist
organization.

Another historical point which needs emphasis is the speclal character
of the East. For reasons which have not been completely determined and
which cannot be explored here, the East Zone communists, more than those
of any other zone, represented the tradition of the Indochina Communist
Party and the first Cambodian communist group which was split from it in
1951. Many of the top cadres had been part of that group, and after 1954
they either went to Vietnam or worked with the legal Pracheachon Group
until 1962. They had therefore grown up politically in close contact with
Vietnamese communism, and, as subsequent events have shown, they main-
tained a certain sympathy for Vietnamese methods, and close relations with
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Vietnam, which was in sharp contrast to the Southwest Zone communists
and Pol Pot.3°

The bourgeois refugees who have provided most of the information
used here describe the zones and regions of Democratic Kampuchea generally
as ‘good’ or ‘bad,” with occasional use of ‘very bad’ and, rarely, ‘very good’;
and the distinctions are made on the basis of two major considerations —

number of executions and quantity of food. A ‘very good’ place would have

been one in which there were very few executions except for acts which
would have been criminal in normal circumstances and where food supplies
were such that severe undernourishment was never a problem. Such places
did exist, even if they were very few. Parts of Damban 3 in Battambang fell
into that category, as well as some of the more productive parts of the East,
part of Damban 15 near Ponhea Lu’ just north of Phnom Penh, and even ran-
dom villages in other zones where conditions in general were considered bad.

Another feature of the good or very good areas was the generally be-
nign attitude of the cadres, something which is noted especially for Damban
3, parts of ‘the East, and the Kratie Damban 505. Of course, where food was
plentiful, people could work better, disciplinary infractions were less fre-
quent, and the cadres could afford to adopt a more tolerant attitude and
treat breaches of regulations more lightly. Such a correlation, however, was
not universal, for Pin Yathay reported decent cadres even in one of the worst
areas of all, Damban 6 of Pursat, and one of my informants from Damban 4
in Battambang said she had never known a cadre whom she had considered a
‘bad person.’86

The ‘bad’ areas, before 1978, were of two distinct types. First there
were the hitherto undeveloped areas, often forested, into which ‘new’ people
were dumped to clear and plant land or build irrigation works, dependent on
external supplies of rice. Usually there were shocking death tolls from hunger
and illness, even where executions were few. Perhaps the absolutely worst
areas of this type were Dambans 2, 5, and 6. The second type of bad area
was where death from hunger might not have been a major problem, but
where executioners ran riot. The absolutely worst place of that type before
1978 may have been the Prey Chhor district of Damban 41, former Kompong
Cham province in the North-Center Zone, which may also have been the
worst zone in that respect, even though there were great differences even
among contiguous villages.

Refugee reports about hunger are almost always couched in terms of
the rice ration, reflecting the Cambodian folk notion that nourishment comes
first of all from white rice; and it is clear that at times or in certain places
there were provisions which, depending on quantity, could have provided
much better nourishment than the rice diet everyone preferred. For example,
some people report being ‘forced’ to eat unattractive mixtures of corn, water
morning glory, and banana flowers, all of which are extremely nourishing;
and they occasionally disdained to eat such things even though they could



00838962

86 - CAMBODIA

have been taken for consumption.

In assessing such reports, it is necessary to distinguish between lack of
rice and presence of malnutrition or starvation. Often the two coexisted, but
not always. Just as has been discovered about post-1979 Cambodia, where
peasants who truthfully report that no foreign aid rice has been delivered to
their villages may still be able to feed adequately on the natural abundance
of the land, so in the DK period too there were _/places where lack of rice was
compensated by supplies of corn, fish, or game.8

A second dimension of the variability in quality of life in Democratic
Kampuchea was the temporal; and the changes most frequently represented
a decline, either steadily or at some sharp point, usually in 1977-1978. The
most dramatic, of course, was the great purge of the East after May 1978
when one of the best large areas suddenly became one of the worst. Other
such changes were associated with other purges in the Northwest and North,
mostly in 1977, although those changes were not all of a kind, as I shall dis-
cuss below. There were also temporary ups and downs resulting from vagaries
in food production and distribution, and occasionally central policy decisions
which affected the status, and thus the quality of life, of large segments of
the population. _

When the refugee accounts of life in different parts of the country are
collated and compared, it is possible to infer some general patterns in overall
living conditions and general policies; and, where available, the remarks of
former cadres concur in the picture derived from the information of the ‘new’
people.

The Southwestern and Eastern Zones, the most important centers of
pre-1970 communist activity, were the best organized and most consistently
administered, with the East, until its destruction in 1978, also providing the
more favorable conditions of life, in particular for ‘new’ people. In contrast,
the West, the Northwest, except for Damban 3, and most of the North-
Center, were considered ‘bad’ areas, where food was often short, cadres
arbitrary and murderous, and policy rationales entirely beyond the ken of
the general populace.

Southwest -

The Southwest is the most significant zone with which to begin a sur-
vey of Democratic Kampuchea, since it turned out to be the zone of ‘Pol
Pot-ism’ par excellence, the power base of the Pol Pot central government;
and its influence, after 1976, gradually spread out to encompass the entire

- country.

The original Southwest — Takeo, Kampot, Kompong Chhnang, Kom-
pong Speu, Koh Kong — was the poorest agricultural zone in Cambodia,
where economic conditions were deteriorating even in the 1950s, and because
of this a revolutionary program based on the poor peasants and involving
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rapid collectivization with maximum reliance on manual labor at a low sub-
sistence level would have the greatest likelihood of success.38 Damban 25,
however, comprised much rich rice and garden land along the Bassac and
Mekong rivers, and the different conditions appear clearly 'in some of the
refugee evidence.

The revolutionary transformation of the Southwest began as early as

+ 1971, and one of the first analyses of the Cambodian revolution based on

refugee evidence was a study specifically of that zone, even though the author
did not realize it at the time.

Between 1970 and 1974, Kenneth Quinn of the U.S. State Department
gathered material from Cambodian refugees in South Vietnam which he
published in 1976; and he believed he was studying the entire south of Cam-
bodia adjacent to Vietnam and comprising Military Region (MR) 405 (Dam-
bans 35, 13), MR 607 (Damban 25), and MR 203 (Dambans 23, 24).87 The
purpose of his report was to show how “a small but dedicated force was able
to impose a revolution on a society without widespread participation of the
peasantry,” and he concluded, not surprisingly, “that a revolution can be
accomplished by a small group of dedicated cadres, despite the absence of
grievances sufficiertly serious to motivate the peasantry to participa’(e.”90
Quinn was thus well within the mainstream of American opinion, both offi-
cial and popular, which holds that Communists must be ‘outside agitators’
who impose unwanted changes on unsuspecting peasants and workers, not to
mention the wealthier classes.

This is not the aspect of Quinn’s study which I wish to emphasize here,
but it is essential to point out that Quinn’s Southwest, where *‘the peasantry
was opposed to almost all of the KK [Khmer Krahom] programs,”®! seems
to be a quite different place from Heder’s — and more contradictory, since
Quinn, in spite of his main themes, was honest enough to note that many of
the Communists’ night propaganda meetings “were usually styled as happy
events,” that peasant youth returned from short training courses full of en-
thusiasm, and that after some of the land reforms “production has out-
stripped previous individual efforts,” with some of the surplus being used
“to feed other groups whose harvest was insufficient.”?

What is important to note here is that the revolutionary measures which
Quinn describes, and which with one exception seem confirmed by other
sources, constituted the revolution as carried out according to Southwestern
Zone policy, and with only a couple of exceptions Quinn’s identifiable evi-
dence all comes from districts within the old Southwest. Indeed, he describes
how in Svay Rieng province (East Zone) the Communists, on seeing that -
there would be much popular resistance there to the type of radical program
being undertaken in the Southwest, modified their policy; and virtually all
the post-1979 refugees confirm that there were major differences in the two
zones all through the DK period. The exception in Quinn’s description which
does not find confirmation in other reports is his insistence on the widespread
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relocation of villages with complete uprooting of the population, which he
sees as prefiguring the deportation of urban populations in 1975. Such must
have happened on occasion, but it cannot have been very widespread, since
urban deportees to the Southwest, including Damban 25, all speak of seeing,
or residing in, villages of ‘base’ people in old locations. In this question of
evacuation we must distinguish, moreover, between peasant villages and mar-
ket towns, which, like Ang Tassom, were sometimes evacuated before 1975,
perhaps misleading Quinn in his analysis.93 ‘

For each case of an uprooted, relocated village one would wish to know
more of the precise circumstances. A major fault of Quinn’s study is that it
considers the Communist program entirely in abstraction from what was’
happening generally in Cambodia in those years. We would never know that
some villages were being uprooted and relocated by B-52’s or because the
front line between two opposing armies passed through or near them; and we
would never imagine that the austerity measures detailed by Quinn might
have been an absolutely necessary minimum in such wartime conditions. As
for a resistant peasantry which had to be kept in line by brute force, how do
we explain the tens of thousands of peasant youth who volunteered to fight
in spite of 50% casualties? 94

Most of the refugees from the Northwest who passed through the
Southwest first seem to have gone from Phnom Penh to Damban 25, the
Saang-Koh Thom area as they call it. This was perhaps mere chance in the
confusion of the deportation, perhaps deliberate in the knowledge that it was
an area well-supplied with food. It was also well-supplied with people of its
own, which is probably the reason why so many of the new arrivals were later
sent elsewhere.

Saang-Koh Thom was the destination of one of B/P’s main characters
and his family, who managed to proceed that far in a car well-stocked with
provisions; and the account in B/P, undoubtedly teflecting the gross propa-
ganda character of that work, bears little resemblance to other reports from
the same area. Thus “the family walked [sic] southward . . . through for-
saken, ghostly villages,” and were finally ordered to settle in Kohr [Koh]
Thom, from which the communists had “routed the original inhabitants” and
where “every three months or so they brought in new residents and expelled
the old.”®> As we shall see, this is all quite misleading, and must derive more
from Quinn, an early version of whose report B/P were privileged to consult,
more than from direct testimony by the refugees. Another inaccuracy is that
the weekly rice ration was only 500 grams, and that it came from captured
American rice.”® -

Much more useful as a description of conditions in Damban 25 in 1975,
and immeasurably more honest, is the account of Pin Yathay, a Phnom Penh
resident of the same class as B/P’s heroes, who wrote that part of his book on
his own. The first few villages just outside Phnom Penh were indeed deserted
because, as Yathay carefully notes, of the recent combat. By the time his
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family reached Saang, a zone held by the communists for some time, they
saw that “the populace had not been deported and the houses were intact.”

. At Prek Toch, near Saang, the city deportees were “well received” and shel-

tered in the houses of the local people themselves. Even the rich peasants
had not lost their property, and it was in the large house of one of them that
Yathay’s group of twenty-three people was able to take shelter together.97
Such were the conditions in all the villages of the region, according to Ya-
thay. The original peasants still occupied their own houses and worked the
same land as before, and the ‘new’ people from the city were distributed
among them.

Like B/P’s family, Yathay also went on to. Koh Thom, “a small, rather
rich port [where] the soil was fertile and many fish were caught.” Unfortu-
nately he was unable to remain there, for his family was too large to be
accommodated in any of the local houses. Proceeding to a village just 7
kilometers farther south, they stopped for the night. “The reception seemed
warmer than in the other stops,” and they were well fed with fish soup and
a “sufficient quantity of rice.”?8 Yathay’s main worry was that the $3,000
he was carrying would be discovered and confiscated.

He and his family spent about three months in that village, and the
food seems always to have. been adequate, if not luxurious. They “didn’t
have to worry about daily rations [which were] sufficient to allow [them]
to think of extras” obtained in trade with the local villagers, the original
inhabitants, who “were rich” with “soap, chickens, ducks, eggs, and fruit.”??
Yathay and his family were even given a house of their own, which he regard-
ed as “a privilege to live alone, to get away from cohabitation with the peas-
ants.”190 Of course, Yathay and the other city people had to work in the
fields like peasants, which they found exhausting at first, and he mentions
many deaths from illness, but besides the adequate food they seem to have
been treated fairly, and there was no killing. Discipline was via self-criticism
and reeducation; and those who tried to work hard, like Yathay, were well
considered.

He left that place voluntarily when in July 1975 people were offered

. the chance to return to their native districts, and he hoped to reach Oudong,

in Kompong Speu province, which had been his parents’ home. On the way
he spent a week in Prek Taduong, another village in Damban 25, where they
had nothing to do and were again well nourished. He noticed that the ‘new’
and base people worked together, and that work discipline seemed easier

.than where he had been before, which he attributed to the fact that the DK

cadres were all local people working with their old friends and neighbors.101

After that week of rest, his next move took him into Damban 33 in the old
Southwest, where he found many things quite different, and where we shall
take up his story later on in the discussion of that region.

A similar description of life in Saang-Koh Thom was provided by a
former schoolteacher whom I met in Khao I Dang and whose account of
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conditions en route to Saang was cited above. Rice supplies were adequate,
and they could also forage for other food or trade for it with peasants along

the road.192 On reaching the Saang area K.K. was able to choose the village in .

which he wished to settle and was given over a month to build living quarters.
In contrast to Yathay, who lived among old peasant villagers, he was in a
settlement organized around ‘new’ people, and in the beginning of May they
were divided into 60-person groups (komrong), but work discipline was easy
and there was no brutality. One milk can of rice per person was issued daily
by the authorities, but they were free to forage or trade for other food, and
nourishment was not a serious problem. In July, the time when the author-
ities in Yathay’s village asked for volunteers to move elsewhere, there was an
economic reorganization and conditions became more difficult. The komrong
were merged in cooperatives, and adolescents over the age of 13 were taken
to a dam construction site where the work was hard, food short, illness com-
mon, and death from unexploded ordnance left over from the war a constant
danger. There was still, though, no killing. Within the cooperative where the
adults stayed, the main work was clearing swamps to make new rice fields.
This involved the removal of large quantities of trakuon (water morning
glory), a common Southeast Asian vegetable which is extremely nourishing
but in Cambodia considered somewhat low-class. K.K. said they were free to
eat as much of it as they wished, but generally didn’t, in spite of what he said
were otherwise short rations, because they didn’t like it.

In October K.K. became ill with malaria and was allowed to rest at
home until January 1976. He was given treatment with traditional medicine
and was able to buy some Nivaquine from other refugees. When he recovered
he was put to work chasing sparrows away from the rice fields for two weeks
and then returned to heavy manual labor. He soon became ill again with
fever, but this time, he said, the cadres thought he was malingering. In any
case, he was caught up at that point in the ‘second deportation’ and sent to
Battambang province in the Northwest Zone.

It is worth noting that K.K.’s story was given to me during a conversa-
tion at which several other refugees were present, with none of them register-
ing any objection to the relatively benign depiction of life in a DK region,
but that in his written account destined for the American Embassy in Bang-
kok, there was no mention of these experiences in Damban 25.

Still another statement about Saang-Koh Thom was provided by a
former medical corpsman of the Republican army who spent about six
months there after April 1975. He also considered that there was plenty of
food, and little killing — not even of former military personnel, all of which
he attributed to the circumstance that many of the DK officials were former
teachers, therefore moderates.103

All of this information was from urban evacuees who by early 1976
had been transferred to the Northwest in the ‘second deportation’ and
in 1979 had taken the opportunity to flee to Thailand. Although they
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remembered the Saang-Koh Thom area of Damban 25 as a relatively benign
place, in fact for some of them very nearly a rural elysium in comparison
with what they experienced later, they had no knowledge of its development
in the following years. Subsequent information from five people — four men,
former teachers who had joined the revolution before 1975 and a girl from
the ‘new’ people — all of whom had spent the entire DK period in the Koh
Thom area, revealed that food supply had always been sufficient — “there
was no starvation there; all deaths were from killing.” The killings, according
to them, had also been few before 1977, mostly officers and officials from
Phnom Penh, but during 1977-78 the number of executions, both of ‘new’
and base &eople, rose sharply and working conditions became much more
difficult.! ,

Those are details which will become increasingly relevant, and are also
not surprising in Damban 25 which, as a region of contention between the
East and the Southwest, would have been more than usually subject to intra-
party conflict. It is clear from Non Suon’s confessions that Damban 25 and
some of its old cadres were suspect in the eyes of the Pol Pot faction, and in
the statements by the revolutionary teachers noted above, the changes in
living conditions in 1977 clearly coincided with the destruction of the old
cadres who had begun running the area with Non Suon before 1975. One of
them who figures in a list of important cadres killed at Tuol Sleng was Som
Chia, then Damban Secretary, arrested on March 25, 1977, and a member of
the old pre-1960 communist group who, after 1975, were most numerous in
the East.109 .

It is interesting to compare the above information, from urban evacu-
ees, with views of Damban 25 expressed by some other DK personnel. They
also saw that living standards there were relatively high because of soil fertil-
ity and proximity to the river. For them this was not an unmixed blessing,
though, because it meant that there were relatively few poor peasants, the
basis for the revolution, and many rich and middle peasants. As a result there
was in their view more contradiction among classes, opposition to organiza-
tional work, and less unity within the cooperatives. Cooperative organization
began in mid-1973 and was at that time voluntary, becoming compulsory
only after April 1975, which meant that the rich peasants did not join. Most
of the poor, who formed 40% of the population, were satisfied with coopera-
tives and joined willingly. There was no production quota set from above,
and surpluses were exchanged among cooperatives. Damban 25, richer in corn
than in rice, sent corn to Dambans 13, 15, and 33; while Damban 33 sent
rice back in return.106

At the end of the war, according to the same informants, the people of
Damban 25 were not told to prepare for evacuees until April 18. Then each
district was assigned a quota and told to prepare food to feed them. At that
time they were informed that the evacuation was temporary, and that only
military officers and civilians of high official rank were to be considered
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enemies.

Damban 25 was bordered on the west by Damban 33 and, south of it,
Damban 13 of the original Southwest Zone. When Pin Yathay left Prek Ta-
duong in the belief that he was on the way to his parents’ home in Oudong,
the truck in which he was riding had not gone more than 10 km. when it
abruptly turned westward into the forest, where they spent the night. On the
following day they continued on to Sramar Leav, in Takeo province, Damban
33, “famous for its resistance to the republican [Lon Nol] regime . . . the
toughest sanctuary of the Khmer Rouge movement.”107

Yathay immediately noticed a change from Damban 25. It was clear
that discipline was more strict, yet “the cadres of Sramar Leav seemed better
educated . . . they expressed themselves in clear and coherent language . . .
[they] had intensified village discipline, but had adapted, with considerable
perception, their methods to the new population of urbanites.”108

As in Saang-Koh Thom the original peasants, pace Quinn, still occupied
their houses and fields. “The Khmer Rouge village unit was planned on the
basis of the old communities.” The ‘new’ people were assigned to different
sections of the village according to their social and professional backgrounds
— civil servants in one place, businessmen in another, etc. Interestingly, there
was a section for Lon Nol military; and later on, in August, Yathay met a
cadre whose job was the reeducation of a group of over 200 officers, also
grouped together, which indicates that in Damban 33, at least, there had not
yet been any implementation of a policy to exterminate Republican military
personnel.

Here also the old peasants were relatively rich, with plenty of food, and
not yet subject to a collectivist regime, in contrast to the urban exiles who,
possessing no property, were forced to live communally.

Everyone was put to work in traditional peasant labor, which the city
people still found exhausting, there were no longer regular days of rest as in
Damban 25, and for the first time Yathay saw evidence of secret, inexplicable
executions. Food does not seem to have been a major problem, since “paddy
was distributed in sufficient quantity,” even though they had to mill it them-
selves; and they were allowed to plant small private vegetable plots and to
raise chickens and ducks for their own use.!10 In fact Yathay’s principal
complaint was that city intellectuals were forced to live and work as peasants.
Part of his objections were quite reasonable; he relates how they spoiled the
construction of a new-dam, on which he, as an hydraulics engineer, could
have given pertinent advice. But advice from city intellectuals was not toler-
ated; everyone was supposed to learn from experience. In any case, even
though strong enough to do the work, and adequately fed, he found peasant
life intolerable; and this impelled him, after three months in Sramar Leav, to
volunteer for a new move to Battambang in the hope that from there it would
be possible to escape across the Thai border.

Other reports from Damban 33 vary in their assessment. In one of the

»
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first to be published, the former medical student cited above said that the
northern part of the damban, former province of Kompong Speu, where he
spent some time in 1975, was well-cultivated and that the old peasants had
enough food, but the evacuees suffered from hunger, receiving a daily ration
of only one-half can of rice. Like Yathay, though, he noticed two villages
full of Lon Nol soldiers who had not been executed, but were put to work
in the fields.!!1

A former law student who had first returned to his home in southern
Takeo (Damban 13) was transferred in 1977 to the southern part of Dam-
ban 33 in the former district of Tram Kak. There he worked in a so-called
model district. Work there was as hard, perhaps harder, than where he had
been before, but all regulations as to rice distribution, butchering of animals
for meat, rest days, etc., were followed precisely, so that starvation was not
a problem. As for discipline, it was just as harsh for DK cadre as for the new
people, particularly with respect to the prohibition of extramarital sexual
relations. Executions were most frequent in 1977-78, which as we shall see
was true in many parts of the country and was the result of intraparty fac-
tional conflict. '

This informant was particularly interesting as a law student, thus an
intellectual, who in April 1975 had returned to his home in Kirivong, Dam-
ban 13, an old communist base area where he could not hope to hide his
identity. Most people in his village, including his parents, part Chinese, were
classified as base people, although his father was of the lowest category (De-
positee) and he himself, coming from Phnom Penh, was considered ‘new.’
Although he worked in the fields, he did not report any particular mistreat-
ment; his father, a carpenter constructing houses, carts, etc., was well-treated,
and his entire family survived. Once he was sick for three months, was left
at home to rest, and was not suspected of malingering because he had worked
well before.112 :

Another former student spent the DK period in the northern part of
Damban 13, in Tram Kak near the border of Damban 33. He lived in a village
of zbout 800 people of whom about one quarter were base people and the
rest new. As elsewhere the base people -were better off, with more food
which they ate separately from the new people. This man felt that life was
very bad, and offered some quantitative estimates which are typical of the
STV in their contradictions. Thus of the 800 people in his village in the
beginning, he estimated that 50% died of hunger and many others were exe-
cuted, leaving only 100 in 1979. But in another context he said that by 1978
the population was about equally divided among base and new people with
a total population of 3,300 in a cooperative of 4 villages, or an average of
over 800 per village as in the beginning. Neither would one expect the loss
implied by his two estimates to have occurred in 1978 alone, since he said
that the worst year for executions was 1976-77, due to factional disputes,
while in 1978 rations were equalized and in general improved following a
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change of policy, with a large public meeting at which it was announced that
base and new people were equal. The change was related to preparations for
the expected war with Vietnam; and when they attacked he fled from the
DK authorities along with four other former intellectuals, a doctor, a2 medical
assistant, a teacher, and a law student, whose survival fits well with other
stories from the Southwest.113

Some of these details are confirmed and others amplified by another
report from a nearby cooperative in Damban 13. Thon, as a former law stu-
dent, was also sensitive to the situation of intellectuals under the DK regime,
and he stated that in the Southwest people were not killed simply because
they had been doctors, teachers, or students, that only Lon Nol military were
in danger because of their past, while others were executed if they resisted.
He also noted that in 1977 there was much killing as the result of party strug-
gles, but this, as everywhere, affected DK cadres more than new people. As
for food, 1976 was bad, 1977 better, and 1978 worst, with some starvation,
which is different from the situation in the neighboring district described
above. Thon himself spent most of 1975-78 in ‘prison,” because he was sus-
pected of political involvement in the Lon Nol government - (incidentally
true). The prison was in fact a labor camp on a mountain where conditions
were more difficult than in a normal village, and only men without families
were sent there. After the purge of the East Zone in 1978 there were meet-
ings to inform the population of So Phim’s ‘revolt, which was labelled
‘revisionist,” and they were warned not to imitate that tendency. There was
also a meeting in late 1978 to announce the equality of base and new people,
but according to Thon conditions did not really change much, 114

As in Damban 25, former DK personnel report that cooperative organi-
zation was begun in Damban 13 in mid-1973. In contrast to the former, the
population of Damban 13 was in majority poor and middle peasants with
very few rich. At first it was voluntary, then in 1974 pressure was applied to
get everyone into the cooperatives, in which only poor and middle peasants
were supposed to hold office. The source of this information claimed they
got everyone in without bloodshed, even though the rich peasants were dis-
satisfied. In the first cooperative harvest in 1974 the total production was no
higher than before, but distribution was better and surpluses were transferred
from one place to another according to need. As for the evacuation, it was
not announced in that area in advance. The official line on the new people
was that they were “not all enemies,” but at the local level in Damban 13
they decided that those who could not adjust and who created difficulties
should be arrested.!15

Moving westward from Dambans 33 and 13 we come to 35, which in-
cluded most of Kampot province. An interesting informant from that area
was Van, a native of Chhouk in northern Kampot, who in 1975 was majoring

in French in the School of Pedagogy and at the same time attending courses ~

in the Phnom Penh law school.l1® When the evacuation order came, he

XS
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decided to go home and reached Chhouk in about 10 days. Part of Chhouk
had for years been a communist stronghold, and according to Van there was
a clear difference between villagers north and south of the road from Chhouk
to the town of Kampot. The north side was the old communist region, and
villagers there generally disliked city folk. The people south of the road were
also peasants, but more in touch with town life and less radical. Although
Van’s own home was on the north side, his relatives advised him not to stay
there since he had been away for several years in Phnom Penh and might
attract hostility. After a short visit with his parents, he then moved to less
dangerous country on the south side.

There he was assigned normal village work, in a cooperative of about
2,200 people, and at various times he carried earth to make rice plots, netted
fish, gathered vegetables, worked as a carpenter and housebuilder, drove carts,
and planted rice. Although his background as teacher and university student
was known, he had no trouble because he worked well. Moreover, disciplinary
policy in his district had been clearly spelled out, and people were not killed
just for having been teachers, civil servants, professionals, or even Lon Nol
military (compare Yathay and Sak Sau above). Those guilty of illicit love
affairs, one of the most serious offenses in some regions, were not sentenced
to death here, but to hard labor or imprisonment. The ‘crimes’ which were

'punishable by death ‘were laziness, resistance, even verbal, to policy or in-

structions, and boasting or pretension, that is, refusal to adopt in every way
the manners and attitudes of simple peasants. Of the 6-700 new people in
his cooperative Van remembered about 30 executions between 1975 and
1979, including 1 doctor, 9 teachers, 8 officers, and several businessmen.
Four surviving doctors were known to him by name, and at least three had
gone to work in Phnom Penh for the new Salvation Front government. In
Van’s birthplace, however, in an admittedly more hostile environment for
evacuees, he heard that of 79 adult male new people, only 2 survived.

The cadres in Van’s cooperative were all local people, which in many
other places also meant relatively benign conditions,!17 and the low ratio of
new people to total population would contribute to that situation too. There
was no lack of food and no starvation; and Van was even of the opinion that
there had been no starvation in the Southwest at all. This is probably not
true, even though the Southwest was one o:f the better zones in this respect.

Medical services and schools existed, but of revolutionary type. Van
himself was hospitalized twice, and found that the medical personnel were
youngsters of poor peasant background trained by a revolutionary doctor
who had studied with Vietnamese guerilla medics before 1975. Most medicine
consisted of traditional preparations with coconut milk used for serum and
locally made vitamin c. 118 They also occasionally had foreign medicine,
such as Aureomycin made ‘in China and serum from France, but due to lack
of care in sterilization there were many abscesses following injections. Medi-
cal centers (‘hospitals’) were established at cooperative, district (srok) and
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damban levels, with foreign medicine used at the srok hospital, and probably
also in the damban center, although Van had not met anyone who went there.
The school personnel were also poor peasants with minimal education them-
selves. All children over 5 years of age were supposed to acquire basic literacy
along with work education, but according to Van the literacy was neglected
and such children were still illiterate in 1979.

Beginning in 1977 contingents of Southwest cadres and base people
spread out to take over administration in most other zones, generally follow-
ing purges of local cadres. At the end of that year about 500 from Van’s
cooperative, of whom no more than ten were new people, were sent to a
part of Kandal province in the East Zone near the Vietnamese border because
the population there was largely Chinese and not considered very loyal. In
January 1979 most of the base people of that group returned to Chhouk and
reported that all had survived, with the few new people preferring to return
to Phnom Penh after the destruction of the DK government.  They com-
plained that the border area to which they had been sent was prone to flood-
ing, with poor rice crops, and they didn’t wish to remain there. 119

Van was a somewhat unusual informant in the relatively positive slant
of his information about life in Democratic Kampuchea, but he was also
unusual as a person with university education who had maintained close links
with his peasant background, which, moreover, was in an old radical com-
munity.1 0 Perhaps because of this, his entire family of 5 brothers and 5
sisters survived. One is now a peasant in Kompong Trach and another is a
factory worker in Phnom Penh.

Another of Van’s friends from Kampot had also gone to the university
in Phnom Penh, before 1975 had worked as a French language teacher, and
at the end of the war had also returned home. He, however, had come from
‘south of the road’ and did not hesitate to claim that his area was more civil-
ized than that to the north. When asked about the DK period, he affirmed
that it had been very bad, with a lot of brutality and killing. This, it turned
out, was his judgment, since, when pinned down to specific facts, he was in
agreement with Van.121 ’

A somewhat different experience in the Chhouk area was related by an
agricultural engineer, also a native, who took a month to get home after April

1975, and was then imprisoned for 6 months at Phnom La-ang, which Van

described as the damban central prison. The prison was not a special building,
but simply a penned enclosure, and the prisoners were not chained or other-
wise physically constrained. The reason for his imprisonment was probably
the relatively high positions he had held before 1975. After prison he spent
one year in a place which he described as an oberom, “education,” which
would appear to have been a reeducation center for intellectuals whom the
CPK at the time expected to be able to make use of later, although he denied
that such was its purpose. Most of the people there, however, were intellec-
tuals, with a few base peasants mixed with them; and according to Non Suon,
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a member of the first postwar DK government, that place was a holding
center for intellectuals of uncertain reliability.!2> Among the inmates known
to my informant were Son Sen’s brother, Son Nhoeng, a former government
district officer, and an unnamed person, an important prewar intellectual,
who had been a communist supporter in Phnom Penh before 1975. Those
with families could keep them together and they were able to spend every
night at home. Food was sufficient and each group (kong) caught their own
fish for the communal meals. The total population of the center was about
500, 90% of whom were evacuees, and there were few executions. Political
education was given importance, with 2-3 hours every evening devoted to it.

At the end of 1976 he ‘graduated’ from the center and was assigned to
a nommal cooperative in Ang Romik, which was one of eight cooperatives
surrounding the reeducation center, with about 3,000 people in each. Condi-
tions there deteriorated year by year, with about 30% of the people suffering
from starvation; and in 1977 and 1978 there were many executions, appar-
ently due to factional conflict. In 1977 there was a major purge in Chhouk,
during which the chief of the reeducation center and its entire administrative
committee including the informant’s wife, a teacher, were arrested and pre-
sumed executed. The informant himself was not troubled, but no explanation
was offered him for his wife’s arrest. He believes that there was some kind of
anti-Pol Pot movement which was suppressed, and that about 10,000 people
were arrested in Chhouk at the time. (Van, when asked, remembered a purge,
but was astonished at the estimate of 10,000.) Among the victims was the
pro-communist intellectual mentioned above and his wife.123

This account differs significantly from that of Van, but it is also from
a special place, where most of the population were apparently new, a circum-
stance in which living conditions were often relatively bad in all zones. I
would also suggest that S.K.H. was less than frank in claiming ignorance of
the purposé of the education center, in particular of his wife’s role in its
committee, and of the reasons for the purge in which she was a victim.

Another, somewhat more negative, report from the Chhouk area is
that of Mrs. K.D., an attractive, well-educated woman of the former urban
bourgeoisie whose husband had gone to France before the end of the war.
In her cooperative, at Srae Knong, food was adequate throughout the DK
period, but there was much illness, especially malaria. In 1975 there was no
killing, in 1976-77 rather much (the purge mentioned by S.K.H.?), and at the
“end of 1977” an order from higher authorities to stop executions and make
base and new people equal. There was a meeting to announce the new policy,
and even before the meeting, word was passed privately by the base people
to their acquaintances among the new. Comparison with other reports sug-
gests that Mrs. K.D. erred in her dates, a rather common circumstance among
the refugees, who had no paper, written news sources, or calendars for over
three years. The change of policy was probably in late 1978, as mentioned by
other sources, just before the war with Vietnam; and perhaps the worst
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period for executions was during 1977. Mrs. K.D. estimated that at Srae
Knong, base people slightly outnumbered the new; and that during the DK
period 90% of the new men were killed. A bit of guesswork and extrapolation
from this suggests that if the cooperative had the usual 3,000 population,
1,400 might have been ‘new,” with approximately 700 males and 350 adult
men, of whom 315 would have been killed; and if her guess of 90% requires
the same modification as many other such estimates, the number would have
to be reduced cons1derab]y

One more refugee from Damban 35 was a. former Phnom Penh worker
and Republican soldier who spent the entire DK period in the khum of Kan-
tho, Kompong Trach, south of Chhouk. He estimated the khum population
at about 7,000 (1962 census, 6,916), of whom nearly two-thirds were new;
and in this connection we should remember the account of Tep, who spoke
of the effects of the war in Kampot province with tens of thousands of young
volunteers suffering up to 50% casualties. Our informant considered condi-

- tions there to be bad, with the base and new separated and receiving different

treatment. Hunger, he said, was common, and executions numbered perhaps
70-80 people in his cooperative. The worst time was 1975-76, and after that
things improved. Although he was unhappy with conditions in Damban 35,
when he was able to return to his home in Maung in the Northwest, in 1979,
he learned from his relatives that life there had been much worse than what
he had experienced.!?’

Van’s comment on this last account was that conditions in Kompong
Trach had indeed been rougher, because it was near the border and many new
people tried to flee across to Vietnam. He remembered that in late 1975,
many new people had been brought from Kompong Trach to Chhouk to
prevent them from trying to escape.

On the basis of these refugee accounts of life in different parts of the
Southwest it is possible to infer certain aspects of general policy and overall
conditions, which is particularly important in this case since the Southwest
turned out to be the ‘Pol Pot’ zone par excellence and gradually spread its
influence out over the entire country.

First, it seems that, contrary to the STV, there was no policy to exter-
minate intellectuals, or professionals, or even Lon Nol officers, in general;
or if such instructions had been issued from central authorities, they were
not implemented in the Southwest. I include this qualification because Van,
one of the most careful reporters I met among the refugees, and who was
relatively positive toward life in Democratic Kampuchea, claimed that during
the first six months after April 1975 orders had been issued from Phnom
Penh to kill urban evacuees indiscriminately. He had obtained this informa-
tion from an elder brother, a base peasant, whose son and Van’s nephew was
a high-ranking DK officer who worked at the Phnom Penh airport after the
end of the war. Later, during a trip home to visit his family, he mentioned

_the execution order and said that it had been countermanded in October
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1975 by another order forbidding lower levels of cadre to kill at all without

_instructions from above.126

What seems most likely to have happened is that the central DK author-
ities at first gave local cadres complete discretion to deal with urban evacuees
as they saw fit, as was reported in one of the early accounts to reach the out-
side world.127 Such was indeed the specific explanation obtained by one of
my best Eastern Zone informants from the cadres in his area;128 and it ac-
counts for the very different treatment meted out in different parts of the
country. In the Southwest the worst periods of executions seem not to have
been directed at ‘new’ people, but intraparty purges, which of course always
caught some of the ‘new’ people as well.

With respect to general living conditions, including quantity of food,
starvation does not seem to have been a serious problem in the Southwest,
although it did occur at certain places and times. Contrary to Quinn, most
base peasants seem to have been unrelocated, well supplied with food, and
not inimical to the regime. As for the new evacuees from the towns, their
circumstances as a group depended on the agricultural wealth of the particu-
lar locality, the ratio of new to base people, and the degree of class hatred
felt by the latter; and as individuals their fate was bound up in their ability
to work and behave like ordinary peasants. Life was best where a small num-
ber of new were thoroughly mixed with the old, and worst where a large
community of new people was segregated from the base population. Best of
all were food-rich places like Koh Thom, where the evacuees shared base
peasants’ houses under cadres who were local peop]e.129

Beyond what has been noted above, the Heder interviews of DK per-
sonnel do not include specific information about conditions in individual
dambans or smaller areas, but they claim that throughout the DK period the
Southwest as a whole was the most important supplier of rice for the deficit
areas of the rest of the country. This, together with the evidence of urban
refugees that starvation was not generally a problem, indicates some success
in the DK agricultural reorganization.

Another aspect of politics in the Southwest on which these ex-cadres
provide some detail is the career of the top man, ‘Ta Mok.” A native of the
Ang Tassom area near the border of Dambans 13 and 33, ‘Mok’ had been an
Issarak and early supporter of the communists. During the war he was Deputy
Secretary of the original Southwest under Chou Chet (although one inform-
ant said the positions were the reverse) and in charge of military affairs. After
the split of West and Southwest he became Secretary of the latter with *Ta
Beth,” another military man, and the top officer in ‘Tep’s’ chain of command,
as Deputy. ‘Mok’ had many daughters who married rising political and mili-
tary cadres, thus expanding his power base; and as his men took over other
zones following purges, his influence was extended until, as one man report- .
ed, he seemed to be, by 1978, de facto chief of the entire Southwest, West,
and North. Certainly he is-one of the most important figures in the surviving
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DK leadership.130

The Northwest

Discussion of the Northwest follows logically upon a description of the
Southwest since in late 1975 and early 1976 the ‘second deportation’ brought
large numbers of evacuees from the latter to the former, and in 1977 the
Northwest became an early victim of colonization by Southwestern cadres
and base people after its own cadres had been purged.

Geographically and economically the Northwest was a zone of extreme
contrasts. One of only two provinces where large landholdings were impor-
tant,131 part of Battambang had been considered the rice bowl of Cambodia,
from which the rest of the country could always count on a surplus; and the
Sangke river was a convenient route into the interior from the rich fishing
grounds of the Tonle Sap. In the far north, though, were the sullen, anti-
urban villagers of Banteay Chhmar, who only wanted to be left alone; and in
the far west was Samlaut, where the peasants had been radicalized since the
1940s and in 196768 revolted against the demands of Sihanouk’s adminis-
tration. Pursat, to the south, had always been one of the poorest provinces,
mostly mountains and forest, with a large number of hill ethnics and some of
the most brutally exploited workers of the entire country.132 Its population
was small, ranking twelfth among Cambodia’s provinces in 1962, and the
population density was also very low, but not surprising given the area’s
topography. Even lowland Pursat, however, in the districts of Bakan and
Krakor, never reached the density of the Battambang rice plains.

Like Damban 25, Battambang also figured prominently in the first
published accounts of life in Democratic Kampuchea. But unlike the South-
west, most of Battambang had remained under Republican Government con-
trol until the very end, or if not really under government control, at least not
under the full control and organization of the communist forces either. Thus,
although as early as 1972 revolutionary personnel (whether real communist
or simply anti-Lon Nol is uncertain) visited peasants and schoolteachers as
close as 5-10 miles downriver from the city, and a few miles farther out -
people considered themselves under revolutionary authorities to whom they
willingly contributed sons and daughters as soldiers and nurses; those same
people were free. to visit relatives in Battambang town, as late as 1973 stu-
dents and teachers from the Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Phnom Penh could tour
the temple of Banteay Chhmar, and on New Year (April) 1972 I was able to
journey upriver from Battambang to the temple of Banan.133

One of the reasons for this anomalous situation was that the Battam-
bang military commander, General Sek Sam Iet, had made his own personal
armistice with the communist forces, selling, or giving, them arms and access
to rice supplies in exchange for formal peace and quiet in the province. Al-
though the official government control outside of the main towns was purely
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formal, the communists were unable to organize their administration, except
in small outlying old base areas such as Samlaut.

When the war ended Battambang, like Phnom Penh, was swollen with
refugees, but unlike the situation in Phnom Penh they were mainly prosper-
ous urbanites who had fled Phnom Penh or Siemreap or other towns close to
the combat zones. And the communist forces who entered Battambang or
Pailin were not cadres with several years of experience in a disciplined revolu-
tionary administration, but guerillas right out of the woods. Moreover, while
the peasants and cadres in the Southwest might have felt a general class dis-
like for the Phnom Penh elite, most of the latter were personally unknown
and perhaps-even objects of some pity; but in Battambang the rice merchants,
usurers, landlords, and military were known as individuals and the objects of
personal grudges. When the peasant soldiers from Samlaut and other rural
places like it came into town in April 1975, they very likely had in mind
specific names and faces to which they attached blame for the violence
wreaked on their villages in the 1950s and in 1967-68.134

These are some of the reasons why April 1975 in Battambang was
marked by atrocities which, because of its proximity to the border, soon
- reached western publications and stamped the STV on Democratic Kampu-
chea as a description of all places at all times. There is no doubt that several
hundred officers, perhaps in the end several thousands, were killed en masse,
and that a number of civilian urbanites died in similar ways.135

Yet even then there were differences. Some refugees had no atrocity
stories to tell at all; and some of the residents of Battambang said later, in
. KID, that life throughout the rest of 1975 was rather easy. Discipline was

lax, it was easy to move around, even to run away from a difficult work site
to an easier one, and food was not yet communalized.
Some of the nuances peep through even from the grim pages of B/P
and Ponchaud. Four brothers and sisters, ‘intellectuals’ from Phnom Penh,
arriving in Sisophon weary and sick after the second deportation, were im-
mediately sent to hospitals where conditions were much like Phnom Peénh
hospitals in the last days of the war, although one would not know this from
B/P. In the first hospital, better than some in Phnom Penh, they were given
“all the food they desired,” even if real medicine was scarce; and we now
know that this relatively good hospital was probably run by a real physician
put to proper use under the early Northwest Zone policy. Then they were
transferred to another which resembled precisely western journalists’ reports
from Phnom Penh in 1975, and where a distraught medic cried out that “we
can’t help you! We don’t have any medicine.” Moreover, although only the
two brothers needed hospitalization at first, their sisters were freed from
work to help care for them.136
s Or take the case of a DK effort, apparently sincere; to institute a re-
’ education program for highly qualified intellectuals in order to convert them
to the new regime and eventually make use of their education and training.

¢
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Both B/P and Ponchaud wrote of this, emphasizing different details, and
apparently used the same informant, Dr. Oum Nat.137

During the last months of 1975 and early 1976 the authorities in the
Battambang area gathered up many professionals and university students,
took them to a special village, fed them well, and asked for their cooperation
and comments on the revolution, Some of them, showing a complete lack of
understanding of Cambodia’s wartime and postwar problems, launched into
strong criticism of the government for the lack of proper medicine (apparent-
ly forgetting that their own Lon Nol government had been unable to provide
proper medicine for most people), and for the closure of schools and univer-
sities. They wanted the institutions of higher learning reopened, unconcerned
that for a year or two the country might need everyone in productive work.

A group of about twenty who made the strongest criticisms were tied
up and taken away, but not killed, as their comrades expected, for over a
month later they reappeared from their term of very harsh imprisonment.lz"8
The rest were taken to a rather severe reeducation prison in Battambang; and
in April 1976 over forty of them were taken out, given DK black clothes and
scarves, and transported to the village of Poy Samrong/Saman,139 where
Ponchaud ends his story. B/P, though, continue with Dr. Oum Nal, reporting
that Samrong was a “model village composed of attractive houses built on
stilts,” where people ate in communal dining halls and “were allowed three
or four bowls of rice a day and sometimes enjoyed fish as well.” The purpose
of this special village was never made clear, for the informant soon afterward
fled to Thailand; but it would appear that the authorities were still trying to
implement plans to integrate former professionals into their system after a
period of exposure to ordinary peasant life, or even privileged peasant life as
in Samrong. Such plans were carried furthest 1n Battambang, but we now
know that by mid-1977 they had been given up

Of the four dambans (nos. 1, 3, 4, 5) in Battambang province, the gen-
eral opinion among refugees was that no. 3 was ‘good’ and the rest ‘bad,’
although even in this assessment there are important nuances.

Damban 5 was probably the worst. It is the northernmost and least
developed, and included primitive districts like Banteay Chhmar, described
above.1*! Much of the work there was in development of new rice fields and
irrigation systems, which always seems to have been among the most stren-
uous tasks.

One family of several young women whom I had known in Phnom Penh
complained that in a village near Tuk Chor they had never had sufficient
food, had been forced to pull plows in place of draught animals, and were
often beaten by female DK cadres. An interesting detail of their experience
was that one day one of them was walking along the main road when she was
stopped and scolded by a cadre for being out on the road in her pitiful thin
condition. “What if Angka should come along and see you like this?”’ he said.
She concluded from this that higher authorities did not always know of



00838979

The Zero Years 103

conditions at village level, which, as we shall see, is supported by evidence
from other places.142

Three other informants gave information about conditions a bit farther
north in the district of Phnom Srok. One of them also belonged to a family
I had known before in Phnom Penh. According to him, from 1975 to mid-
1978 the food rations were not bad, but from June 1978 until the arrival of
the Vietnamese there was near starvation, even though rice production was
still normal. This can only mean that rice was being stocked preparatory to
the war, which was expected already in mid-1978. In his opinion there were
not many executions in 1975-78, except for high officials; and he would
have been sensitive to this subject since his own brother was among those
killed. He remembered the arrival of Southwestern cadres in 1977, but didn’t
feel that it meant a significant change in the life of the new people.143

Meng, an ex-army captain and graduate engineer, arrived in Phnom Srok
in the autumn of 1975 with the second deportation. He was taken to a forest
area 20 km. from the road where the new people were to clear the land and
build their own houses. He estimated the total population of the area as in
the tens of thousands of new people with local base peasants as cadre. The
district (srok) chief, however, was not a local man. Meng said that for the
first 6 months (until about May 1976) there was enough food, but that 30%
of the people died of malaria. In 1977-78, however, the rice crops were bad
and were also taken away, as we have already seen. This led, he says, to star-
vation, with only one can of rice daily per 20 people, and even cannibalism.
As for executions, he says that all former civil servants and students above
junior high school level were killed, although “ali” cannot be entirely accu-
rate since he survived.1*4

A different type of story was told by a young man who in 1975 was
about to finish high school and obtain his baccalaureat. He spent the entire
DK period working on irrigation and dam construction sites in Damban 5,
and in his opinion the new works operated successfully, permitting year-
round cultivation. “As soon as one crop was harvested another was planted
without regard to the season.” Before the dams and canals were completed,
however, rice rations were insufficient, but_those working near the water
could catch and eat plenty of fish and forage for wild tubers. Thus hunger,
even without rice, was not a problem, and in 1977-78, when the rice crops
were being:taken away, people who could fish still had enough to eat. 145

One more brief comment from Damban 5 concerns DK use of techni-
cians. A professional radio repair man told me that he regularly worked in
the fields, but whenever a radio needed repair the cadres sent for him to do
the work. His past was known, since he had always lived in that locality, but
never having been either an official or in the military, he had nothing to fear
on that score. Only the cadres had radios, and the only ones he ever worked
on were receivers. All other radios which had belonged to the pre-1975 popu-
lace were collected and kept in a central warehouse, from which they were
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taken away again by the populace after January 1979. 146

Dambans 1 and 4 are separated by the main road between Battambang
and the Pursat border; and since most of my informants had been in the
region of Maung, near the line separating the two dambans, and describe
similar conditions, I shall treat the two together. A first general observation
made by an old friend, an intellectual with considerable rural experience,
was that there was more danger in that area from hunger and illness than
from executions. This might seem surprising in a place which had always
been a good rice area, but he contrasted the enormous rice plains, in which
nothing else grew, with the more irregular topography of the Southwest,
where he knew people had lived better, and where smaller fields were inter-
spersed with fru1t trees, coconut palms, or places where one could forage for
wild vegetables

One of the worst stories, however, is from the intericr of Damban 1,
an area where large numbers of new people were sent to carve out new vil-
lages. Major Yem, whose experience in Phnom Penh on April 17 has been
noted, said that in his district the 10,700 new people who arrived in 1975
had declined by 1977 to about 3,000, mainly from hunger and illness. Short-
ly before the arrival of the Southwestern cadres in that year, conditions began
to improve, perhaps because of the lower population pressure on the food
supply, and the improvement continued under the Southwestern administra-
tion. Executions cannot have been systematic, for Yem says his background
as university graduate, teacher, and Lon Nol officer was known yet he never
found himself in danger.

Also from the eastern part of Damban l was the story I noted above of
11 out of 12 Phnom Penh men who were executed for corruption after hav-
ing been appointed chiefs (protean) of new villages. 148 The only other details
to record here are that many of the DK cadres at khum level were former
monks, and that in the opinion of my informant the top-level authorities of
the Northwest, such as Khek Ben in Damban 4 and Vanh of Damban 1, were
planning to revolt shortly before the takeover of the Northwest by the South-
west. This is an opinion shared by many of the refugees, and apparently by
the central DK authorities as well, and will be discussed further below.

From the more central parts of Dambans 1 and 4, one of the first re-
ports was that of Sak Sau published in the Bangkok Post. 149 He arrived in
June 1975 with 200 families from Kompong Speu, and fled to Thailand in
August. In the meantime he found that regulations were stricter than he had
known in Damban 33, but there was no night work. Normal village working
hours, 6-noon, 1-5, were followed. Instead people had to attend evening
political meetings. Starvation was not a problem, since it was easy to catch
fish and eels, even if rice was short; but there was much illness, especially
diarrhea. One of the things that seems to have irritated him was that the
village authorities were “foolish persons who did not know how to read or
write.”
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A former army captain who arrived in Maung in the second deportation
found himself assigned to the fishing detail because the local DK chief took a
liking to him. In every village or cooperative within walking distance of water
there was a group of people assigned to catch fish for distribution to the com-
munity. All reports, including the captain’s, agree that fishing was a prize
task, for the fishermen could eat what they wished and often take extra
fish to their families.15% Near Maung the catches were very good, but they
were not equitably distributed. Rice distribution was also bad, even though
the crops were good. In the captain’s opinion, Maing was a very bad place to
live, and the worst time was in late 1976 and early 1977 just before the
arrival of the Southwest cadres, and when the general food situation was
particularly bad. Executions throughout this time were selective, and rela-
tively few. In 1978 there was a noticeable improvement in rations, but after
mid-year there occurred the mass killings of people evacuated from the East-
ern Zone after the revolt of So Phim.1°1 For the first time large numbers of
people were killed openly in the fields; and most of the stories of mass execu-
tions probably date from that year.152

Another informant from the Maung area, near Phnom Thippadey, was
a woman, Neang Y, whom I had known in Phnom Penh before the war. She
was in Khao I Dang with her three adolescent children, other relatives, and
neighbors, all of whom had left Phnom Penh and spent the DK years to-
gether. When they started out in 1975 there were also the wife of another old
acquaintance, a brigadier general presumably killed soon after April 17, her
son and daughter, and Neang Y’s husband, a captain, who was executed in
Maung in 1977. The other woman died of illness, also in 1977, and her son
was executed because his father had been a general,

In spite of these unpleasant experiences, Neang Y was able to state that
from 1975 to about June 1977 life in Maung, or at least in her district, had
not been too bad, in fact nearly as good as in the Sangkum or Lon Nol years.
There was even enough medicine; and what would seem to have been unusual
tolerance was shown toward her friend’s daughter, a beautiful, spoiled girl,
who flatly refused to go out and work in the fields. She had already received
a couple of warnings, and it looked as though she would be executed if she
maintained her attitude, but then she discovered that married women were
not sent to the fields, but put .to work within the village. She thereupon
looked about and found herself a husband among the evacuees.

As an aside, and to illustrate how rumors, such as those concerning
forced marriages, may get started, it is worth remarking that I had heard of
this girl’s marriage before meeting the family in KID. As related to me,
though, she had been forced to marry a DK cadre who had abused her and
left her with a child. In fact, her marriage was entirely of her own will and
to a man of her own class, although it has turned out unhappily and she now
lives alone in Phnom Penh with her child.

Neang Y attributed the relatively favorable situation she observed to
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the fact that many of the top cadres in the Northwest, including Damban 4,
were former teachers who had joined the revolution before 1970 and who
were more sympathetic to urbanites and intellectuals. She, and also people
from the northern part of Damban 4, mention in particular Khek Ben, of
damban headquarters, who often toured around the villages with his wife and
a theatrical group, keeping.an eye on local conditions and providing a bit of
entertainment. At a public meeting in Maung in 1977 shortly before he was
arrested, he told the base people that they should not abuse the city evacuees
or seek revenge for old wrongs. If the new people did not know how to work,
the villagers should help them learn, rather than punish them for their
ignorance.

The same attitude was taken by Ta Vanh, the “chief” of Damban 1.153
He had been a teacher at the Kompong Kantuot teacher training school, and
a communist agent within Phnom Penh, until 1975. When he discovered
that some of the base people in"Damban 1 were abusing the evacuees, he
moved them out of their houses into the fields and placed them on the same
level as the new people. He tended to pick former teachers and students for
office and administrative work, and gave other responsibilities to new people.
Neang Y herself was made a me-kong, leader of a small work group; and she
said that anyone with a proper attitude (kouwlcomhor) was safe under Vanh’s
administration. Unfortunately for the new people, both Khek Ben and Vanh
disappeared in 1977, the former in April and the latter in June, along with
their ‘groups,” other fellow cadres who shared in their policies.154 Khek Ben,
according to Neang Y, was replaced by “Mit Tuy,” a former monk, another
unorthodox cadre who had been publicly complaining of DK behavior since
April 1975. He lasted only a month and then was also arrested 133

After that the Southwestern cadres took over, all the new people were
removed from the privileged positions they had occupied, and from then on
living conditions deteriorated and there were more executions.

A similar experience was related by a girl from Kompong Sambuor in
another part of Damban 4 near the town of Battambang, where she lived
with a brother and sister, both ex-teachers. Because several of the original
top cadres in the Northwest were former teachers, they helped her brother,
and their life was not bad; but when the southwesterners arrived in 1977
they executed both her brother and sister (whom they probably considered
part of Khek Ben’s and Ta Vanh’s ‘group’). She herself escaped, she believes,
because she was away working with a mobile brigade at the time. From 1977
living conditions deteriorated in her area.l56

Perhaps the worst part of Damban 4 was downriver from the town of
Battambang. A large family whom I knew very well, and all of whom sur-
vived, said that their many cousins, aunts, uncles, etc., who lived downriver
had perished, mainly of hunger and illness, although they were peasants and
should not have had trouble either due to class background or inability to do
the work required. In the opinion of the survivors, DK mismanagement had
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simply been so serious that not even peasants could survive. This is of course
not the whole story, since the informants, half peasant-half urban, had sur-
vived very well, even though most of them by 1975 had long since ceased
doing field work. .

One possible reason for the disappearance of local peasant families
living right along the river, and which my informants believed to have been
true, was that those peasants were put to work as specialized jute cultivators
for the factory in Battambang but then never given sufficient food. Before
1975 they had cultivated their own food and raised jute, which can be very
arduous work, to whatever extent they wished, as an extra cash crop. When
put to work full time on jute and dependent on an external rice source which
constantly diminished, they could not survive,

An informant from the edge of that area, the village of Samrong Knong
about 7 miles from the town of Battambang on the right bank of the river,
was a former sergeant who arrived in the second deportation in January 1976.
The population was then about half new and half local peasants, but the
latter were also treated as ‘new’ because they had never fought with or sup-
ported the revolutionaries, something which was probably also true of the
jute peasants mentioned above (this was for them an unfortunate conse-
quence of Battambang’s peculiar wartime situation alluded to above).157
Samrong Knong’s famous temple, which included a 15th or 16th century
stone prasat, was used as a prison; and former soldiers, teachers, and business-
men were regularly killed there. Hunger was also prevalent, and in the ser-
geant’s kong (work group) of about 700, only half were left by the end of
1977.158

Another illustration of how the DK division of the population went
contrary to normal communist principles is the testimony of 6 carpenters
from Battambang who had spent 1975-79 in various parts of the province.
Although they had been genuine proletarians and were not the object.of any
special persecution, they were outside the privileged base peasantry. They
had found the work discipline petty and absurd, even if not intolerable for
workers like themselves, and they had been turned forever against any form
of socialism,!5?

One more person who arrived in that area with the second exodus in
January 1976 was the teacher whose experiences in Saang-Koh Thom have
been recorded above.160 He and many other new people were sent 10-15
miles down the left bank of the river to Prek Krauch, near the jute area, but
were put to work building their own villages and clearing new rice fields.
Perhaps the plan was for them to supply the jute growers with rice. In those
new villages there was at first adequate food, and people cooked and ate in
10-family groups (krom). After April 1976 there was full communal house-
keeping at the village (phum) level of well over 100 people, and from then on-
food quantity and quality steadily deteriorated. Hard rice meals were re-
placed by rice soup, at first thick and adequate, then thin, and by August
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very thin to the point where real hunger set in and they could only survive
by catching field crabs, frogs, etc. during their noontime rest hour.

K XK. remained there only until September 1976 when he fled to Dam-
ban 3. Up to the time he fled there had been very little killing, and he only
knew of two cases, both women killed by a cadre named Hay who was him-
self then arrested for murder. The first woman had complained about food,
and Hay accused the second, who was pregnant, of having stolen bananas.

In the evenings the new people were subjected to very strong reeduca-
tion, at least every three days, sometimes every evening; and it was always on
the same two themes: (1) build up the country, and (2) defend the country.
They were told that the country had been destroyed during the war and now
all must join hands in the task of reconstruction. As for defense, they were
told they must prevent the enemy, unspecified, from entering. There was
also instruction on work discipline and lifestyle. They must be careful not to
break or lose tools, and should not complain about anything. They must eat
what was given, forget about vain habits such as manufactured cigarettes and
alcohol, and if they collapsed and died while working hard, that was laudable.

One more story from Damban 4 is that of a young woman from the
large surviving family I mentioned above. Their home had been about 5 miles
downriver from the center of Battambang and they were evacuated just a few
miles away to a peasant village area. Tay, as I shall call her, worked in the
fields until August 1975, and, being healthy, she volunteered for the mobile
brigade because food rations were better even if the work was more strenu-
ous. In the meantime her husband and brother were assigned to a fishing
detail from which they could bring back food to the rest of the family;and
soon she was able to join them and to spend the next two years fishing in the
Tonle Sap or bringing the catches back to the villages. By that time the
Southwest cadres had taken over and they' appointed her me-kong (work
group leader), in which position she worked until the autumn of 1978.

Tay’s general comments on the DK system are quite interesting. The
village-level Northwestern cadres whom she knew up to 1977 were from the
Samlaut area, and except when someone like Khek Ben or Ta Vanh was
around they were very rough, and in particular enforced a low diet on the
new people. When the Southwesterners arrived, they said the old cadres had
been too cruel, and in fact the food situation in Tay’s area improved, but
there were more executions. It was under the Southwest cadres that Tay was
appointed me-kong, because of her education (high school), which enabled
her to keep records and write reports better than the peasant cadres. Tay
said she never met a cadre who was a bad person; and she denied that they
objected in principle to everyone with education. In fact they needed some

‘educated people at all levels of their administration, and only objected to

those. who were arrogant or tried to show off.1®! If one worked hard and
was sincere, it was possible to survive. Most of the killings of ordinary people,
as opposed to former high officials, demoted cadres or the easterners in 1978,
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were the settling of old scores, either individual or class-based, or because the
victims had refused to work and cooperate with the regime.

This is of course not absolutely true. One of Tay’s friends described the
only killing she had ever witnessed as the result of a quarrel over a watch. A
cadre had taken the watch of an evacuee, who then complained to a higher-
level official. His watch was returned, but shortly afterward he was murdered
by colleagues of the original watch thief. Similar stories are reported from
many other places, especially in the northwest.162

In general, though, Tay’s remarks about DK discipline and self-disci-
pline fit a picture inferable from the stories of other thoughtful observers
among the evacuees. In particular, the rules on sexual morality, which often
resulted in executions, were as rigid for the cadres as for the new people,
perhaps more so. Tay, who is very attractive, remarked that no cadre ever
looked her full in the face while talking to her, and flirtation for DK person-
nel was entirely out of the question. If a cadre wanted to favor a woman, he
could make life easier, or if she was capable, appoint her me-kong, about
which Tay obviously knew something, but that was all.

This position of me-kong could carry considerable privilege, which
helps illustrate the very hierarchized nature of the DK administration.163
Tay kept the written records for her unit, was given a bicycle for travel be-
tween villages, and extra rations, and she was aware of some administrative
secrets, such as rice trucked away for stocking and undistributed sugar and
salt in warehouses. This was not true of all me-kong, though, for Neang Y
said her task was simply to keep track of a work group which she led back
and forth between work site and village. She was not well educated, how-
ever, and could not have handled all the tasks given to Tay. ‘

The jute whose increased production efforts may have ruined many of
the peasants below Battambang was destined for a jute bag factory, also in
Damban 4 just 5 miles downriver from Battambang in Daun Teav. Since 1
knew many people in that area and had visited the factory in 1970, I took
some interest in what had happened to it and had begun asking refugees from
Battambang about its operations as soon as I started work in KID. The an-
swers turned out to be as instructive for a study of the STV as for the state
of industry under the DK regime.

Many refugees simply said that of course the jute factory, like all in-
dustry, had been dismantled and the workers killed. Then, on one of my
trips to the Sakeo camp, | met a man who between 1975 and 1979 had been
a DK driver for the higher Northwest zonal officials, and had travelled all over
the zone. He claimed that the jute factory had operated normally until 1979;
but another refugee, who even in Sakeo had adopted a strong anti-DK stance,
told me privately that the ex-chauffeur was obviously lying, that no factories
had been maintained by the communists.

Some weeks later, in the Lumpini refugee transit center in Bangkok,
I got into a chance conversation with a woman of the Phnom Penh elite
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whose sister had once been a student of mine. When I asked what kind of
work she had done, she replied that she had worked in the Battambang jute
factory. ‘“But when, before or after Ap'ril 19757 “Both,” it turned out.
Before 1975 she had been an accountant in the factory administration, and
was kept on by the new authorities until September 1975 when she fled to
Damban 3. She did not know how long thereafter the factory had continued
to operate, but had heard that sometime in 1976 the old workers had been
replaced by peasants and sent out to do fieldwork. Finally Sgt. Chileng,
whose village was just a couple of miles away, knew that the jute factory
had continued to function until the end of the DK period.164

In the accounts from Damban 4 above, we have seen two cases of flight
from what may have been the worst part of that area to Damban 3;and these
incidents provide a convenient starting point for the discussion of the latter
region.

K XK., the former teacher, said that his September 1976 decision to get
away from Damban 4 was because rations had been declining in quantity to
such an extent that he was afraid of starvation, and because he had heard that
a purge of former teachers and students was about to begin. He lied to his
local cadres that his father was ill in another village upriver, received permis-
sion to make a visit, then took a sampan along the river to Wat Kor on the
other side of Battambang in Damban 3.165 There he was registered without
any questions asked and settled down in what may have been one of the most
comfortable spots for new people in the entire country. There was plenty of
food in Wat Kor, and the communal eating which so irritated people did not
start there until August 1977. When K.X. arrived, each family was drawing its
own rice supplies at the temple-warehouse and preparing its own food.

It was on one of the occasions when his wife had gone to pick up rice
that they had their only narrow escape. At the distribution point, there was
someone from their old village who recognized her and reported to their
former authorities. The latter requested their forcible return from Wat Kor,
but the cadres there “took pity” on them and let them stay. They remained
there until 1979, K.K. assigned to the duck egg detail, never suffered from
hunger, and until the confusion of 1979 the only unjustified violence they
witnessed were a few Kkillings related to the 1978 rebellion in the East. The
only execution of a new person remembered by K.K. was of a young man
who was an incorrigible thief and who was finally shot after ignoring several
warnings. Even the arrival of the Southwest cadres seems to have made no
difference. As for the purge he had feared in Damban 4, he later heard of the
deaths of two teachers whom he had known there.

Wat Kor was a very “loose” place, and K.K. attributed this to the cir-
cumstance that some important people lived there. The mother of Nuon
Chea, Chairman of the National Assembly’s Standing Committee, was a resi-
dent; and rumor had ii, although K.K. was not able to confirm this, that
Penn Nouth (Prime Minister, April 1975-76) also lived there part of the time.

e
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The jute factory accountant also fled because she believed herself in
danger, and she also reached Wat Kor. In her case the chief cadre in' Daun
Teav, whom she had known before he joined the revolutionary forces in
1971, warned her that she should get away, and to help her get out of the
village placed her on the factory fishing detail for over a month. Eventually,
on one of the fishing trips she got away to Wat Kor, which was her native
village. According to her, Wat Kor was a ““model district” where foreign visi-
tors were entertained. She was put to work in a kitchen preparing food for
such people and observed Chinese, Yugoslavs, and Bulgarians among the for-
eigners who came to Wat Kor, but who, she claims, never went to Damban 4.

Although Wat Kor was a “model” place, details of life there are not
unusual when placed against other accounts of life in Damban 3, and the only
common factor which seems to explain the difference of that region from
others is that it had always been a rich rice area and therefore had adequate
food. New people who ate enough would have performed their work better,
complained less, and infringed fewer rules to bring down the wrath of the
cadres upon themselves. This cannot have been the whole explanation,
though, for almost all the accounts of Damban 3 emphasize that the policy
of the authorities in itself seems to have been more benign than elsewhere;
and among the refugees in Khao I Dang there was general agreement that
Damban 3 had been a ‘good’ place where no one starved and few were killed.

Along with this is a strange lack of information about the damban-level
cadres, who should have gotten some credit for its superior living conditions.
There had been ‘good’ times and places in Dambans 1 and 4 too, and most
people related them to the personalities of top cadres whose identities they
knew, such as Khek Ben and Vanh. No one I met from Damban 3 knew the
names of any region-level officials; and few had been impressed by special
qualities in the lower cadres whom they did know. Moreover, in the Tuol
Sleng list of arrested high officials to which I have several times referred, and
in which men from the Northwest figure prominently, there is only one name
from Damban 3, “Vom Chet (Cu),” listed as Deputy Secretary of the region
and arrested on August 12, 1977, which would have coincided with the
Southwestern occupation of the area. Although his removal must be seen as
part of the general purge, the circumstance that Damban 3 was otherwise
left intact might at first suggest that it was considered to have been more
correct in its ideology and policies, and that its cadres were not assimilated
to the Khek Ben-Ta Vanh-Khe Kim Huot group of former intellectuals who
were thought to have let the party down. On the other hand, the Tuol Sleng
list ends in April 1978, Nhim Ros, Secretary of the Northwest, was not
purged until June, and if Damban 3 had been his favored region its cadres
might simply have been strong enough to resist outside pressure until the
latter date. This second hypothesis is strengthened by the more recent identi-
fication of the damban secretary, Phok Sary (Tum), arrested in June 1978. 166

The potential desirability of Damban 3 was realized by some evacuees
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_ from the very beginning. One of my former students, working in Phnom Penh

in 1975 and forced to go toward the southeast at first, set off on a long trek
back around Phnom Penh and through Kompong Thom, Siemreap and
around the lake in order to reach Mongkolborei, where he assumed rice would
be plentiful. He reached it in June 1975 and was put to work on dikes and
dams, which he says were not very successful, in several villages on the road
between Sisophon and the Thai border. He reported that he never saw any
killing, and always had enough food to stay alive, but that he had to work

“hard day and night. He did hear of some executions for sexual offenses, that

is, illicit flirtation, but such cases were among the DK cadres themselves.
The new people, he said, were too tired or too intimidated to indulge in flirta-
tions. The arrival of the Southwestern cadres in 1977 did not make much
difference. At first they provided slightly more food, but later on less; and
although in theory the base and new people lived together, the former still
had special privileges.w7

By way of illustration I referred above to the case of a woman teacher
who was put to work again teaching children after April 1975, and whose
husband was assigned the task of gathering medicinal plants. This was in the
cooperative of Takrei, district of Ampil Pram Doeum, almost due west of
Battambang. When I eventually met her village chief, an old revolutionary,
in Sakeo, he said that policy toward new people had depended very much on
the village chief (mephum). If he was vindictive it was easy to have them
killed; if he reported favorably no one was executed unless higher authorities
had some special reason. This mephum of Takrei had heard of the same exe-
cution orders reported from Kampot. That is, in April indiscriminate killing
was allowed, but in October an order came forbidding it.168

When the  Southwesterners came to Takrei there was no significant
change in food or execution policy, and the ‘good’ mephum was not arrested;
but the teacher and her husband were taken away from their easy tasks and
put to work making fertilizer from manure.

Not far away, in Kauk Khmum, a former teacher and evangelical Chris-
tian, whose family had been Christians for a couple of generations, reported
that even in his native area where his identity and background were well
known, he never had to fear for his life. Kauk Khmum, according to him, was
a good area; and in particular his own village. chief, a former Buddhist achar,
was such a good man that even after the end of the DK period he was able to
remain there without fear of retribution from the populatlon 169

As one proceeded farther into the interior of Damban 3, however, to-
ward the Thai border and away from the old cultivated rice area, conditions
became somewhat more severe. One young man agreed that Damban 3 was
‘good,’” and that there was no killing, but felt there hadn’t been enough
food;170 while an old peasant who had been brought from Battambang to
the Poipet area to clear and plant new land said that they were fed well, but
overworked and subject to “fierce’ ’ discipline. 171

Cdl
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Sneng, which the Far Eastern Economic Review publicized as the home
of a mass murderer, deserves attention as a ‘medium’ area in Damban 3,
neither ‘good’ nor very bad. Right after the DK victory a number of former
Lon Nol military were killed there, something remembered vividly by those
whose friends or relatives were among the dead.172

_Til Vin, the man whose name was mistakenly displayed to the woild as
responsible for the massacre, said that Sneng had been an active revolutionary
district since before the war, and that in 1974, during a government raid, he
and many other old cadres had been forced to retreat to Chamlong Kuoy,
deep in the western part of the province near the Thai border. They only
returned in 1977, at which time Til Vin became a khum, or cooperative,
official with authority over about 3,000 people. He claims that policy toward
recalcitrants or those who made mistakes was not immediate execution, but
continuous kosang, criticism and reeducation, which fits well with the de-
scription of Damban 3 as a whole. The only executions in which he admits
responsibility, and which he still seems to consider justified, were two cases
of couples who had infringed the rules against illicit sexual intercourse. Touch
Khieu agreed; and a woman from Sneng whom I met by chance at Nong"
Chan when she came for rice supplies, and who knew nothing of the accusa-
tions which led to the FEER flap, reported that Sneng had been a relatively
good place to live and the authorities relied on constant kosang more than
violence.173

Also of interest is that when the Southwest cadres came in 1977, they
were on the lookout for Northwest cadres who had performed badly, but Til
Vin was one of the local communists who was maintained. In fact, depending
on the precise date of his return to Sneng, he may have been installed in his
position of authority in connection with the Southwestern takeover, which
in the opinion of Touch Khieu resulted in a slight improvement in the living
conditions of the new people.

The worst story from Damban 3 in my collection came from a man
who before 1975 had taught Pali and Khmer at a religious school in Phnom
Sampeou, north of Sneng, and who remained in a nearby village during the
DK period. As one might expect, he was particularly concerned with the
treatment of monks, which will be discussed later; and the abolition of reli-
gion had obviously soured him on the DK regime. The population of his dis-
trict was about 80% base peasants and until 1977 all the village-level cadres
were local men, with khum and higher-level officials DK personnel from else-
where. Some of the local cadres were “very bad and murderous” and were
arrested, demoted to ordinary peasant status, or executed in the takeover in
that year by Southwest cadres. The latter did not kill many ordinary people,
but living conditions didn’t change much either. Early in 1975, as in other
parts of the Northwest, many former military men were killed, and later on .
'some intellectuals disappeared one by one. In total he estimates that between
1975 and 1979 there were about 100 executions in his cooperative and many
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other deaths from hunger.”4

In concluding the description of Damban 3 it is interesting to cast a
glance back at B/P’s two accounts from that region, both, not surprisingly,
very bad. The first concerns a new village (evacuee population on new land
in Sala Krau, northeast of Pailin in the far west of Battambang province.17

Because the rice ration, already by August 1975, was near famine level
and several former soldiers had been killed, the village chief, a ‘new’ man and
former soldier himself, decided to kill the DK guards and lead the entire pop-
ulation to Thailand. As we have seen, the new villages usually suffered the
worst conditions, sometimes due partly to the incompetence of their own
leaders,17® and in that part of the province a report about poor food rations
is easy enough to believe. It does seem incredible, though, on the basis of
stories from other new villages, that as much as 30% of the population was
already incapacitated in August 1975. Another interesting detail is that there
were only four cadre guards for 1,800 new people, which should indicate that
the authorities did not consider the situation there to be explosive and were
not expecting trouble. At the very least, Sala Krau was far from being a “mi-
crocosm of new Democratic Cambodia,” and certainly not of Damban 3.177

B/P’s second story concerns a family who moved from Pailin to Ampil
Pram Doeum, from which the original villagers had been evacuated, but
where the new arrivals had to build their own houses rather than use those of
the old village. Conditions were horrible and brutal, and finally the young
man who was head of the family had to flee to escape almost certain execu-
tion.!78 Each of the details but one is credible as a type of incident which
happened in Cambodia, and this story, unlike some other parts of B/P, cannot
be dismissed as a falsification. However, it is from the area of Takrei, Bovil,
Kauk Khmum, where other refugees describe conditions as rather good, and
is thus exceptional, rather than — as B/P implied — typical. The only detail
which is suspect is the evacuation of the original villagers of Ampil Pram
Doeum, apparently, judging from other accounts, a base area. Barron and
Paul may again, as they did with Damban 235, have put Quinn’s words into
refugees’ mouths.

We are going to move on to the southern part of the Northwest Zone,
Dambans 2, 6, and 7 in the province of Pursat, from which the reports are
almost universally very bad, and where even relatively benign conditions
would have been nearly as rare as starvation around Wat Kor. Indeed Pursat,
which B/P did not touch at all, would have been the microcosm for which
they were searching, and no one today would be able to come up with very

‘many countervailing stories or explanations.

As in the case of Dambans 25 and 33, the most useful starting point
for the examination of Pursat is the book of Pin Yathay who, at the end of
his second deportation, which he joined voluntarily, found himself in Sep-
tember 1975 inthe deep forests of Damban 6 just beyond the town of Leach.’

Into this uncleared forest the communists sent thousands of new people

ra
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to settle, build their own houses, and prepare new fields. Their rations were
lower than anything Yathay had experienced up to that time, only one-half
can (125 gm.) of rice per day for young and old alike; but they were allowed
to keep small individual vegetable gardens, which were often unproductive
“because we were not used to gar®2n work and the ground was unsuitable.”
Those with gold, cash, jewels, or extra clothing, like Yathay’s family, could
augment their rations through trade with nearby base villages, which as in the
south were relatively rich, but from which, contrary to the south, the new
people were segregated; and because of this “no one” in Yathay’s family had
yet “died of hunger.”180 '

 Yathay’s parents and parents-in-law were exempt from work because
of their age and remained at home caring for the children. Even his wife was
exempt because her young son was ill; and one young unmarried sister was
able, like a girl mentioned above, to avoid distant field work and remain in
the village simply by stating that she was married, but widowed. As Yathay
pertinently remarked, “the family . . . had not yet become the target . .. of
the Khmer Rouge,” and his rather large group of 18 persons was able to stay
together.181 .

The work, especially for city people, was of course very hard, and com-
bined with the low food rations, which diminished to 1 can for 6, and then §,
people, led to many deaths from hunger and iliness. By December 1975 he
estimated that one-third of the 5,000 people in his immediate area had died.
There were also executions, which for the first time in his experience became
a clear and present danger. He mentions several prominent persons who were
presumably or certainly killed, notes that people began to come across aban-
doned corpses in the woods, and tells us how his own cousin and brother-in-
law were executed for violating regulations or making remarks considered
subversive. Still the numbers seem to have been relatively low, and he admits
that “these macabre discoveries [of dead bodies] were rather uncommon.”182
Of interest in several respects is that the bodies of those dead of hunger and
illness were treated differently from those executed. The former, quite nu-
merous, were placed together in mass graves by teams of grave diggers who,
along with the family of the dead, could take a day off from their normal

.work, while the latter, much fewer, were abandoned individually in the

forest.183

In comparison with the general conditions he describes, Yathay’s own
circumstances were relatively good. His wealth assured him and his family
an adequate food supply and his own physical strength enabled him to keep
up with the work which was assigned. In general those who worked well were
on good terms with the cadres, and if work was well done there were no
problems. Yathay, in fact, was praised for his industriousness, eventually
made chief of a small work group where he, almost like a cadre himself,
fussed that “unfortunately there were some people who complained all the
time”; and when he injured himself slightly at work, he was given three days’
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rest to recover.134

He even found that the DK cadres could be decent people. When one
son died soon after their arrival in Pursat, his wife emotionally demanded
that the body be cremated rather than buried, and although that was against
regulations the village chief gave them permission for a cremation and came
himself to offer condolences. The same man showed his good qualities
on other occasions, and seems to have been a former gchar, a temple lay
official 185

At the very end of December 1975 Yathay was involved in another
move. An official from a different district came to ask for volunteers, saying
that conditions would be good and they would have plenty to eat. A thou-
sand of the remaining people volunteered and within a few days were taken
to villages near the town of Pursat in Damban 2. On the way they passed
prosperous villages where the people assured them that life was tolerable and
they ate well; and the first night of their arrival, in Chamkar Trasak, they
were treated to a communal meal of good fish soup and plenty of rice.. The
good food continued during the following days, and it appeared that promises
were going to be kept.

Moreover, Yathay met a cousin of his wife who lived in a large house in
the nearby village of Don Ey; and she was able to arrange, against regulations,
for Yathay and his wife to move in with her. His parents and parents-in-law,
although in another village, were still close enough for visits.18¢ Don Ey was
in majority a base peasant village, which was an advantage, and in fact the
copious food continued until the end of February 1976. There were also
medical facilities within easy reach of all the surrounding villages.187

Then, it seems, everything broke down. Yathay was sent to the lake on
a fishing detail, and there the ration was rice soup, instead of hard rice, to-
gether with whatever fish they could eat clandestinely. When he returned to
the village, the good food had been replaced by rice soup, everyone was sick
and dying, and all but three members of his family — himself, his wife, and
a child — had died. In alt 80% of the population of Don Ey died, although he
does not tell us when this had occurred. Finally, in November 1976, he met
a cadre who, recognizing him as an engineer of the Phnom Penh elite, de-
nounced him to the authorities; and he decided that he must try to escape.188

" Yathay’s narrative breaks down at the same time. For the first 200
pages, up to the time of his arrival in Don Ey, it is a sober, rather well-orga-
nized account, such as one would expect from a trained technician; and he
is manifestly trying to give an objective report on the new regime, even when
the facts are clearly contrary to his preconceptions. The remaining 200-0dd
pages do not show the same careful organization. Bits and pieces of informa-
tion, sometimes contradictory, are thrown together with little regard for the
time sequence; and it is no doubt this last half of the book which caused
some people to cast doubt on Yathay’s reli.ability.189 The last half, then, is
not nearly so valuable as the first, but the account of life in Pursat still fits
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the stories of other refugees from those regions, to which we shall now tum.

Only one: person I met at KID had been in Damban 6, Yathay’s first
stop and the most primitive part of Pursat. Miss Kim, a former student in my
class at Kompong Thom in 1960-61, had spent the entire DK period in Dam-
ban 6 along with several of our acquaintances, and she had even known Ya-
thay there before he moved. She related that food production gradually im-
proved, but from 1977 on there was an increase in systematic executions.

One man who had spent the entire time in Damban 2, the area of Ya-
thay’s second residence, reported a similar situation. During the first months
after April 1975, treatment of ‘new people’ was reasonably good, but then
food decreased to the point of starvation. Most deaths were from hunger and
illness rather than execution, and my informant said he was semi-permanently
on the burial detail, where he knew of much cannibalism.19! At the end of
1977 the Southwest cadres came to take over the administration. Many of
the old cadres were arrested or killed, but the new people did not suffer from
the change. Then in 1978 cadres from the Western Zone came and proved to
be the most murderous of all, treating cadres, base peasants, and new people
with equal brutality.

Most of the refugees from Pursat seem to have been in Damban 7 bor-
dering the lake. Mam, a2 Svay Rieng native who was studying law in Phnom
Penh, did not wish to go home where he was known in 1975, and with five
friends went by boat to Kompong Chhnang and then to Bakan, north of Pur-
sat town, arriving there in September. On arrival they were granted two days’
rest and given all at once a four-month rice supply at the rate of 250 gm. per
day. Only high officials and military were targets of execution, not teachers
or students; and Mam said that his life was not bad throughout the DK peri-
od. He was fed well, and did not even lose weight. He was, however, an excep-
tion, for he had grown up in a peasant village, looked like a peasant, and had
no difficulty in doing the work. His village of about 470 was in majority base
peasants, who took care of him, but of 131 ‘new’ men sent there he claims to
be the sole survivor. The rest could not do the work, did not have the sym-
pathy of the peasants, and gradually died off. Although base and new people
lived together in theory, the former had special privileges. In addition to the
communal meals they could also eat extra food at home, which they shared
with Mam. Besides the hardships imposed on the new people, rice production
in terms of yield per hectare declined by about half. As in other parts of the
Northwest, a new administration from the Southwest arrived in 1977, but
conditions didn’t change very much; and as in Damban 2, the Western Zone
took over in 1978 and Kkilled all the old cadres.!%? Another man, however,
said that executions in Damban 7 greatly increased after 1977, perhaps re-
flecting a less favorable personal situation than Mam’s integration with base
peasants.193

Three people from different villages in the Kandieng-Sya district just
downriver from Pursat town had similar stories. They all remembered that
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the damban chief was a well-known former teacher, Khe Kim Huot, who in
1977 was arrested with his whole group of subordinates and accused of trea-
son.1% The new damban chief was Tri, a former primary school teacher
from Koh Thom (Damban 25), and under his administration conditions im-
proved for the new people, at least in Sya. A man from Kandieng considered
that life there had always been bad, with many disappearances and much
death from starvation which he attributed to a badly managed economy.
All three witnesses agreed that the worst times were in 1978 after the Western
cadres had replaced the Southwestern.

Like Mam, above, they reported that the old and new people lived to-
gether, but the former had special cooking and eating privileges. As for total
deaths, they estimated that one cooperative declined from 7,000 people in
1975 to 2-3,000 in 1979, with about 15% executed, while another decreased
from 8,500 in 1976 to. 3,200 in 1979, with 25-30% killed.}%> One of my
informants, a young woman, told of spending some time in the district hos-
pital along with cadre patients who boasted of having killed large numbers of
new people, and enjoyed doing it because the latter were “‘exploiters.”

Finally, there are two relatively good reports from Pursat, both from
Damban 7. A KID refugee told me in 1980 that in the village of Kbal Choeu
Pok food had always been adequate because cooperative leaders were able to
manage their economy well, and if necessary they faked their statistics in
order to keep back enough food to feed their people. This was particularly
true during 1975-78, when, he said, “there was no excessive killing at all.”
After the Western cadres took over in the latter year, they still maintained
a good economy, but killing increased noticeably, in particular the mass
executions of Eastern Zone people brought over at that time. A similar ac-
count was offered in 1982 when I met Dr. B.K. in one of the camps along
the Thai-Cambodian border. He had spent the entire DK period in Kanch-
chor, Kandieng District, and he reported that his identity as a physician was
known and that the cooperative chief had protected intellectuals by register-
ing them as workers. Only those who “‘were lazy” or who were thieves were
in danger of execution. _

If we 1ook back at the Northwest as a whole now, we should be struck
by the extreme variation among the seven dambans, both with respect to
general living conditions and extermination of those whom Angka considered
their class enemies. Indeed there is no place one can call a microcosm of the
whole, even less so if the Southwest is also taken into consideration. Before
going on to the other zones, it will be useful to try to draw a few general
conclusions about the areas we have surveyed. In comparison to the North-
west, the Southwest appears much more uniform, with policies more clearly
stated for the new people and more consistently followed. At its best, in
Damban 25 in 1975, it resembled Damban 3 of Battambang, and even at its
worst no one reported the horrors of Pursat. Indeed, both low-level South-
west cadres who were part of their region’s move into the Northwest in 1977
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and other refugees from the Southwest who went north in early 1979 agree
that they had never seen such misery at home as they did in Pursat and parts
of Battambang.

In retrospect the invasion of the Northwest and removal of large num-
bers of its cadres by their neighbors from the south appears as a major purge
by the Pol Pot group directed against rival factions within the party. The
urban refugees generally believe that the Northwest cadres were planning to
revolt against the center because of their objection to the brutal conditions
being imposed on the people, and one of their reasons for this belief is that
several of the top men in the Northwest were themselves former urban intel-
lectuals (that is, teachers)